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(As at 24 February 2025 (“the Latest Practicable Date”))
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS =44

Executive Directors HITEE

Dr. LEI Chien EfEET (FE)
(alias Joanna LEI) (Chairperson)

Mr. LIN Chia-Wei MRELE

Ms. LIN Yen-Ling MER LT

Non-executive Directors FHITESE

Ms. LIN Shu-Hua MOMEE 22+

Mr. CHEN Shou-Huang FRSFAE oA

Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES

Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long R B P o A
(alias Steve CHEN)

Mr. YANG Shih-Chien 5 4 5 A4

Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang MEREE
(alias William LIN)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES EER K

Mr. LIN Chia-Wei MRELE

Ms. MOK Ming Wai ERELL

(resigned on 28 October 2024)
Ms. KWOK Yin Ting

R-ZF-_WFE+A-+N\B&D

HEEL L

(appointed on 28 October 2024) (R=ZZE-WWF+A=+/\HEZMHF)
COMPANY SECRETARY NEIME
Ms. MOK Ming Wai (FCG, HKFCG) ERAZ L (FCG, HKFCG)

(resigned on 28 October 2024) (RZZEZWMF+ A=+ /\BFHE)
Ms. KWOK Yin Ting (FCG, HKFCG) BEFE L T (FCG, HKFCG)

(appointed on 28 October 2024) (RZZEZMF+A=+/\BEZHF)

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE BEREEERE

Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long R Im bR 5 A& (F /)
(alias Steve CHEN) (Chairman)

Ms. LIN Shu-Hua MORE L+

Mr. YANG Shih-Chien St 5 &

Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang MEREE

(alias William LIN)
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MEMBERS OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang
(alias William LIN) (Chairman)
Dr. LEI Chien
(alias Joanna LEI)
Mr. LIN Chia-Wei
Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long
(alias Steve CHEN)
Mr. YANG Shih-Chien

MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Dr. LEI Chien
(alias Joanna LEI) (Chairperson)
Mr. LIN Chia-Wei
Ms. LIN Yen-Ling
Ms. LIN Shu-Hua
Mr. CHEN Shou-Huang

MEMBERS OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. YANG Shih-Chien (Chairman)
Dr. LEI Chien
(alias Joanna LEI)
Mr. LIN Chia-Wei
Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long
(alias Steve CHEN)
Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang
(alias William LIN)

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman

KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Room 1916, 19/F
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Corporate Information
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/ (As at 24 February 2025 (“the Latest Practicable Date”))
(RZE-AF-AZ+HWA(HREERIITHHED)

AUDITORS

RSM Hong Kong

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Council Ordinance (Chapter 588 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS AS TO HONG KONG LAWS
Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP

Suites 3203-3207, 32/F

Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

LISTING INFORMATION

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 00157

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
1 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong
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King’s Town Bank Co., Ltd.
8F, No. 167, Dunhua N. Rd.
Taipei

Taiwan

CTBC BANK Co., Ltd.

8F, No. 168, Jingmao 2nd Road
Taipei

Taiwan

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
Shanghai Branch, Jingansi Sub-branch
1465 Beijing Road (W)

Shanghai

The PRC

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Shanghai Branch, Zhijiang Sub-branch
377 West Zhijiang Road

Shanghai

The PRC

CTBC BANK Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Branch

27F Shanghai World Financial Center
100 Central Avenue

Shanghai

The PRC

WEBSITE
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Financial Highlights
B REE

A summary of the selected financial date of Natural Beauty Bio-Technology Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
"Group”) for the last five financial years, is set out as below:

BAXEDMBRERABA(ERARDREFRAR(GRIARE D BEREARBFENMEBEBENT

Selected Financial Data MREERE —T-FF T —E--F —E-=F ZENF

HK$'000 FET BBEE WBREE  WREE  VBREE  HEREE
(except per share data) (FRREIERIN FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024
Revenue WA 410,673 487,810 335,380 336,015 353,651

Cost of sales SHERM AR 170,248 181,812 146,750 135,670 151,321

Gross profit e 240425 305,998 189,130 200,345 202,330
Operating profit/(loss) IREHEF(F518) 10,641 50,480 (19,205) (3,738) (97,162)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF/ (FB) 7,758 35,264 (30,472) (15111)  (103,615)
Dividends BRI 6,006 6,006 0 0 0

Basic Farning/(loss) Per Share FREARF/ (B1B)

(HKS) (&) $0.0039 300176 (50.0152) (600075)  ($0.0518)
Dividend Per Share (DPS) (HKS) FRBEF BT $0.0030 $0.0030 50 %0 $0
Total assets BEE 831,972 930444 872,309 872,434 772,931
Net asset value BEFE 611,230 657,918 597,462 574,524 447,593
Return on Equity (ROF) RN IR 1.3% 54% (5.1%) (2.6%) (23.1%)
Return on Assets (ROA) BEDR 0.9% 3.8% (3.5%) (1.7%) (13.4%)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SEEEFNWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overview

Revenue of the Group in 2024 increased by 5.2% to HK$353.7 million compared
to HK$336.0 million in 2023. The increase was mainly due to an increase of
HK$18.5 million in product sales, such segment contributed to 99.1% of the
Group's total revenue.

Revenue in the PRC market increased by 7.3% from HK$237.8 million in 2023 to
HK$255.2 million in 2024. Revenue in the Taiwan market in 2024 increased by
8.7% to HK$92.1 million as compared to HK$84.7 million in 2023.

Revenue from other regions, including Hong Kong, Malaysia, decreased by
52.9% from HK$13.5 million in 2023 to HK$6.4 million in 2024. Contribution
from these regions remained at an insignificant level of just 1.8% of the Group’s
revenue.

The Group's overall gross profit margin decreased from 59.6% in 2023 to 57.2%
in 2024 mainly due to the changes in revenue mix of products bundling in the
PRC market.

B 7 B
B
AEE 7 R T = = 19336,000,00078

TCIBIN5.2%Z% —F — MM4F #9353,700,000/8 7T
ﬁﬁﬁij]DI;zEEEAEDD%Ei7]1]18,500,000‘}%
C D EBR AR B A R 99.1% ©

R AEMEZEXEBH_S _=ZGFH8
237,800,000 LIE MN7.3%E —ZF — I F Y

255,200,00087C : MBS EXEAH T
— = 1F#Y84,700,00078 TG N8 7%E —F — Y
£ #992,100,0005 7T

Hmibe (BEEE - HRAD) 2EEBRD
52.9% * A =Z = =4 213,500,000/ TR =
— T U4 Z26,400,000/8 7T ° sz SR EAE
EeXRE BRESEN  BEAEEEESE
1.8% °

AEEZERERENERA-_ST_=ZFH
506% NEE T ZINFMS57.2% 0 EEHMBAK
BEth [ SEE M ERBABEBESLATE -

Revenue by activities REBKE D2 EER 2024 2023 Changes
—ENE —Eo=F #E)
HK$’000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %
FHET %  THET % FET %
Products Em 350,388 99.1% 331,943 98.8% 18,445 5.6%
Services AR 7% 3,263 0.9% 4072 1.2% (809) (19.9%)
Total st 353,651 100.0% 336015 100.0% 17,636 5.2%
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Products

The Group is principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of a range of
products, including skin care, beauty and aroma-therapeutic products, health
supplements and make-up products under the “Natural Beauty” brand and
beauty apparatus. Product sales are the Group's key revenue source and
primarily generated from franchised spas, online and other sales platforms, self-
owned spas and concessionary counters at department stores. Product sales
in 2024 amounted to HK$350.4 million, or 99.1% of the Group's total revenue,
representing an increase of HK$18.5 million or by 5.6% when compared to
product sales of HK$331.9 million in 2023. The increase in product sales was
mainly driven by the increase in revenue in such segment in the PRC market by
7.9% to HK$252.7 million in 2024 as compared to HK$234.3 million in 2023.

Services
Service income is derived from our self-owned spas’ services, medical
cosmetology services, training and other services.

The Group provides skin treatment, beauty and spa services through its self-
owned spas. The Group's strategy is to establish self-owned spas as model
outlets in strategic locations to stimulate franchisees to join in. As at 31
December 2024, the Group has three self-owned spas in the PRC and two self-
owned spas in Malaysia.

The Group does not share any service income generated from spas run by
franchisees under its current franchise arrangements. In 2024, service income
decreased by 19.9% to HK$3.3 million as compared to HK$4.0 million in 2023.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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N -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

The PRC Market

The Group's revenue in the PRC market increased by 7.3% in 2024 to HK$255.2
million as compared with HK$237.8 million in 2023. The increase was mainly
due to an increase in the sales of products. Gross margin on product sales
decreased from 60.9% in 2023 to 58.8% in 2024. The key reason to the
aforementioned changes is: the changes in revenue mix of products bundling
in the PRC market.

Taiwan Market

The Group's revenue in the Taiwan market increased by 8.7% from HK$84.7
million in 2023 to HK$92.1 million in 2024. The increase in sales in the Taiwan
market was mainly attributable to the increase in revenue from product sales
through Franchise channel and telemarketing channels in the Taiwan market.
Gross profit margin on product sales increased from 53.5% in 2023 to 53.7% in
2024. The key reason of the increase in gross margin is the changes in business
channels, which in turn changed the revenue mix.

Benefited from the operation strategy of Eastern Media International
Corporation ("EMIC") Group, the Group’s products were sold through the
distribution channels of EMIC. In 2024, sales revenue from TV shopping,
E-commerce and telemarketing channels in the Taiwan market contributed
HKS$18.6 million to the Group, accounting for 20.2% of the product sales in
Taiwan.

B 7% B B ()

B KpE T 5
AEBRPRAREMSZEXER T =
F2237,800,0008 T M7 3%E —E —HF 2
255,200,000 70 ' BEABINEEHERBEE
RN - EMEEERNER T -_=F
Z2609% NEE - —PUF 7588% T EBRHA
B REEEEMNERKRAESBEEBLAT
@(o

=)-1itk ]

ZISE@EAE\/%ﬁiﬁZ**%%EEEfg:Ei
284,700,000/ L M8 7% E T _UF 2
92,100,000/87C - BAE S EMNHEEBEINE
BZAETISNMEEE B TIEERNE
MIHEWAEIAS - EREEENEH_FT
T=F2535% ERREZE ZIOF 253.7% ©
ERAAEXKBERNELERRALEETELE
{EFTER -

BEREHREBEROERAR(RHER]) 2
%@ﬁﬁﬂiﬁ’a%%ﬁuuﬁ BERFRE T H 5 $H@
BHE R-ZT_NF > EMSNERE
Y- ETHE - BRETHBRERESKRAY
N B F B E 18,600,000 7T - (E A E MR E
mhiEEERE 2. 20.2% ©

Revenue by
geographical region Rt B D 2 EEE 2024 2023 Changes
—E-UE —E=F g5y
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 %
FHET FET FET %

PRC o K BE
Products Em 252,749 234,254 18495 7.9%
Services AR 7% 2,427 3,496 (1,069) (30.6%)
PRC Total R K REZET 255,176 237,750 17,426 7.3%
Taiwan =)
Products Em 92,013 84,746 7,267 8.6%
Services AR 7% 88 - 88 -
Taiwan Total EY-f:5 92,101 84,746 7,355 8.7%
Others Hith
Products Em 5,626 12,943 (7,317) (56.5%)
Services AR 7% 748 576 172 29.9%
Others Total Hangst 6,374 13,519 (7,145) (52.9%)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other income and other gains

Other income and other gains decreased by 46.4% from HK$7.9 million in
2023 to HK$4.2 million in 2024. Other income and other gains in 2024 mainly
comprised rental income from properties and equipment, interest income
and government grants of HK$1.7 million, HK$0.8 million and HK$0.4 million
respectively.

Selling and administrative expenses

Distribution and selling expenses as a percentage of the Group's revenue
increased to 48.4% in 2024 compared with 42.3% in 2023. The distribution and
selling expenses increased by HK$28.8 million from HK$142.2 million in 2023 to
HKS$171.0 million in 2024. Staff costs in relation to distribution work increased
by HK$11.0 million to HK$77.5 million in 2024 from HK$66.5 million in 2023.
Other key expenses included advertising expenses of HK$32.5 million, legal and
professional fees of HK$14.2 million, depreciation and amortisation charges
of HK $12.7 million, travelling and entertainment charges of HK$10. 5 million,
transportation charges of HK$7.6 million and rental expenses of HK$2.9 million
in 2024.

Total administrative expenses increased by HK$14.4 million, to HK$80.4 million
in 2024 as compared to HK$66.0 million in 2023. Administrative expenses mainly
comprised staff costs and retirement benefits (including directors’ emoluments)
of HK$33.3 million, legal and professional fees of HK$9.1 million, depreciation
and amortisation charges of HK$9.1 million, office and utility expense HK$7.2
million and research and development expenses of HK$2.3 million in 2024.

Annual Impairment Test — CGU

The Group's sale of cosmetic products in the Mainland China has been
identified as a cash generating unit (the “CGU") that is subject to annual
impairment test and whenever there is indication of impairment.

As disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements, for the
purpose of assessing impairment of the CGU, the recoverable amount of the
CGU is determined using a value-in-use (VIU) calculation based on discounted
cash flows. Cash flow projections are derived from five-year financial budgets
approved by directors, incorporating key assumptions such as budgeted
revenue and gross margin, which are estimated based on past performance
and market development expectations.

As of 31 December 2024, before any impairment, the carrying amounts
allocated to this CGU were approximately HK$24.8 million (2023: HK$25.2
million) for goodwill, HK$212.3 million (2023: HK$204.0 million) for property and
plant equipment, and HK$23.6 million (2023: HK$18.5 million) for right-of-use
assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Annual Impairment Test — CGU (Continued)

The Mainland China market experienced intensifying competition during
2024, coupled with changing customer needs and an economic slowdown.
In response, the management revised their marketing strategy in the second
half of 2024 to focus on rapid expansion through a multi-channel/multi-brand
approach and franchise store growth via agents. While this strategic shift
increased operational and personnel costs, it was deemed necessary for future
growth. Because of the aforesaid, the management has prepared cash flow
forecast for the next five years derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by the directors.

Management engaged an external valuer to estimate the CGU'’s recoverable
amount as of 31 December 2024. The recoverable amount was lower than the
carrying value of the CGU by HK$29.0 million, resulting in impairment losses
of HK$24.8 million for goodwill and HK$4.2 million for plant and equipment.
Discount rates used were 14% (2023:16%), with a forecast revenue compound
annual growth rate of 16.4% (2023:14.7%). The budgeted gross margin was 55%
(2023: 58%), and with the terminal growth rate at 2.2% (2023:2.2%).

Fair value loss on investment properties

The fair value loss on investment properties increased by HK$14.0 million, to
HK$19.7 million in 2024 as compared to HK$5.8 million in 2023. The fair value of
the Group's investment properties at the end of reporting periods were valued
on a mix of direct comparison method and income capitalisation method.
The valuations were performed by independent firms of chartered surveyors.
The fair value loss on investment properties are set out in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Other expenses and other losses
Other expenses and other losses increased by HK$1.7 million, from HK$2.1
million in 2023 to HK$3.8 million in 2024.

Loss before tax

Taking into account of the fact that pre-tax profit margin decreased by 26.2%
t0 -29.7% in 2024 from -3.5% in 2023 in the Group, the loss before tax was
approximately HK$11.9 million in 2023 as compared to the loss before tax of
HKS$105.2 million in 2024.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Taxation

Income taxation expenses decreased by HK$4.8 million from HK$3.2 million in
2023 to income taxation credit HK$1.6 million in 2024. The effective tax rates of
the Group in 2023 and 2024 were 27.3% and -1.5% respectively.

Loss for the year
The Group's net loss was approximately HK$103.6 million in 2024 as compared
to the net loss of approximately HK$15.1 million in 2023.

Liquidity and financial resources

Cash used in operating activities in 2024 was approximately HK$13.7 million
(cash generated from operating activities HK$21.7 million in 2023). As at 31
December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$109.0 million (HK$158.7 million as at 31 December 2023) with approximately
HK$192.2 million of external bank borrowings (HK$171.8 million as at 31
December 2023).

In terms of gearing, the Group's gearing ratios (defined as total bank borrowings
divided by shareholders’ equity) in 2023 and 2024 were 29.9% and 43.0%
respectively. Current ratios of the Group (defined as current assets divided by
current liabilities) as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 were 1.21
times and 1.54 times respectively. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no
material contingent liabilities, other than those disclosed in its consolidated
financial statements and the notes thereto. With the cash and bank balances in
hand, the Group's liquidity position remains strong to meet its working capital
requirements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's secured bank borrowings with maturities
falling due within one year, in the second to fifth years without repayment on
demand clause and in the second to fifth years with repayment on demand
clause were HK$57.2 million (2023: HKS$33.5 million), HK$11.7 million (2023:
HK$3.5 million) and HK$123.3 million (2023: HK$134.9 million) respectively, and
therefore the Group’s net cash (exclude time deposits with maturities of over
three months but less than one year) amounted to HK$-83.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$-13.1 million). These bank borrowings
were denominated in Renminbi ("RMB”) and New Taiwan Dollars ("NTD") at
floating rates during the year. The Group did not hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk via interest rate swap.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's secured short-term and long-term bank
borrowings were secured by certain freehold land, buildings, investment
properties and right-of-use assets related to leasehold land, with carrying
amounts of HK$328.1 million (HK$96.2 million as at 31 December 2023).

Share Award Schemes

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 25 May 2022.
The board of directors (the “Board”) has adopted two share award schemes,
namely Scheme | and Scheme Il (together, the “Share Award Schemes”) on
25 May 2022 (the "Adoption Date”). The purpose and objective of Scheme
I are: (i) to recognise the contributions by certain Eligible Participants who
are connected person(s) of the Company and to closely align executive
interests with the growth and financial achievements of the Group; and (ii)
to provide a performance-driven long-term incentive award to motivate and
retain key senior management. The purpose and objective of Scheme Il are:
(i) to recognise the contributions by certain Eligible Participants who are not
connected person(s) of the Company and to provide them with incentives
in order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the
Group; and (i) to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

The Share Award Schemes shall be valid and effective for a term of ten years
commencing from the Adoption Date. Since the Adoption Date and up to 31
December 2024, no share award was granted under the Share Award Schemes.
For details of the Share Award Schemes, please refer to the section headed
“Share Awards” in this annual report.

Treasury policies and exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates
Most of the Group's revenues are denominated in RMB and NTD as its
operations are mainly located in the PRC and Taiwan. As at 31 December 2024,
approximately 46.0% (46.8% as at 31 December 2023) of the Group's bank
balances and cash was denominated in RMB, while approximately 38.2% (40.7%
as at 31 December 2023) was denominated in NTD. The remaining 15.8% (12.5%
as at 31 December 2023) was denominated in United States Dollars, Hong Kong
Dollars and Malaysian Ringgit. The Group continues to adopt a conservative
approach in its foreign exchange exposure management. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group reviews
its foreign exchange risks periodically and uses derivative financial instruments
to hedge against such risks when necessary.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Distribution channels

For revenue by sales channel, the Group achieved HK$315.8 million sales from
franchised/self-owned spas, medical cosmetology centers and counters in
2024 which increased by HK$21.3 million as compared to the figure in 2023
(2023: HK$294.5 million), representing 89.3% of the Group's total revenue (2023:

87.7%).

For sales from E-commerce, TV shopping and telemarketing channels, the
Group achieved HK$37.8 million sales which decreased by HKS$3.7 million
compared to 2023 (2023: HK$41.5 million), representing 10.7% of the Group's
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Distribution channels (Continued)

The Group derives its income principally from its network of distribution
channels, including spas and concessionary counters in department stores. As at
31 December 2024, there were 1,773 spas or point of sales and 7 concessionary
1,768 were franchised spas or point of sales, while 5 spas
and 7 concessionary counters were directly operated and owned by the Group.

counters. Of these,

No concessionary counters were entrusted to third-party operators. Franchised
spas or point of sales are owned by the franchisees who are responsible for the
capital investment in these spas. They are obliged to use only Natural Beauty
or “NB" products in their spas. A wide array of services including hydrotherapy,
facial treatment, body care and skin care analysis, are provided in all spas,
while skin care analysis is widely available at the concessionary counters in
department stores.

Group-wide, a total of 324 (2023: 213) new stores were opened and 106 (2023:
68) stores were closed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Products

In 2024, Natural Beauty successfully held grand new product launches in
Shanghai and Xiamen, sparking a revolutionary wave in skincare and health
food industry. During these events, the Company unveiled 12 skincare products,
2 meticulously designed skincare gift sets, and 9 innovative health supplements
products. With exceptional product quality and forward-looking market insights,
the Company achieved HK$43.0 million in sales, injecting strong momentum
into its continued growth.

In response to the national health strategy, starting in May 2024, Natural Beauty
collaborated with Taiwanese home shopping experts to launch a series of
unique health food roadshows nationwide. These roadshows, totaling over 100
sessions, were further bolstered by the Company’s health food subsidy policy,
significantly enhancing consumer enthusiasm. By the end of 2024, the health
food series achieved HK$33.7 million in sales, amounting to a remarkable 86.2%
growth compared to HK$18.1 million in 2023. This remarkable performance
highlights Natural Beauty 's solid foundation and vast potential in the health
and wellness sector.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Products (Continued)

On the brand expansion front, Natural Beauty demonstrated relentless efforts
in 2024. The B.U.T. ESSE brand celebrated a dazzling opening at Shanghai New
World, offering urban elites a novel skincare experience. Subsequently, the
Company opened counters in high-end shopping centers such as Shanghai
K11 and Huaihai Parkson, further cementing its position in the fashion scene.
Additionally, the Company opened self-owned spas in shopping centers like
Shanghai Century Link and BFC, introducing futuristic Al-driven premium
skincare concepts to the city, providing more options for consumers pursuing a
high-quality lifestyle. Despite being a newly established market force, the brand
has swiftly garnered unparalleled acclaim from elite shopping destinations
and discerning consumers, driven by its exceptional quality and visionary
innovation. As we look toward 2025, the brand will continue to meticulously
advance its strategic initiatives, further deepen its market penetration, and
elevate its influence and brand equity within the high-end consumer segment,
solidifying its leadership position on a global scale.

Research and Development

In 2024, Natural Beauty is dedicated to maintaining its market leadership and
continuously delivering value to shareholders through cutting-edge technology
and product upgrades. We have completely overhauled our existing Natural
Beauty Resveratrol Series by introducing Vitis Vinifera Extract, derived from
French Bordeaux grapevines, and combining it with NMN and Chicken Embryo
Stem Cell Technology, setting a new benchmark in the field of anti-aging. These
breakthroughs not only highlight our leadership in utilizing state-of-the-art
technologies but also enhance the brand’s market competitiveness.

In addition, we have launched a new generation of the NMN Warm Sensation
Hydra Device equipped with AirSonic Technology, taking product innovation
to an entirely new level. This device delivers significant advancements in air
pressure jet speed, thermal sensation technology, and NLS bio-light application,
providing deep improvements in skin health and delivering exceptional
skincare results, making it a star product in the premium skincare market.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Research and Development (Continued)

Our research on Exosome Technology has also made remarkable progress.
We have deeply explored its anti-aging potential and plan to introduce this
technology into the Taiwan market through diverse channels to meet growing
consumer demand. At the same time, we have taken a major step forward in
the application of Al technology by successfully developing an Al Massage Robot
integrated with a visual recognition system. This technology not only enhances
the precision and customization of services but also effectively addresses the
challenge of labor shortages in the increasingly demanding professional beauty
industry. Furthermore, the introduction of advanced skin analysis instruments
has significantly improved the consumer experience, further solidifying our
technological leadership in the beauty and skincare industry.

We are also actively deepening our collaboration with academic institutions
and professional laboratories by integrating resources from industry and
academia to drive research innovation and the development of sustainable
technologies. These initiatives not only ensure the brand’s sustainable growth
but also strengthen investor confidence in the Company’s long-term growth
potential.

In 2024, Natural Beauty has further reinforced its brand value through solid
technological advancements and outstanding market performance. Looking
ahead, we will continue to focus on technological innovation and market
expansion to deliver sustained returns and value for both investors and
consumers.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 542 employees, of whom
410 were based in the PRC, 110 in Taiwan and 22 in other countries and
regions. Total remuneration (excluding directors’ emoluments) in 2024 was
approximately HK$148.4 million (HK$105.2 million in 2023), including retirement
benefit related costs of HK$11.0 million (HK$9.0 million in 2023). Competitive
remuneration packages are maintained to attract, retain and motivate capable
staff members and are reviewed on a regular basis.

Capital Expenditures

The Group's capital expenditure of HK$41.2 million in 2024 was mainly related
to the new plant construction in the PRC amounting to HK$22.3 million,
opening of new stores, renovation and equipment amounting to HK$18.6
million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Right-of-use Assets and Lease Liability

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards No. 16 — Lease (HKFRS 16) came
into effect on 1 January 2019. At the commencement date, the Group should
recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The related right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are mainly located in the PRC and Taiwan. As at 31
December 2024, the Group's right-of-use assets were HK$34.9 million (HK$30.7
million as at 31 December 2023) and its lease liabilities were HK$19.9 million
(HKS14.5 million as at 31 December 2023). In 2024, depreciation charges of
right-of-use assets amounted to HK$5.4 million and interest charges of lease
liabilities amounted to HK$0.6 million.

Future plans for material investments or capital assets

Save as otherwise disclosed this annual report, there were no material
investments or additions of capital assets authorised by the Board at the date of
this annual report.

OUTLOOK

The year of 2024 was a fresh start full of new opportunities for Natural Beauty to
make every effort to achieve its targets. The dual-core strategy has been put into
practice in the PRC market, allowing the agents to establish stores and focusing
on health food to promote sustained growth in performance. With a major
breakthrough in the store exhibition, Natural Beauty have successfully attracted
and contracted leading commission agents in the PRC market and established
a core partnership in terms of local store expansion. The layout of the five major
areas, including Central China, East China, West China, South China and North
China, has been completed. Ten heavyweight agents that have been deeply
involved in the beauty industry for more than 20 years have officially joined
us as representatives and benchmarks of Natural Beauty in respect of store
expansion in the market of PRC. The combined efforts from multiple forces have
generated rapid development of store expansion and drive the Company’s
performance to steadily rise. The sales of health food also attained a remarkable
near-doubling of year-on-year revenue growth, injecting strong momentum
into the Company’s overall business and laying a solid foundation for future
development. In addition, Natural Beauty proactively deploys international
high-end smart beauty equipment, driving industrial upgrading with cutting-
edge technological innovation, deepening the brand value system and
comprehensively enhancing international market competitiveness.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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OUTLOOK (Continued)
Key Market Development Strategies

- Taiwan:

- PRC

Natural Beauty continues the multi-channel sale strategy. With
the remaining focus of consumption of health food in the post-
pandemic era, we continue to regard health food sales as the
core of our development, regularly organizing the meetings for
the customers of Hydra project and health supplements project
to help franchise stores improve their income generating ability.
Meanwhile, we continue to optimize our guidance capability in
live streaming to increase brand exposure through our online
platform, enhancing the reach rate generated by customers.
We will also improve our mechanism for management on
and repurchase of online membership to further promote the
overall growth of our business.

Joint store expansion by agents: We initiated the cooperation
with local agents across major regions in the PRC and set up
operation centers in key provinces. With each region developed
by the agents on a local basis, the brand and the agents jointly
organized numerous business partnering event. At the same
time, the original store expansion mechanism are combined
with the distributor system of fission of the existing franchisees
to strengthen the precise targeting and expand the team. In
2024, the number of newly opened franchise stores recorded
a year-on-year growth of 50%. Increased promotion of health
supplements: We have embarked on new practice and adopted
the penetrating marketing strategy of intensive cultivation of
offline business, and have combined the resources of the EHS
Group to penetrate respective regions in depth and cover the
nation through multi-frequency mini-training and promotional
campaigns, driving significant growth of sales of health
supplements in franchising channels.

Looking ahead to the year of 2025, the Group will continue to enhance its brand
building with the implement of the multi-channel and multi-brand strategy,
and utilize Al technology in empowering its competitiveness to deepen
the operation and management of its membership system and proactively
expand the territory of its comprehensive healthcare business, accelerating the
development of its core business in an all-round aspect.
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Report on Corporate Governance

The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report in the Group's
Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OF THE COMPANY

The Company firmly believes that strong corporate governance is the
foundation to delivering the corporate objective of maximizing return to
its stakeholders over the long term. The core of the governance structure is
an effective and qualified Board which is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance, sound internal control and effective risk
management to enhance transparency, accountability, integrity and honesty, in
order to earn the confidence from our shareholders and other stakeholders and
to safeguard the interests of shareholders.

The Board had adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines (the “CG Guidelines”)
(available on the Company’s website: www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/
irwebsite) which gives guidance on how corporate governance principles are
applied to the Company.

Compliance with the Listing Rules and the CG Code

The Board is of the view that throughout the year 2024, the Company
applied the principles and complied with all the code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix C1
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The following
summarizes the Company’s corporate governance practices and explains
deviations, if any, from the CG Code.

In addition to complying with applicable statutory requirements, we aim to
continually review and enhance our corporate governance practices in light of
local and international best practices.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes responsibility
for its leadership and control and be collectively responsible for promoting
the Company’s success by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.
Directors take decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business and regularly
reviews the contribution required from a Director to perform his responsibilities
to the Company and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them that are commensurate with their role and the Board responsibilities.
The Board includes a balanced composition of Executive Directors and Non-
executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors) so that
there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgement.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises eight members, consisting of three Executive
Directors, two Non-executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The list of all Directors is set out under “Corporate Information”
on page 2 of this Annual Report. Composition of the Board, by category of
Directors, including names of the Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors
and Independent Non-executive Directors are disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Ms. Lin Yen-Ling, who has been appointed as an Executive Director during the
year 2024, has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules on 1 January 2024, and she has confirmed she understood her obligations
as a director of a listed issuer.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management Profiles” of this Annual Report. The
relationships between the Directors are disclosed in the respective Director's
biography under the section “Directors’ and Senior Management Profiles” of this
Annual Report. Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no relationships
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s))
between the Board members and in particular, between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer.

Natural Beauty Bio-Technology Limited Annual Report 2024
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Meetings

The Board meets four times during a year as a minimum and, during 2024, it
met eight times. It involves active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

Directors’ attendance and training records
Details of composition of each of the Board Committees, the Directors’
attendance records at the meetings of the Board and each of the Board
Committees and the general meetings as well as the Directors’ training records
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ attendance and training records (Continued)

Those Directors who were not able to attend the Board and Committee
meetings in person could appoint another Director as their respective proxy to
attend and vote on his/her behalf. For indication purpose, attendance by proxy
was not counted as attendance by the Director himself/herself in the above
summary.

Notes:

(1 No Executive Committee meeting was held during the year ended 31 December
2024,

(a) Attended training course that was organised by the Company and/or received
training materials provided by the Company.

(b) Attended other continuous professional development training course(s) that was/
were not organised by the Company and/or studied relevant reading materials.

The Company generally gives notice and draft agenda of regular Board
meetings at least 14 days in advance. Directors are consulted to include
any matter in the agenda for regular Board meetings. For other Board and
Committee meetings, notice is generally given pursuant to the Company's
articles of association (the “Articles”) and the respective Charters of the
Committees.

The agenda of Board meetings or Committee meetings and the accompanying
Board papers are sent to all Directors at least three days before each Board
meeting or Committee meeting for their review and to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the Company so
as to enable them to make informed decisions.

All Directors have access to the Chief Legal Counsel and the Company Secretary

who are responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with and
advising the Board on corporate governance and compliance matters.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ attendance and training records (Continued)

Draft minutes will be sent to Directors and Board Committees members
within a reasonable time (generally within 14 days) after each meeting and
are available for review and inspection by Directors and Board Committee
members.

The CG Guidelines allow Directors to take independent professional advice at
the Company’s expenses.

Instead of by way of circulation, full Board meetings will be held for any material
transaction with connected persons. Independent Non-executive Directors
who, and whose associates, have no material interest in the transaction should
be present at such meeting.

The Company’s Articles provide for voting and quorum requirements
conforming with the requirements of the CG Code.

Securities transactions made by Directors and relevant
employees

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that the required
standard of the Model Code has been complied with throughout the year
ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

The Company has adopted written guidelines (the “Company’s Guidelines”),
which are equally stringent as the Model Code, in respect of securities
transactions by relevant employees of the Company who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information of the Company pursuant to
code provision C.1.3. No incident of non-compliance with the Model Code or
the Company’s Guidelines by the Company’s relevant employees has been
noted after making reasonable enquiry.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of the

Company are delegated to management team.

There is a defined schedule of matters reserved for full Board decision,
including:

- long-term objectives and strategies;

- extension of Group activities into new business areas;

- preliminary announcements of interim and annual results;
- material banking facilities;

- material acquisitions and disposals;

- material connected transactions; and

- annual internal controls assessment.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

Dr. LEI Chien serves as the Chairperson while Mr. CHENG Chi-Chung is the Chief
Executive Officer. The roles of the Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer are
separate. The Chairperson focuses on Group strategic and Board issues while
the Chief Executive Officer has the overall responsibility for operations and
development.

The Chairperson has a clear responsibility to provide the whole Board with all
information relevant to the discharge of the Board’s responsibilities.

Code provision C.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with the independent non-executive directors without the presence
of other directors. The Chairperson met the independent non-executive
Directors once without the presence of other Directors during the year ended
31 December 2024.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board, at all times, met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors, representing at least one-third of
the Board with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received from each of our independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules. We consider all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism
during the year which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure a
strong independent element on the Board, which allows the Board effectively
exercises independent judgment to better safequard Shareholders’ interests.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.
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EERME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointments, re-election and removal

Directors with service contracts or letters of appointment, including Executive
and Non-executive Directors, usually serve one-year term, and are subject to re-
election pursuant to the Articles and the Listing Rules.

In accordance with Article 100 of the Articles, any new Director appointed shall
hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In addition, in accordance with Article 117 of the Articles, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or a multiple of
three, then a number not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation
at each annual general meeting ("AGM"). Mr. LIN Chia-Wei, Ms. LIN Shu-Hua, and
Mr. CHEN Shou-Huang will retire by rotation according to the Articles and all
of them, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.

To further enhance accountability, any appointment of an Independent Non-
executive Director who has served on the Board for more than nine years

will be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders. We
will state in the related circular and notice of the AGM the reason why we
consider the Independent Non-executive Director is still independent and our
recommendation to shareholders to vote in favour of the re-election of such
Independent Non-executive Director. During the year ended 31 December
2024, Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long, an existing Independent Non-executive Director,
has served on the Board for more than nine years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointments, re-election and removal (Continued)

Disclosure of information of Directors and Chief Executive Officer pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

Position(s) held with the other members of the Group

Ms. LIN Yen-Ling, an Executive Director of the Company, resigned as a general
manager, a director and vice president of all subsidiaries of the Group in the
People's Republic of China with effect from 16 January 2025 and 1 November
2024 respectively.

Other major appointments

Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long, an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company,
was re-appointed as a Chief Executive Officer of China Petrochemical
Development Corporation, Ltd. (TWSE: 1314), a company listed on the Taiwan
Stock Exchange, with effect from 25 June 2024.

Approval of Director’s service contract

On 26 December 2024, the Board approved all the service contracts and letter
of appointment entered into between the Company and each of the Directors
for a term of one year commencing on 1 January 2025.

The annual Director’s fee of Ms. LIN Yen-Ling, an Executive Director of the
Company, has been revised to HKD194,082 per month with effect from 2 April
2024 and HKD20,000 per month with effect from November 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continuing professional development for Directors

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in order to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company organised one
Directors' training on International Financial Reporting Standards.

There were compliance manuals provided to each of the Directors and
members of senior management, which set out (a) the principal continuing
obligations of the Company and the Directors as a result of the listing of
the securities of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange;
and (b) the systems and procedures that the Company, its Directors and
senior management should follow in order to ensure compliance with such
obligations.

On appointment, new Directors will be given comprehensive formal and
tailored orientation training to explain the responsibilities and duties, and other
regulatory requirements.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all Directors updated on the
Listing Rules and other statutory requirements.

During the year 2024, all Independent Non-executive Directors are members of
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
Some Non-executive Directors are members of the Executive Committee and
the Audit Committee.

The attendance records of individual Directors for all Board and Board
Committee meetings in 2024 are set out under “Directors’ Attendance and
Training Records” on page 27 of this Annual Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES BEExZXEE

The Board has established four Board Committees (namely the Audit ZBEEEENRANEESEZES (DR AE
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Executive Committee and Nomination % ZE & - HFEZE= HITELE € M2 '
Committee) that undertake work on its behalf with specific terms of reference ZZE&@)REBE T JBHE A G KB

setting out their roles and functions available at the Company’s website: 2 EBEHE IR AR A MILEH -
www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite. www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite c °

Board Committees present their respective reports to the Board after each EEZE@BENBRNEHE  AZEETEERE
meeting, which address their work and findings. BEZHRE Bl EZ TIEREEE -

Nomination Committee REZEEE

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Nomination Committee RAFHRAH  EREE SR BB IERNIT
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors and two Executive ZENMZHMITERHEK - D B A G454
Directors, namely Mr. YANG Shih-Chien (Chairman), Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long, (EfE) « BRIGRLAE - MEELLE - EEELT
Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang, Dr. LEI Chien and Mr. LIN Chia-Wei respectively. MMRETRE

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, including but not limited (EZZE @B & (BRETEN)ETIRLE
to, determining the policy for the nomination of Directors, reviewing ERHKE  SFERAEFTS248E  BE -
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board annually and 4 Z T RIZBESS L LR A E
making recommendations to the Board on selection of candidates for REFREAMEZTSIRHES o o E
directorships pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy. It also assesses the A BTGBV IERTEETNE M - 2@
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors. Full terms of reference BB & B (IREZZ B € FXE) AR A QA Buh
(Nomination Committee Charter) are available on the Company’s website:  (www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite_c)
www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite and the Stock Exchange’s — MBI FTA8ULE R -

website.

The Company provided sufficient resources for the Nomination Committee to ~ AR RIREEZMWERFIREEZE S @ UWERE
perform its duties. Where necessary, the Nomination Committee could seek ZEEREITEBE - WEFE @ iRELEEn
independent professional advice at the Company's expenses, to perform its SZRBYHEZRAFRBEITHRE - BEHAHAR
duties. A e

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 REZEZEEEEE T _NF+_A=+—H
December 2024. During the year 2024, the Nomination Committee reviewed [FFERNBITTRASH - NS -_NFE
the Board Diversity Policy and the Director Nomination Policy and conducted A * IREZEE€EM T2 2L LR L E @
an annual review of the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board ~ FHIRAMKE @ W ERBELEIESI M EEET ,
pursuant to the CG Guidelines and code provision B3.1 of the CG Code. The ~ BISFANEN FB3EHEES 72848 - 818 . o % |
Nomination Committee also assessed the independence of Independent Non- 4B FIZ TTAL#T T FERH - IRERES SN -l
executive Directors. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate  #FH& T BN IERITEEHN B L - IREZEE S A

balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained and no material RAEBSHFEBRZNZ L FE  BRA i al
matter was identified during the year. FEHAREREMEARLEE - 3
Save as the above, the Nomination Committee has performed corporate K FXFraidh - IREZEZESCRNEE - = .
governance functions set out in code provision A2.1 of the CG Code forthe F+ZA=+—HILFENBITEEEETH] g
year ended 31 December 2024. SFAMESCEA2 EH P EE IR REAE - y:
b |
@ p |
“EoNEFR  AREREWRBAERAE 35
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy aiming at setting out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Company’s Board and having an
appropriate proportion of Directors who have direct experience in our key
markets, with different ethnic background, of both genders, reflecting our
business strategy. All appointment will be based on merit.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board maintains
a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board
composition, the Nomination Committee is committed to diversity at all levels
and will consider a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, experience, expertise,
qualifications, skills and knowledge as well as independence of the Board. The
Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives
that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is also committed to
ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board
downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates
are considered.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five male Directors and three
female Directors. The Nomination Committee considered that the Board had
achieved gender diversity and possessed skill and expertise and a diverse mix
appropriate for the business of the Company and will review the composition
and diversity of the Board on a regular basis to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s workforce (including senior management)
is approximately 76.6% female, among which, approximately 52.9% of the
Group's senior management roles are held by women. The Board is satisfied
that the Company has achieved gender diversity in its workforce. The Company
intends that it shall continue to maintain at least one-third of the Groups
management roles be held by women.

Natural Beauty Bio-Technology Limited Annual Report 2024
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Director Nomination Policy

The Company has also adopted a Director Nomination Policy aiming at setting
out the criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of Directors
of the Company and ensuring the Board has a balance of skills, experiences
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company as well as the Board
continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

A summary of the director nomination policy is set out below:

Criteria adopted for selection and recommendation for directorship
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following criteria
should be considered:

Character and integrity.

Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy.

Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board.

Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in
the Listing Rules.

Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)
Director Nomination Policy (Continued)

Criteria adopted for selection and recommendation for directorship (Continued)

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business

and succession plan and where applicable, may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to
time for nomination of directors and succession planning.

Nomination process

(@)

Appointment of new director

U]

(i)

(iff)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a
director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Director Nomination Policy (Continued)

Nomination process (Continued)

(b)  Re-election of Director at general meeting

(M) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the

overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

(i)~ The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of director at the general meeting.

Where the board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate as
director at the general meeting, the relevant information of the candidate
will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting in
accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Audit Committee comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors and one Non-executive Director, namely
Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long (Chairman), Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang, Mr. YANG Shih-Chien
and Ms. LIN Shu-Hua, respectively. The majority of the Audit Committee
members are Independent Non-executive Directors, with Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang
possessing the appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and
related financial management expertise.

Draft minutes are sent to members of the Audit Committee within 14 days
of each meeting. None of the Audit Committee members is a partner of the
external auditors of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee is authorized by the Board to investigate any activity
within its terms of reference; to seek any information it requires from any
employee and all employees are directed to cooperate with any request
made by the Audit Committee; to obtain outside legal or other independent
professional advice; and to secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant
experience and expertise to their meetings if necessary. Sufficient resources are
provided to the Audit Committee to discharge its duty.

Full terms of reference (Audit Committee Charter) explaining the Audit
Committee’s role and authority are available on the Company’s website:
www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite and the Stock Exchange's
website.

The Audit Committee held six meetings during the year ended 31 December
2024. During the year 2024, the Audit Committee reviewed the annual results
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 and interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2024 and significant issues on the financial reporting
and compliance procedures and arrangements for employees to raise concerns
about possible improprieties. During the year 2024, the Audit Committee
also met with the external auditors twice to discuss audit issues, before
recommending to the Board for approval of publication of results.

There is an agreed procedure for Audit Committee members to take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses.

There were no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The Audit Committee did not have any different view from the Board regarding
the selection and re-appointment of external auditors.

There was a whistle-blowing policy which forms part of the employee’s
handbook.

Natural Beauty Bio-Technology Limited  Annual Report 2024
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
three Independent Non-executive Directors and two Executive Directors,
namely Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang (Chairman), Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long, Mr. YANG Shih-
Chien, Dr. LEI Chien and Mr. LIN Chia-Wei respectively.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include determining the
policy and structure for the remuneration of Executive Directors, assessing
performance of Executive Directors and approving the terms of Executive
Directors’ service contracts, and determining or making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s remuneration packages of individual Executive
and Non-executive Directors and senior management. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the recommendation model described in code
provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code.

In conducting its work in relation to the remuneration of Directors and senior
management, the Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of
his/her associates was involved in determining his or her own remuneration. It
also ensures that remuneration levels should be sufficient to attract and retain
directors to run the Company successfully.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are set
out in its terms of reference. Full terms of reference (Remuneration
Committee Charter) are available on the Company’'s website:
www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite and the Stock Exchange's
website.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year ended

1 December 2024. During the year 2024, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed and recommended the approval of the proposed bonus awards
for all employees and senior management; reviewed and recommended
the remuneration of Mr. CHENG Chi-Chung, reviewed and recommended
the renewal of Director’s service contracts and letters of appointment of
all Directors. With reference to the Remuneration Committee Charter, the
Remuneration Committee members had carefully reviewed and considered the
contribution of each of the Directors to the Group, the Directors’ experience
in the beauty and spa business and the market rate paid by comparable
companies.

Independent professional advice would be sought to supplement internal
resources where appropriate.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

When determining the remuneration basis and structure of the Directors and
Executives, the following factors will be taken into account: (1) contributions
to the Group, (2) experience in related businesses of the Group, (3) respective
responsibilities and performance, (4) market average level, and (5) the overall
financial status of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band are set out in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Executive Committee

In addition to the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee described above, details of the Executive Committee are set out
below.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Executive Committee comprises three
Executive Directors and two Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. LEI Chien
(Chairperson), Mr. LIN Chia-Wei, Ms. LIN Yen-Ling, Ms. LIN Shu-Hua and Mr.
CHEN Shou-Huang respectively.

Executive Committee is primarily responsible for formulating business policies,
making decisions on key business issues and policies, facilitating the approval
of certain corporate actions and exercising the powers and authority delegated
by the Board in respect of matters arising between regularly scheduled Board
meetings, and to review financial, marketing, retail, operation and other
business performance, as well as to review and approve annual budget and key
performance indicators ("KPIs") and track performance.

No Executive Committee meeting was held during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledged its responsibility for the risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation by
key business processes and office functions, including project management,
manufacturing and procurement, financial reporting, human resources and
information technology.

The Company's risk management and internal control systems have been
developed with the following principles, features and processes:

The Company's risk management and internal control systems are designed
with the principles to enhance the operation effectiveness, reduce loss in assets,
ensure the reliability of financial reports and ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations.

The systems cover the factors including, among others, environment control,
risk assessment, activity control, information and communication, and internal
surveillance.

The Company organises personnel and seeks assistance from external
professional advisory institutions to establish the risk management and
internal control systems which are subject to the review by the Company’s
management team and approval by the Audit Committee and the Board.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(Continued)

All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to identify
risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and various aspects
including key operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance and
information security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm
that control policies are properly complied with by each department.

The management regularly reviews the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems and compliance with best practices. In
coordination with department heads, the management assesses the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment plans, and monitors the risk
management progress, and reports to the Audit Committee on all findings and
the effectiveness of the systems. The head of internal audit also reports to the
Audit Committee on the implementation of internal control.

The Internal Audit Department was established in early 2016 to enhance risk
management and internal control systems in a timely manner. The Internal
Audit Department is responsible for performing independent review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems. The Internal Audit Department examines key issues in relation to the
accounting practices and all material controls and provides the effectiveness
of its implementation and recommendations for improvement to the Audit
Committee.

The Company has adopted a whistle-blowing policy to facilitate its employees
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting control or other matters of the Company.

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy to strictly prohibits any
form of fraud or bribery and to observe and uphold high standards of business
integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality and transparency in all its business
dealings at all times.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board conducted an annual
review of the risk management and internal control systems covering the year
2024 and considered that such systems of the Group had been implemented
effectively and adequately. The Board's review will also consider the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(Continued)

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a general
guide to the Company'’s Directors, officers, senior management and Relevant
Employees in handling confidential information, monitoring information
disclosure and responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized
access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

The Board confirms that it has received confirmation from the management
that the Company’s risk management and internal control systems are effective
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management provided explanation and information to the Board to enable the
Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and other information
put before the Board for approval.

Directors are provided with reports on the management’s strategic plans,
updates on lines of business, financial objectives, plans and actions. The
Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records and preparing
accounts for each financial period, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have:

approved the adoption of all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants;

selected and applied consistently appropriate accounting policies;

made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and

prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

A statement by the auditors about their reporting responsibilities is included in
the Independent Auditor’s Report set out on pages 92 to 101.
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Report on Corporate Governance
EERME

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Management provided all members of the Board with monthly updates giving
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient details to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties.

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the accounts, and
the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Board will present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment
to annual and interim reports, other announcements in relation to inside
information and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules, and
report to regulators as well as information required to be disclosed pursuant to
statutory requirements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration paid to the Group’s auditors,
in respect of audit services amounted to HK$2,083,000 and non-audit services
of review of interim results amounted to HK$200,000 which were reviewed and
approved by the Audit Committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year 2024, Ms. KWOK Yin Ting of Tricor Services Limited, is an
external service provider and was engaged by the Company as its Company
Secretary. Her main contact person at the Company is Ms. Jenny ZHU (Chief
Legal Counsel).

Ms. KWOK has confirmed that she has undertaken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The procedure for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
can be found in Article 73 of the Articles of the Company, which is available at
the Company’s website (www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite) and
the Stock Exchange’s website.

Documents relating to the Procedures for Nomination of Directors by Shareholders
and the Shareholder Communication Policy are available for download from the
Company’s website (www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite).

There is a dedicated section of “Shareholder Services” in the Company's website:
www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite to provide comprehensive
information related to shareholders.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, shareholders
may send their enquiries or requests to the following:

Address: 958 Changping Road, Jing'an District, Shanghai, China
Fax: +86 21 5256-0455
Email: ir@nblife.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.

During the year 2024, the Company has not made any amendment
to its Memorandum and Articles of Association. The Company’s
Memorandum and Articles is available on the Company's website
(www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite) and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for good investor relations and investor understanding of the Group's
business performance and strategies. The Company also recognises the
importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the meeting on each substantially
separate issue, including the election of individual Directors.

Chairperson of the Board and Chairmen of the Board Committees or their
respective delegates are requested to attend the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has held one AGM on 24 May 2024 since the issuance of the last
annual report.

Code provision F.2.2 stipulates that the chairman of the board of a listed issuer
should attend the AGM. The chairman of the board should also invite the
chairmen of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any other committees
to attend. In their absence, the chairman of the board should invite another
member of the committee or failing this, his duly appointed delegate, to attend.
These persons should be available to answer questions at the AGM.

On the AGM held on 24 May 2024, Mr. YANG Shih-Chien, the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee and Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, were unable to attend the Company’'s AGM. The
Board arranged for Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long, an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee, who is well versed in all business activities and operations of the
Group, to attend the 2024 AGM to respond to shareholders’ questions.

The Company has optimized the planning and procedures of general meetings
by, for example, giving adequate time to all Directors to accommodate their
work arrangements and providing all necessary support for their presence and
participation at general meetings, such that the Chairperson of the Board and
all Directors will be able to attend future general meetings of the Company.

The Company arranged for the notice to shareholders for the 2024 AGM at least

20 clear business days before the meeting.

Additional shareholders’ services can be found in the investor relations section
of the Company’ s website: www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

Voting by poll

Procedures for conducting a poll were set out in the notice of the 2024 AGM.
These procedures were also explained at the commencement of 2024 AGM.

A representative of the Company’s Share Registrar, Hong Kong Registrars
Limited, was appointed as scrutineer during the 2024 AGM.

Poll results were published on the same day following the 2024 AGM and
posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and that of the Company at
www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite.

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy. The policy
aims to enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and
to allow shareholders and the investment community to engage actively in the
Company. The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders' Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an on-
going dialogue with its shareholders as follows:

(@)  Shareholders’ enquiries
Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the Company'’s share registrar.

Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” refers to any document issued or to be
issued by the Company for the information or action of holders of any of
its securities, including, but not limited to, the directors’ report and annual
accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s report, interim report,
notice of meeting, circular and proxy form. Corporate communication
will be provided to Shareholders in plain language and in both English
and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding.
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TEERRE

INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued) REEBE®

Shareholders Communication Policy (Continued) IR SRIBAABUR ()

()  Corporate Website (0 DEHL
A dedicated Investor Relations section is available on the Company’s AAE A (www.ir-cloud.com/
website at www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite. Information hongkong/00157/irwebsite_c) & [1R & &
on the Company’s website is updated on a regular basis. BERIRE - AAREL EEHMNERE

HASE T o

(d)  Shareholders’ Meetings d) BRXE
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to REELERERE  WRZEFE -7
appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf ZRREREEFIRELERE -EF
if they are unable to attend the meetings. Board members, in particular, ERELERESEETSE /\AEI’\]I
either the chairmen or deputy chairmen of Board committees or their B ERHEREK  FEENTHRER
delegates, appropriate management executives and external auditors AB RINEZEENG g HERREFE X
will attend annual general meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions. I EES L EE O

Dividend Policy B S BE

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy setting out the principle and AR R EFRMZEKEK - ERHI AR F
guidelines to be applied by the Company in respect of declaration, payment or ~ JEERE IR * Kk 5K 88 E 45 5 V5 A R B B it fE
distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders. ARRARES -
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Directors’ and Senior Management Profiles

EEkeREEERE

CHAIRPERSON AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:
DR. LEI CHIEN (ALIAS JOANNA LEI)
Aged 66, is the Chairperson of the Company. She was appointed as the
Company’s Executive Director on 26 October 2018. She is also the chairperson
of Executive Committee and a member of Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee. She is currently a director of the Company’s
subsidiaries in Malaysia and Hong Kong. Dr. Lei is currently an executive director
of Pacific Construction Co,, Limited* (K ¥ 2% B R A 7)), a company
listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange (TWSE: 2506). She is also a non-executive
independent director and chairperson of the board of GSS Energy Limited (SGX:
41F.SI), a company listed on the Singapore Exchange. Dr. Lei is also serving on
the board of a number of non-profit organisations such as the Chinese
Childrenhome and Shelter Association* (1 % & ) # 18 7 ZRIZH ) and
the National Women's League* (F2 2 (R B 7 Z B & ®). She has over 30 years
of experience in the media and broadcasting sector and corporate
management. Dr. Lei began her career as a media and development scholar at
the University of Pennsylvania from 1984 to 1987. From 1987 to 1996, she
worked in the media conglomerate Capital Cities/ABC, Inc. in New York. She
was eventually promoted to vice president and was one of the highest ranking
Asians in mainstream American media. From 1997 to 2002, Dr. Lei was an
investment partner of Baring Communication Equity Asia in Singapore. Her
investment activities included equity investment, debt restructuring, and
merger and acquisitions in telecom, media, and information technology
industries across the Asia Pacific region excluding Japan. In 2000, Dr. Lei
returned to Taiwan and from 2003 to 2004, she was an executive director of
Eastern Broadcasting Company Co., Ltd (“EBC"). She has been elected as senator
at the Legislative Yuan of the Republic of China in 2005 and until 2008. Dr. Lei
was appointed as the chairman of a government-owned enterprise, Kinmen
Kaoliang Liquor Co, Limited* (£ PYEME /%D B R A 7)) in 2008. From
2009 to 2017, Dr. Lei has worked again in EBC as a board director. Dr. Lei served
three consecutive terms as an independent director in the IBF Financial
Holdings Co., Ltd previously known as Waterland Financial Holding Co., Ltd*
(B = & mhi%h

2889). Dr. Lei obtamed a bachelor of arts degree in foreign languages and

, a company listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange (TWSE:
literature from the National Taiwan University in June 1980. She has received a

master of arts degree in June 1983 and a doctor of philosophy in June 1996
from the University of Pennsylvania (Philadelphia).

*  For identification purpose only.
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Directors’ and Senior Management Profiles

EEREREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:

MR. LIN CHIA-WEI

Aged 53, was appointed as the Company’s Executive Director on 1 January
2023. He is also a member of Executive Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is currently the vice
general manager of the Investment Department of Eastern Media International
Corporation (TWSE: 2614), which is listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange. Mr.
Lin has over 20 years' experience in investment bank and private fund. He is a
Certified Securities and Investment Analyst of the Republic of China. He also
holds a master degree in Business Administration from Tunghai University.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:

MS. LIN YEN-LING

Aged 61, was appointed as the Company's Executive Director on 1 January
2024. She is also a member of Executive Committee of the Company. She
graduated with a Bachelor of Arts degree from National Chengchi University
in Taiwan. Ms. Lin has been working in Eastern Group since May 2018, and was
serving as Chief Marketing & Sales Officer of Eastern Media International Corp,,
Chief Marketing Officer of Eastern Home Shopping & Leisure Co., Ltd., and Chief
Sales Officer of ETtoday Co,, Ltd. till 2018. From 2018 to 2024, Ms. Lin was the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)and
general manager of the Group in the People’s Republic of China. Ms. Lin was
a director from 2024 to 2025 and vice president in 2024 of all subsidiaries of
the Group in the People’s Republic of China. Prior to the appointment as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group, Ms. Lin was the general manager of Lintas
China Group from 2016 to 2017. From 1997 to 2016, Ms. Lin had worked at
Eastern Broadcasting Co,, Ltd. as Chief Operation and Sales Officer and Havas
Worldwide as Executive Vice President of Greater China and Chief Executive
Officer of Taiwan.

*  For identification purpose only.
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Directors’ and Senior Management Profiles

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:

MS. LIN SHU-HUA

Aged 62, was appointed as the Company’s Non-executive Director on 16
November 2018. She is also a member of both Executive Committee and Audit
Committee of the Company. She is currently also a director of some of the
Company’s subsidiaries. Ms. Lin is currently an independent director of Cashbox
Partyworld Co., Ltd. (TWSE: 8359), a company listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange. Ms. Lin was the vice president of the finance department of Eastern
Home Shopping & Leisure Co,, Ltd.* GRFR1E 5 MR H BR A7) between
January 2005 and September 2008. In April 2016, Ms. Lin re-joined the same
company, holding the same position since then. After obtaining her
qualification as a Certified Public Accountant of the Republic of China in August
1996, Ms. Lin has since then worked at the finance department of various
companies, including Eastern Broadcasting Co,, Ltd* (RZR BB ERHER
‘A |]), Eastern Multimedia Co., Ltd.* (RAREERHTRMH B R A 7)) and
Sensen Home Shopping Co., Ltd.* Rk B &% 1D B R A 7)), accumulating
over 20 years of experience in total. Ms. Lin graduated from the Department of
Accounting at National Chung Hsing University in 1987 and obtained an
executive master degree of business administration from the National Taiwan
University in 2016.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:

MR. CHEN SHOU-HUANG

Aged 72, was appointed as the Company’s Non-executive Director on 25
January 2019. He is also a member of Executive Committee of the Company.
He obtained a master degree in law from the Chinese Culture University and
subsequently obtained a doctoral degree in law from the National Taiwan
Ocean University. He is currently an independent director of Shin Kong Bank
Co,, Ltd. He used to serve as a part-time professor in the Institute of Marine Law
of the National Taiwan Ocean University, parliamentary vice minister of Taiwan
Ministry of Justice, the prosecutor of the Supreme Court Prosecutor’s Office,
the Chief Prosecutor of the High Court of Taiwan and the Head Prosecutor
of various districts in Taiwan. During the period when he served as the Chief
Prosecutor of the High Court, he was appointed as the president of Taiwan
After-Care Association and the Association for Victims Support.
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Directors’ and Senior Management Profiles
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:

MR. CHEN RUEY-LONG (ALIAS STEVE CHEN)

Aged 76, was appointed as the Company’'s Independent Non-executive
Director on 1 February 2010. He is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of both the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He obtained his Bachelor degree of Economics
from National Chung Hsing University in 1970. He was the Minister of the
Ministry of Economic Affairs of Taiwan from 2006 to 2008. Prior to that, he held
various positions and represented the Ministry of Economic Affairs of Taiwan
in various countries and was based in Switzerland from 1987 to 1996 and in
Belgium from 1974 to 1979. Mr. Chen was the Board Chairman of the Institute
for Information Industry in Taiwan from 2008 to 2009. Mr. Chen is currently the
Board Chairman of SINOCON Industrial Standards Foundation in Taiwan and
the vice president of Cross-Strait CEO Summit. He is currently a non-executive
director of Asia Cement (China) Holdings Corporation (HKSE: 743), listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He is also a director of Asia Cement Corporation
(TWSE: 1102) and Tatung Company (TWSE: 2371); a managing director and
independent director of Formosa Chemicals and Fibre Corporation (TWSE:
1326); an independent director of INVENTEC CORPORATION (TWSE: 2356),
which are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange. Starting from 31 January 2020,
he is the Board Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of China Petrochemical
Development Corporation, Ltd. (TWSE: 1314), listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange and ceased to be an independent director and Chief Executive Officer
on 31 January 2020 and 27 March 2023 respectively, and re-appointed as a
Chief Executive Officer on 25 June 2024. From June 2011 until 10 June 2014, he
was an independent director of E-Ton Solar Tech. Co,, Ltd. (GTSM: 3452), listed
on the Taiwan GreTai Securities Market. He was a director of GINTECH ENERGY
CORPORATION (TWSE: 3514), listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange, until 30
October 2017. He was an independent director of Walsin Lihwa Corporation
(TWSE: 1605), listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange, until 29 May 2020. He was
the Board Chairman and Chief Operating Officer of Powerchip Technology
Corporation (GTSM: 5346), listed on the Taiwan GreTai Securities Market, until 12
August 2020. He was the chairman of the board of BES Engineering Corporation
(TWSE: 2515), listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange, until 16 September 2022.
He was a director of HannStar Board Corporation (TWSE: 5469), listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange, until 15 June 2023. He was also a director of Bank of
Panhsin in Taiwan, Teknowledge Development Corporation and Powerchip
Semiconductor Manufacturing Corp.
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Directors’ and Senior Management Profiles

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:

Mr. LIN TSALM-HSIANG (ALIAS WILLIAM LIN)

Aged 69, was appointed as the Company’'s Independent Non-executive
Director on 1 January 2023. He is also the Chairman of Remuneration
Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He is currently an independent director of
CAPITAL Securities Corporation (TWSE: 6005) and Eastern Media International
Corporation (TWSE: 2614), which are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange. Mr.
Lin is an Honorary Chairman of the Financial Engineering Association of Taiwan.
Mr. Lin is also an Honorary Professor at the Department of Banking & Finance
at Tamkang University, in which he retired as a full-time professor at the end
of July 2024. Mr. Lin used to serve as a director of TWSE and a member of
Securities Listing Review Committee. He also served as an independent director
of Global Lighting Technologies Inc. (TWSE: 4935) and a director of various
listed companies in Taiwan. Mr. Lin had been working as an adjunct professor
at Taiwan University, Zhejiang University and Xiamen University, etc.. He holds
Bachelor's degree of Science (Physics) at Taiwan University, and Ph.D. in Finance
at Boston University in Massachusetts, United States of America.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:

MR. YANG SHIH-CHIEN

Aged 80, was appointed as the Company's Independent Non-executive
Director on 16 November 2018. He is also the Chairman of Nomination
Committee and a member of both Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee. He is currently the chairman and chief executive officer of Global
Strategic Investment Management Inc, a board director of Tecom Co,, Ltd.
(TWSE: 2321), Yageo Corporation (TWSE: 2327) and Mitac Inc. (formerly listed
TWSE: 8122), an independent director of TOPKEY Corporation (TWSE: 4536)
and WUS Printed Circuit Co,, Ltd (TWSE: 2316). He was a board director of TECO
Electric and Machinery Co,, Ltd (TWSE: 1504) from June 2018 to July 2021 and
an independent director of Tong Hsing Electronic Industries, Ltd. (TWSE: 6217)
from June 2019 to June 2022. Mr. Yang was a national policy advisor to the
President of the Republic of China between January 2009 and May 2016. Prior
to that, Mr. Yang already worked in the government of the Repubilic of China for
more than 28 years, such as the director of the Planning and Evaluation Division
of the National Science Council, Senior Vice Minister of the Ministry of Economic
Affairs and Minister of State. Mr. Yang also worked as a research engineer at the
Chung Shan Institute of Science & Technology between November 1973 and
January 1978. Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor's degree in electrical engineering
from the National Taiwan University in June 1967. Mr. Yang subsequently
obtained a master and a doctor degree in electrical engineering from
Northwestern University in June 1971 and August 1973 respectively.
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Directors’ and Senior Management Profiles
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GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER:

MR. CHENG CHI-CHUNG

aged 58, was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group on 16 July
2024. Mr. Cheng graduated from Taiwan University with a bachelor degree and
Tsinghua University in Beijing with a degree of Executive Master of Business
Administration. Mr. Cheng has 30 years of experience (including 14 years in the
groups in the People’s Republic of China) in media, retailing and e-commerce,
large chain groups and listed companies. Mr. Cheng previously worked as
the general manager of Eastern Broadcasting Co., Ltd. And ETTV America
Corporation and the director of Eastern Broadcasting News Channel ((RZRE15
¥E &) from 1998 through 2006. He also served as the chief executive officer
of Beijing Gome Online Co, Ltd* (3t 5 BIZE7E &2 A BR 2 A)) from 2008 through
2010. From 2011 through 2018, Mr. Cheng worked as the chief executive officer
and chairman of SMI Holdings Group Limited (formerly listed on the Main Board
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (HKSE: 00198)).

COMPANY SECRETARY:

MS. KWOK YIN TING

Ms. Kwok has been appointed as a company secretary of the Company since
October 2024. Ms. Kwok is a Senior Manager of Corporate Services of Tricor
Services Limited (“Tricor”), a global professional services provider specializing
in integrated business, corporate and investor services. Ms. Kwok has over 15
years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and has been providing
professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as
multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Kwok is a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and a Fellow of both The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom. Ms. Kwok obtained a bachelor's degree in business
administration and a master’s degree in professional accounting and corporate
governance. (Note: The Company has engaged Tricor as external service
provider and appointed Ms. Kwok as the Company’s company secretary since
28 October 2024.)
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in (a) manufacturing and sales of a range of products including skin
care, beauty, aroma-therapeutic products, health supplements and make-
up products under the “Natural Beauty” brand and beauty apparatus and (b)
provision of skin treatments, beauty and spa services, medical cosmetology
services, skin care consulting and beauty training. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Please refer to the section headed “Management discussion and analysis” for
the discussion of business review of the Group’s businesses for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Management of Major Risks

Since the Group operates in a highly dynamic and competitive landscape,
continuous and effective risk management is vital for sustainable business
operation. Some major risks currently being managed are:

Product Competitiveness

Facing increasingly fierce competition in the industry, it is particularly important
to maintain brand and product competitiveness. The Group will continue to
invest, actively develop new product lines and promote the diversification of
the customer base in order to pursue greater development.

Inventory management
Inventory management and control plays a significant role in the Company’s
liquidity since bloated inventories will tie up unnecessary funds.

Online Threats

Online business is the current hot spot in the market. Since 2019, the Group
introduced Korean brands to open its self-owned online business in the
mainland. In the future, in the face of fierce competition in the online business,
the Group will continue to interact with customers through a diversified
channel strategy and provide services to customers of different consumption
and age levels.
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Directors’ Report
EEIWESE

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Donations for charity

The Group made donations for charity to a total amount of HK$3,966,816 in
year 2024.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

As far as the Board of Directors and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no material breach of, or non-
compliance, with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Relationship with employees

Competitive remuneration packages are maintained to attract, retain and
motivate capable staff members and are reviewed on a regular basis. The Group
maintains good relations with its employees and is committed to their training
and development. Professional training courses are offered to beauticians
employed by the Group and to franchisees on a regular basis.

Relationship with suppliers, customers and other stakeholders
The Group understands the importance of maintaining good relationships
with its suppliers and customers to meet its immediate and long-term goals.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no material and
significant disputes between the Group and its suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment and
communities in which it operates. Acting in an environmentally responsible
manner, the Group endeavors to comply with the applicable environmental
laws and regulations and to adopt effective measures to ensure the efficient
usage of resources, energy conservation and waste reduction. Such initiatives
include the recycling of used papers, the adoption of energy saving measures.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had not been subject to
any fines or other penalties due to any non-compliance with health, safety or
environmental regulations.

For details of the Company’s environment policy and performance,
please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
of the Company for the year 2024, which will be published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company

(www.ir-cloud.com/hongkong/00157/irwebsite) under the section of

“"Announcements” in due course.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 102.

No interim dividend (2023: Nil) was paid to the shareholders during the year. At
the Board meeting held on 24 February 2025, the Directors did not recommend
the payment of any final dividend (2023: Nil). Details of the dividends are set out
in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, about 7.1% and 11.8% of the Group's revenue from sales
of goods or rendering of services were attributable to the Group's largest
customer and the 5 largest customers combined.

During the year, about 14.7% of the Group’s total purchases (instrument) was
attributable to the Group's largest supplier, and about 31.1% of the Group's
total purchases was attributable to the Group's 5 largest suppliers combined. To
the best knowledge of the Directors after making all reasonable enquiries, no
Director, close associate of each Director, or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the number
of issued shares of the Company) has any interest in the suppliers and/or
customers mentioned above.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2024 were fair valued
by an independent firm of professional property valuers. The fair value loss on
investment properties amounting to HK$19,727,000 has been recognized in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Details of movements during the year in the investment properties of the
Group are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and for the previous four financial years are set
out on page 8 of this Annual Report.
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Directors’ Report
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the publishing date of
this report were:

Executive Directors:

Dr. LEI Chien (alias Joanna LEI)
Mr. LIN Chia-Wei

Ms. LIN Yen-Ling

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. LIN Shu-Hua
Mr. CHEN Shou-Huang

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long (alias Steve CHEN)

Mr. YANG Shih-Chien

Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang (alias William LIN)

In accordance with Article 100 of the Company’s Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the
first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting.

In addition, in accordance with Article 117 of the Company’s Articles, one-
third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then a number not less than one-third, shall retire from office
by rotation at each annual general meeting. Mr. LIN Chia-Wei, Ms. LIN Shu-Hua,
and Mr. CHEN Shou-Huang shall retire by rotation pursuant this article.

All the above-mentioned Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange. The Company considers all the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

Directors are required to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in any
proposals or transactions to be considered by the Board at Board meetings and
withdraw if appropriate.
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CHAIRPERSON AND BOARD COMMITTEES

The Chairperson of the Board and the members of each of the committees of
the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Chairperson
Dr. LEI Chien (Chairperson of the Board)

Members of Audit Committee:
Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long (Chairman)

Ms. LIN Shu-Hua

Mr. YANG Shih-Chien

Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang

Members of Remuneration Committee:

Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang (Chairman)
Dr. LEI Chien

Mr. LIN Chia-Wei

Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long

Mr. YANG Shih-Chien

Members of Executive Committee:
Dr. LEI Chien (Chairperson)

Mr. LIN Chia-Wei

Ms. LIN Yen-Ling

Ms. LIN Shu-Hua

Mr. CHEN Shou-Huang

Members of Nomination Committee:
Mr. YANG Shih-Chien (Chairman)

Dr. LEI Chien

Mr. LIN Chia-Wei

Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long

Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang
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CHAIRPERSON AND BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
The compositions of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Executive Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company as well
as the Chairperson of the Company as of date of this report are set out below:

FEREEZES W)
TESFIBEARSETIEAE  AAFER
EZE®  FMEEE  HITEBERIERES
&M ABARAAT L

Board Committees

EEZEE
Audit Remuneration Executive Nomination

Committee Committee Committee Committee
Board of Directors EZeNE ERZEE FMzEe BiTEEE REZEE
Executive Directors BITES
Dr. LEI Chien (Chairperson of the Board) EEBLEFELE) - M C M
Mr. LIN Chia-Wei MRELE - M M M
Ms. LIN Yen-Ling MR L+ - - M -
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. LIN Shu-Hua WREL T M - M -
Mr. CHEN Shou-Huang BRFIE & - - M -
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTEE
Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long PRIGME £ & C M - M
Mr. YANG Shih-Chien HERE L M M - C
Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang MEFEE M C - M
Notes: B5E -
@ Chairman/Chairperson of the relevant Board committees C FHREZZEENEF
M Member of the relevant Board committees M EHEFEZEENKE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company,
the Company's reserves available for distribution to shareholders were
approximately HK$13,058,000 which represents the share premium and
retained profits of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors has entered into a
Director's service contract with the Company for an initial term of one year from
1 January 2025, which may be terminated by either party giving to the other
party at least one month’s notice in writing.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued) EERBEN@®

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of & BN IFAITEEC HAQRFI L EEK - B
appointment with the Company for an initial term of one year from 1 January ZZE-_RAF—A—HARBRYIFAH—F - JHE '
2025, which may be terminated by either party giving to the other party at least Al — @& @A HEEE L — @R 2 EmBMN

one month notice’s in writing. T LARKIE ©

Save as disclosed above, no Director has any unexpired service contract or letter B E X BEEHIN - NEBWEBE R T
of appointment which is not terminable by the Group within one year without A A —F R R @ E (— AT HERIN T
payment of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations. LABR IE 2 KRB MRS S K9k EF K -

Management contracts EEEESN
No contracts concerning the management and/or administration of the whole R ZZEZPF[E - AR AIMET L R EIE
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or N/ SHITA R B EBEH 2 LR TR EE L H

existed during the year 2024. WER - MEBEEHNFE -
Remuneration of Directors, chief executives and EE  FETHAEBREHREEBEAEN
senior management i

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and chief executives on a named BB RTETHABUZIFEA LS HREEA '
basis and the senior management by band, are set out in notes 15 and 16 to 21X # BNE B 81D M EENEEIE D BSR4 8

the consolidated financial statements respectively. T MIFE15 K16 °
Permitted indemnity BEFHNREE

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles, every Director shall be indemnified out  BIEARRABMAINIETE KA GREEES .
of the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and LA A R EBREEEPHENE FHNITHE
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in the execution of his/her office or ~ #8k B2tk 5 B R E Atb )5 T Al BE 52 L sk BB Fr
otherwise in relation thereto. BB X BAREME-

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs associated 2N A2 g AL B~ B = 0] REE ST F aA 5
with defending any proceedings which may be brought against directors of the ~ ERFELMEEMBENERESERR -
Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTSIN EEZERIETHAEREZRG

SHARES e le
As at 31 December 2024, so far as known to any Directors, none of the Directors R ZZE_PUF+ A =+—H  ®EMEEM
or chief executives of the Company or any of their close associates had or Al * BIEEEX AN QR FZTHA B R EEE
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying A2 ZHE AR A QRS ERELE(EER
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within &% K BB E & HI B XVER) BB fn ~ AERE AR 1D Bk
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the ~ E5H - AR IKELAHERIEZLELIER
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV IEEXVEFE 787 SAMEG AR B R ATH
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or AR (BRERIBEEZEHF LB EEHINERE
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to 1N R EWEESE BEANERS A R) -
be recorded in the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 Sk ZBE R MR B & 5 N HR & &I 58 35216 A A f

of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to section 347 of the SFOand the ~ AIB T BB LM EmsoAR « sigE | ©
Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange. SRS RIIEMTREELEFIENERD @ |
AR AR - oo
CTomEER HAZEWNEERAT ., 63
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SHARE OPTIONS

The Company

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

On 13 May 2011, the Company adopted a share option scheme the (“Share
Option Scheme”) whereby the Board can grant options for the subscription
of the Company’s shares to any full-time employee of the Group, the chief
executive, executive or non-executive director of the Group at the time when
a share option is granted to such person as determined by the Board at as a
performance incentive and/or reward for their continued and improved service
with the Group and by enhancing eligible participants’ contribution to the
Group, in order to advance the interests of the Company and its shareholders
and such other persons. The Share Option Scheme expired on 12 May 2021.

As of the date of this annual report, the Share Option Scheme has lapsed.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share option was granted,
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme was nil.

SHARE AWARDS

The Company
Particulars of the Company’s share awards schemes are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

On 25 May 2022 (the "Adoption Date”), the Company adopted two share
award schemes, namely Scheme | and Scheme Il (together, the “Share Award
Schemes”). The purpose and objective of Scheme | are: (i) to recognise the
contributions by certain eligible participants who are connected person(s)
of the Company and to closely align executive interests with the growth and
financial achievements of the Group; and (i) to provide a performance-driven
long-term incentive award to motivate and retain key senior management.
The eligible participants of Scheme | include (i) any directors and employees of
the Group; (i) any directors and employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company; (iii) any person who
provide services to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary
and usual course of business which are material to the long-term growth of the
Group as determined by the Remuneration Committee; and/or (iv) such other
persons permitted by the Listing Rules to be participants of the Scheme I, who
is also a connected person of the Company.
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SHARE AWARDS (Continued)

The Company (Continued)

The purpose and objective of Scheme Il are: (i) to recognise the contributions by
certain eligible participants who are not connected person(s) of the Company
and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group; and (ii) to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group. The eligible participants of Scheme I
include (i) any employees of the Group; (i) any directors and employees of
the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the
Company; (iii) any person who provide services to the Group on a continuing
or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which are material
to the long-term growth of the Group as determined by the Remuneration
Committee; and/or (iv) such other persons permitted by the Listing Rules to
be participants of the Scheme II, excluding chief executive officers, directors
or employees of any member of the Group who are connected persons of the
Company.

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Schemes, the Board shall not
make any further award of awarded shares by allotment and issuance of new
Shares which will result in (i) the aggregate number of the Shares awarded
by the Board under the Share Award Schemes and the Share Option Scheme
exceeding ten per cent (10%) of the relevant class of shares of the Company
from time to time; and (i) the aggregate number of new Shares awarded by
the Board under the scheme exceeding three per cent (3%) of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, a maximum number of 60,006,027
shares of the Company were available for grant pursuant to the terms of the
share award schemes.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share award was granted under
the Share Award Schemes. No further new shares may be granted under
Scheme | and Scheme Il as the transitional arrangement for share schemes
that were adopted before the effective date (being 1 January 2023) of the
Consultation Conclusion - Proposed Amendments to Listing Rules relating
to Share Schemes of Listed Issuers and Housekeeping Rule Amendment, has
lapsed. The Company shall inform the Shareholders of its intention to adopt a
share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, as and when appropriate.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme and share award schemes disclosed above,
at no time during the year was the Company, its holding companies, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the listed securities of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, within the knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons or corporations had or deemed or taken to have an interest or a
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were
required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the Company

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

FTERR®
RAEAQXTROREERGD 2HFR

RRAFEFREEI0BTZERR

Approximate

percentage of
Number of the issued
ordinary shares  share capital of
Name of substantial shareholder Notes Nature of interest beneficially held the Company
BERE (GELEE®T
TERRHE BB Mzt REME EBEREE RESHOBEIL
Eastern Media International Corporation 1 Interest of controlled companies 600,630,280(L) 30.00%
("EMIC")
RARBERBRDARA A REH R EER
(TRFREIRR )
Far Eastern Silo & Shipping (Panama) S.A. 1 Beneficial owner 600,630,280(L) 30.00%
("FESS")
EREFMEEZD)RHABERAA BEREAA
(ERERMED
CHAO Shih-Heng 2 Interest of controlled companies 455,630,196(L) 22.76%
izl SR NGIEY £
Good Titanic Limited 2 Interest of controlled companies 455,630,196(L) 22.76%
SR VNCIL £
Insbro Holdings Limited 2 Beneficial owner 455,630,196(L) 22.76%
RIS AR AR BEREAA
TSAI Yen-Yu 3 Interest of controlled companies 445,315,083(L) 22.24%
EEE REH A E R
LEE Ming-Ta 4 Interest of spouse 445,315,083(L) 22.24%
= AR AB 2
Next Focus Holdings Limited 5  Beneficial owner/Interest of 445,315,083(L) 22.24%
controlled companies
ERBEEAN /RIS
Starsign International Limited 5 Interest of controlled companies 292,958,524(L) 14.63%
SR AL NGIEY £
Standard Cosmos Limited 5  Beneficial Owner/Interest of 292,958,524(L) 14.63%
controlled companies :
BEnlEA AN TGN AER
[(B) :Long position L) e
|
—ToNEFE BAREYREEROATF

F4
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)
Long position in shares and underlying shares of the Company
(Continued)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (Continued)
Notes:

m

Far Eastern Silo & Shipping (Panama) S.A. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of EMIC. As
such, the shares of the Company in which Far Eastern Silo & Shipping (Panama) S.A.
is interested were attributable to EMIC.

Insbro Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Good Titanic Limited, which is in
turn owned as to 100% by Mr. CHAO Shih-Heng. Mr. CHAO Shih-Heng is the sole
director of each of Insbro Holdings Limited and Good Titanic Limited. As such,
the shares of the Company in which Insbro Holdings Limited is interested were
attributable to Good Titanic Limited and Mr. CHAO Shih-Heng.

Dr. TSAI Yen-Yu directly owns 40% of Next Focus Holdings Limited. Next Focus
Holdings Limited is therefore a controlled corporation of Dr. TSAl Yen-Yu and
interest of 445,315,083 shares of the Company owned by Next Focus Holdings
Limited was attributable to Dr. TSAI Yen-Yu.

Mr. LEE Ming-Ta is the spouse of Dr. TSAl Yen-Yu and accordingly, is deemed to be
interested in the 445,315,083 shares of the Company attributable to Dr. TSAI Yen-
Yu pursuant to the SFO.

Next Focus Holdings Limited directly holds 152,356,559 shares of the Company
and directly owns 100% of Starsign International Limited. Starsign International
Limited is the sole shareholder of Standard Cosmos Limited, which, in turn, is
the sole shareholder of Efficient Market Investments Limited, Adventa Group
Limited and Fortune Bright Group Limited. As such, the 290,618,524 shares of
the Company collectively held by Efficient Market Investments Limited, Adventa
Group Limited and Fortune Bright Group Limited and 2,340,000 shares of the
Company held directly by Standard Cosmos Limited (totalling 292,958,524 shares
of the Company) were attributable to Standard Cosmos Limited and Starsign
International Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors are not aware of
any other person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Group had the following continuing connected transactions with

connected persons:

1. ET New Media Cooperation Agreement 1.
On 12 May 2023, Natural Beauty Bio-Technology Company Limited (B
REEMEHERRD B R AF]) (‘Taiwan NB”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a cooperation agreement (the
“ET New Media Cooperation Agreement”) with ET New Media Holding
Limited Company (R AR #7 88 22 AR AR 19 /8 PR 2 B]) (‘ET New Media").

The major terms of the ET New Media Cooperation Agreement are

summarised as follows:

Subject matter

EEEHE

Pricing

EfE
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REXZREERERGHNZ
e

AEBEDEBEATETTIBERERS

RAFERSENR
RZZE-ZFRAA+T-H BAREED
BERNDBRAB(KAR zEE2EN
BAR [BEBAE]) BRFHEEE
O ARAB([RANERB DT LA
e (RARFTIEEAS1ERED -

RHF R A (R T B R
T

Taiwan NB agreed to engage ET New Media to produce, publish and broadcast
advertisements and to organise media events, with a view to enhance the image of the
“Natural Beauty” brand and to raise public awareness on the brand (the “Advertising
Service”).

In accordance with the framework as agreed under the ET New Media Cooperation
Agreement, Taiwan NB may from time to time instruct ET New Media to carry out
advertising projects. The parties shall separately agree on the timing, manner and fees of
each specific advertising project at the appropriate time.
REEBAXRABZRERFNREBEUE HHLERRSERERLTY  BHERT
[BAEIMETER KGN mIEN A RMEE (EERBE]D

REXRFRNREAFHRHTIER e BEAXATHERRRNREARESHA
B - AT HER D RIBES BN ERERE 2HHE - TARER -

For each advertising project, ET New Media shall offer at least 50% discount to the list
price of such advertising project (being prices ET New Media offer to its clients which are
Independent Third Parties) to be specified on the supplementary contracts to be entered
between the parties regarding each advertising project.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ FEXZREEREREGNZ
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ fE 2% ()
1. ET New Media Cooperation Agreement (Continued) 1. REAFEBSEHRE
Annual cap Pursuant to the ET New Media Cooperation Agreement, the annual cap in respect of the
fees payable by Taiwan NB to ET New Media shall be as follows:
FELR BERRTEEBEERE  aEaARAERENRRNERERACFELRAT
NT$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,548,772) from 1 September 2023
to 31 December 2023;
fo_ihH HEZZ-_=F+Z"A=+—H  #5%10,000,0007T(HE
492,548,772 L)
NT$20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,097,544) from 1 January 2024 to
1 December 2024;
—ECNF-A-REZTAF+A=1+—H ' #&5%20,000,0007T (HHE
FA#5,097,54478 TT)
NT$35,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,920,702) from 1 January 2025 to
1 December 2025; and
—T-_RF¥—HF—H Z_ TZ_RF+ZRA=+—H  $&%350000007T(HHE
FA#78,920,702%8 7T)
NT$50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$12,743,860) from 1 January 2026 to
31 August 2026.
TECRF-A—HBEZZ-R"ENA=+—H ' #HE%50,0000007THER
#112,743,8607%8 7T) °
Term From 1 September 2023 to 31 August 2026.
HAPR BE-E - =FNA—HBRE-_ZE-_"FNA=+—H8H-
ET New Media is a company incorporated in Taiwan with limited liability. BHAYEEAENEeEFMA I ZABER
It is principally engaged in operation of internet news outlet, sale of Al - HEBRFELOHMEHEIEE -
advertising, and audio-video production. It is the first news, media and EEHEREEZTHELGE HAERE
communication networks in Taiwan. B AL B A -
As of the Latest Practicable Date, ET New Media is a direct non-wholly BEREERATHY  ZHRIERA
owned subsidiary of EMIC. Since EMIC is the 100% shareholder of FESS RHRBEBR2EEZEIFZ2ENBRAR - R
and FESS is a controlling shareholder of the Company, ET New Media RARBERABEREFEMEZ100%/E -
is a connected person of the Company for the purposes of the Listing MERERMESERRGIERRKE - 1R
Rules and the transactions contemplated under the ET New Media BEEMRA - RRNMEEEERRR 2
Cooperation Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of BEAT BRZHEESER: IET%E
the Company. TR GERARNRRZHERE

5 o




Directors’ Report

EEEREE |
|
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ AEXZREERERGHNZ
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) & £ (4)
2. Eastern Home Consignment Agreement 2. RAGBIEBRHEHZR '
On 12 May 2023, Taiwan NB entered into a consignment agreement RZZE_=FAA+=H AE8AX '
(the “Eastern Home Consignment Agreement”) in respect of (a) product HREREHIBERNBERAF(RREFTS
consignment, (b) cost sharing in relation to the sales of products and (c) BR@QERKE  OERBEEKED
trademark licensing with Eastern Home Shopping & Leisure Co,, Ltd. (3R BROBEFAT LA ERGZE(REFS
15 2 BN AR 2 7)) (‘Eastern Home”). SEREmRED
The major terms of the Eastern Home Consignment Agreement are RREZEREHZ F 2R M
summarised as follows: I
Subject matter a. EHProducts Consignment
TEEHE a. RABESBERAH

Taiwan NB shall engage Eastern Home to sell cosmetic and skin care products
manufactured, distributed or sold by Taiwan NB (the “EH Target Products”) which
are selected by Eastern Home as target products (the “EH Products Consignment”).
BEBAXZRERRGIBHECEEATMEE  DHAHE LM NES [
Enm((RASZBERER])  MRRGHIBEEZFEMERBFREM(RK
SHBEMNKHED -

Taiwan NB shall authorise Eastern Home to sell the EH Target Products to end
customers and to use related promotional materials for such purpose.
AEEAERERREIBRAKHKETFHERRSTIBEREMMIMZAE OE
MBS EME

Eastern Home shall be responsible for marketing and selling the EH Target Products
to end customers through its own distribution channels or third party distribution
channels.

ARG IBEEEREARGDHRERAE =T DHEBMRREPHHEIIHEE
RRGHBERERD °

b. EH Cost Sharing .

b. RHRBIBHEDH 9
Taiwan NB shall be fully responsible for the costs in relation to the sale of EH |
Products Consignment to end customers, including the costs associated with @ |
marketing, transportation and programme production (“EH Cost Sharing”).

BEAAXATBAREARGEFHERRSIBERNHEABARA - ’FE%

B B RE A EERBNAAR(RRESERADTE]) - A
@
e |
—TomEss  aRgewngeRas | 71
— — = - - - - - - ———— " - —— - - S — - Q'_ - ‘_'?
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Directors’ Report

EEEREE
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ FEXZRESREAGNZ
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ FE 2 (4%)
2. Eastern Home Consignment Agreement (Continued) 2. RHRABEBRHEHRGE
c. EH Trademark Licensing
¢« RHABHBHEHFT
Eastern Home shall pay Taiwan NB a royalty for licence to use the trademarks of
“Natural Beauty” (the “EH Royalty”).
RRBHBAREFATEABERAEZIARENEEREIMNERE(RRES
BERE]D -
Pricing a. EHProducts Consignment
EE a. RHABHBERNH

The price of the EH Target Products sold by Taiwan NB to Eastern Home shall be
at 50% to 90% discount to their retail price, or 20% to 60% discount to their gross
profit margin if the EH Target Products are original equipment manufacturing
("OEM") or original design manufacturing ("ODM”") products.
AEEAXMRREGIBMERRFIBEEER I EBRARTEBBNE
90% 2 HrHl - HMRARGHE B IREMARIEZBERIE((OEM) SR I8 R T RS
(foDMDER » RIBEMZE20%E60% .2 HTH

b. EH Cost Sharing

b. RHREBZBEETH
Taiwan NB shall pay a sale commission at 2% of the internet sale proceeds
during the month to Eastern Home. Taiwan NB shall additionally pay a marketing
sponsorship fee at 3% of the relevant sale proceeds to Eastern Home for such EH
Target Products sold during the month.
BEBEREHRE AEBMBHERMFHIAEZ2%ARRKEIBXNHERE - &
EBEAERREALENZERASTIBERERRBHEHEMSRIAZ3%M
ARG IDBEIINSEHEDE -

EH Trademark Licensing

RAREBZBHEFT

Eastern Home shall pay Taiwan NB a EH Royalty fee at 5% of the selling price (before
tax; and after deduction of any discount) from the sale of mutually agreed products.
RASIBALEEARBEEREERHA 0 REHBREMTH) 25%R &
EERAEXNRREIBERE -
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Directors’ Report

EEEWRESE
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ FEXZREEREREGNZ
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ RE# (1)
2. Eastern Home Consignment Agreement (Continued) 2. RHRABEBRHEHRGE
Annual cap Pursuant to the Eastern Home Consignment Agreement, the annual cap in relation to

FELR

EH Products Consignment, EH Cost Sharing by Taiwan NB and the aggregate EH Royalty
payable by Eastern Home shall be as follows:

RERZGHBRERE  RREHIBERNRE  SEAAZENRRESIBUES
BREARSIHIBRNERRSIBERBZFELRNAT

a. EHProducts Consignment

a. RRGBEBEMNRH
NT$50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$12,743,860) from 1
September 2023 to 31 December 2023;
TEC=FNA-BEZT-=F+-A=1+—H " #H%50,0000007T
(FHE PR #12,743,86078 7T)

NT$200,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$50,975,440) from 1 January
2024 to 31 December2024'
CECNF-A-REZZMF+ZA=+—H - #&5%200,000,0007T
(*Ez;?ﬁ’\\\,%’\]5o,975,44o/%7t) ;

NT$300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$76,463,160) from 1 January
2025 to 31 December 2025; and

—E_hF—-H—H E\E_g_ﬂiwL:ﬂ =+—H - #&#¥300,000,0007T
(FE R #76,463,16078 7T)

NT$500,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$127,438,600) from 1 January
2026 to 31 August 2026.

TEZRF-A—HEZZZARFN\A=1T—H ' $a%500,000,0007T
(FEE 7 49127,438,6005 7T)

SECNEFR BAREYNEERAA

.’




Directors’ Report

EEEREE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ FEXZREEREREGNZ
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) & 2 (48)

2. Eastern Home Consignment Agreement (Continued) 2. RHRABEBRHEHRGE

b. EH Cost Sharing

b. RHABIBRADE
NT$2,800,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$713,656) from 1 September
2023 to 31 December 2023;
TEC=FAR-BEZE-_=F+-A=+—8 " #H%2800,0007T
(FHERHKI713,656/87T)

NT$12,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HKS$3,058,526) from 1 January
2024 to 31 December 2024;
“ECNF-A-BEZZEWF+A=+—H " $5¥%12,000,0007T
(FBE PR #J3,058,526/87T)

NT$17,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HKS$4,332,912) from 1 January
2025 to 31 December 2025; and
—ECRNF-A-HBEZZE_AF+HA=+—0 #H&¥17,0000007T
(FRERH4,33291287T) : &

NT$28,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HKS$7,136,561) from 1 January
2026 to 31 August 2026.
TECRF-A-HBEZZZXRENA=+—B - ¥&%28,000,0007T (18
E 497,136,561 7T) °

c. EH Royalty

¢« RHABZBEAE
NT$2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$509,754) from 1 September
2023 to 31 December 2023;
“EC=FNARA-HEZZT_=F+ZA=+—8H  $H%2,0000007T
(FB& M #1509,754%87T)

NT$5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HKS$1,274,386) from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2024;

“ECWF-A-HE_Z_WFT_A=1+—8 " $5%5,000,0007T
(HEE 7 491,274,386787T)

Natural Beauty Bio-Technology Limited  Annual Report 2024




Directors’ Report
EEEWRESE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ BEIFIREENREREGNZ

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ fE2% (%)

2. Eastern Home Consignment Agreement (Continued) 2. RAGSIBREHRG
NT$5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HKS$1,274,386) from 1 January 2025
to 31 December 2025; and
—E_RF-R-BEZZ-AFTZA=+—8  #&%5,0000007T
(FBE M 491,274,386 7T) + K&

NT$5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,274,386) from 1 January 2026 |
to 31 August 2026. |
ZEZRF-A—HEZZEZR"FNA=+—8 ' #&¥s5,000,0007T (H
EHNK1,274,386/87T) ©

Term From 1 September 2023 to 31 August 2026.
HARR BE-Z-_=FhA—BRBRE-ZZTE-_"FNA=+—H-

Eastern Home is a company incorporated in Taiwan with limited liability.
It is principally engaged in distribution of goods through TV shopping
and e-commerce in Taiwan. It is the first TV shopping company in Taiwan.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, Eastern Home was accounted for
and consolidated in the audited consolidated accounts of EMIC as a
subsidiary thereof since EMIC could during the relevant time, directly or
indirectly, control the composition of a majority of the board of directors
of Eastern Home. Since 1 January 2019, EMIC can no longer directly or
indirectly control the composition of a majority of the board of directors
of Eastern Home, and since then Eastern Home has not been and will not
be accounted for and consolidated in the audited consolidated accounts
of EMIC as a subsidiary.

REBHBANBEEMAIZARA
Al HXBEAERBYRETRHAE
RENEEMOH EAREEHER
2/ /NCII

BERKRERATTEY  RREHBIE
SRRERZH B R RRIARER 2 &
ERGEARBEANAHAR  TTARRZR
BIER P AE B HAR 0 R B R S R AR IR
HREFBEFEAZEKENAK - B
“E-NEF-A—BR RHREETE
BERSIHEEENRRGIBESTERS
BB - AL - ARG ZEM
BEABTBERSNMBRRNRZKRER 2
REZZERBEANEGHARK

—TOMFEFH  BRXEVPRERAT
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Directors’ Report
EEIWESE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued)
2.

Eastern Home Consignment Agreement (Continued)

However, given that (a) EMIC is holding, directly or indirectly, altogether
approximately 25.87% of the shareholding in Eastern Home, (b) one
member of the board of directors of Eastern Home, namely Mr. Liao
Shang-Wen, is also the chairperson of EMIC, (c) FESS is a controlling
shareholder of the Company, and EMIC is the 100% shareholder of FESS,
(d) the vice president of Eastern Home, namely Mr. Chao Shih Heng, is the
sole ultimate beneficial owner of Insbro which is holding 22.76% of the
issued Shares, (€) one member of the board of directors of Eastern Home,
namely Dr. Lei Chien, is also the chairperson and an executive Director
of the Company, (f) the finance vice president of Eastern Home, namely
Ms. Lin Shu-Hua, is also a non-executive Director of the Company; and (g)
the Eastern Home Consignment Agreement, the Eastern Home Franchise
Agreement and the Eastern Home Procurement Agreement (for further
details, please refer to items 3 and 7 of this section) have been entered
into on the same date as the other transactions disclosed in this section,
the Directors consider that it is appropriate to voluntarily treat Eastern
Home as a connected person of the Company and to comply with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules accordingly. As such, the transactions
contemplated under the Eastern Home Consignment Agreement shall
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company.

BAEXZIREENREAEGHNZ
RS (8

2,

RASZBREDRRGE

R ARQEREBREEZXEESAE
HARBHEA LY 2587%MHE  (b)HEH
BB —2ESFENE (BERMXE
E)NMBRREBRZER  QBERERMN
BAARBZERERE  REZREEA
HEERERFEMEI00%E 2 IRE © (d)
HAGSHEEEERAIEHZLE)
BRIEZE—BRIREZHEA  MRE
BFE276% 2 BEITRMD  RHKRES
Br— e EAIEEBLINA
KRB ERBRITES  NERED
BBl R AIMREZL)MAR
NAIZEHITES  RORRFHER
i RRESIEMERENERS
SERBHE(BREE—FE  F2H
RENEEIR7IA) B AT EFT IR < B
RBREBEGIY  BEERAERHRES
BEBEAALQRCHEALTBEE
BZEMEEST EMRBISE14AE o Bt -
HASZBERERRBE T RETZIRS
ERRARNB 2 FHERER S -



Directors’ Report

EEEREE
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ REXZREERERGHNZ |
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ fE 2% (%) |
3. Eastern Home Franchise Agreement 3. RHABIBEMEGR !
On 12 May 2023, Taiwan NB entered into a franchise agreement (the RZE_=FhA+=H /&A% l
“Eastern Home Franchise Agreement”) with Eastern Home. HRRGIBITINBERE((RRES [
BEAwED o .

The major terms of the Eastern Home Franchise Agreement are KRG HEMB IR T EEFTB
summarised as follows: ™ '
Subject matter Taiwan NB shall grant Eastern Home a non-exclusive licence to use certain trademarks in I

respect of certain skin care products and provide Eastern Home with consultancy services :
in connection with Eastern Home's operation and management of spa business under the |
brand name “Natural Beauty".

Eastern Home may from time to time make wholesale purchase of Taiwan NB products,
and Taiwan NB shall sell such products to Eastern Home at certain discount to relevant
retail price for on-sale by Eastern Home.

FEBHE REBREARTRAGIBE EIIEBRIAAIE  UtETEERERETHESR I
HERRGHELE RERAAEIREE T KREBMRRE S BREEARE - |

RAGHBEAIINSHEREGEERXER R BARTHREBTEE 2 —EFMN
ARKREZIBHEXFTER  WHARKRSEIBETEE -

Pricing The price of the target products sold by Taiwan NB to Eastern Home shall be at 50% to
80% discount to their retail price, or 80% to 90% discount to their retail price if it is test
products, salon-only products or near expiry products.

EE AEBAERNRREHIBHEBERERBRARETEBS0%E80% 2 HTH - il ’
RRFER PREEREMIEOIHZER  MEBRARETEES%EN% L |
0 - f

Annual cap Pursuant to the Eastern Home Franchise Agreement, the annual cap in respect of the fees |
payable by Eastern Home to Taiwan NB shall be as follows: I

FELR BRERRGHBNBRE  RREIBENAEAAXERZFE LRAT : |0

NT$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,548,772) from 1 September 2023
to 31 December 2023; =
TEC=HFAA-RE-T-=F+-"A=+—08 ' $4E%10,000,0007T HHE
WA#92,548,7728 )

F4

@%

SEoNFFH  AREEWNEERAR -, 17
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Directors’ Report

EEEREE
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ FEXZREEREREGNZ
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued)  TE2 (1)
3. Eastern Home Franchise Agreement (Continued) 3. RABIBEMEBGRGE
. NT$50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$12,743,860) from 1 January 2024 to
1 December 2024;
—EME-A-HEZT-_WNF+-A=+—H ' $A%50,000,0007T(HE
FR#912,743,8607 7T)
NT$80,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$20,390,176) from 1 January 2025 to
31 December 2025; and
—T-RF—A— EII_ T-_RAFF+ZA=+—8 " #&%80,000,0007T (HHE
2 4920,390,1767& 7T)
NT$100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$25,487,720) from 1 January 2026
to 31 August 2026.
TECRF-A-BEZZERFNAA=+—8  #E%100,0000007T (HHER
#925,487,720%7T) °
Term From 1 September 2023 to 31 August 2026.
%m Q—v—_iﬂﬂ Hti_;_ﬂiﬂﬂi+—50
As disclosed in item 2 above, the Directors consider that it is appropriate PN ENEDEMEE EERAEEK
to voluntarily treat Eastern Home as a connected person of the Company 5 % gg BRERARNAG 2BEANTEE
and to comply with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules accordingly. As B/ZAMREEST ETRRE14AE - B
such, the transactions contemplated under the Eastern Home Franchise Et % RS SBEMERZBE T HETZ
Agreement shall constitute continuing connected transactions of the RDEERANRNT 2 FEBRAER S ©
Company.
4. Eastern Global Sale Agreement 4. RHRDMEEHR
On 12 May 2023, Taiwan NB entered into a sale agreement (the “Eastern RZEZ=FRA+T=ZH aEZBEA
Global Sale Agreement”) with Eastern Global Business Co., Ltd. (BRZx 2 FHEAREKEEROEBR AR (ERERK
REERMHB AR AR (‘Eastern Global”), formerly known as Eastern %ITJ AR ARRNETHBEBRDAER
Tenmax Direct Co, Ltd. GRARARFEH E R (D BR A A)). NaEl) R E W E (KRR IRIEE W

&) e
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’

Directors’ Report

EEEHRES

REXZREERERGHNZ

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ RE#S (1)

4. Eastern Global Sale Agreement (Continued) 4. REEMHEEHRE)
The major terms of the Eastern Global Sale Agreement are summarised ERDEMEEWE Y F E S0
as follows: T

Subject matter

FEEHE

Pricing

[—]

EE

Annual cap

FELR

Term

HR

A sales and procurement framework had been established between Taiwan NB and
Eastern Global, whereby Taiwan NB may from time to time sell and Eastern Global may
from time to time make wholesale purchase of Taiwan NB products such as health
supplements, skin care products and cosmetic products.
AEEREERREHERIHE LRBER - Bl - /EEAEAIRKHE - MR
RERATRHHERBSEAAEZER(PINRER - #E @ MEizm)

(1) At 50% to 80% discount to the relevant retail price; and (2) at 20% to 60% discount to
the gross profit margin if it is OEM products and ODM products.

DB ZEEHITHIS0%ZE80% : & (2) M AOEME & RODME M@ + BIEREF EH
20%Z260% °©

Pursuant to the Eastern Global Sale Agreement, the annual cap in respect of the fees
payable by Eastern Global to Taiwan NB shall be as follows:
RERREFHEDZ  RRAEHENEZEAEZZERNFELRNOT

NT$20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,097,544) from 1 September 2023
to 31 December 2023'

—E_=HFNA-HEZZ_=F+ZA=+—H " $A%20,000,0007T(HE
FA#5,097,54478 73)

NT$80,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$20,390,176) from 1 January 2024 to
31 December 2024;

—E_NFE-A—RET-_MEF+ZRA=+—8H ' #A%80,000,0007T (HE
7 4920,390,1767& 7T)

NT$150,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$38,231,580) from 1 January 2025
to 31 December 2025; and

—ERF-A— Eli_7_£¢+ A=+—8 " $4%150,000,0007t (HE
724938,231,580 7T)

NT$200,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$50,975,440) from 1 January 2026
to 31 August 2026.

—E-AF-A—HAEZZE-AFNA=+—8 - aﬁﬁ‘\ﬁgzoooooooomm”‘ﬁﬂ;

#950,975,4407%87T) °
From 1 September 2023 to 31 August 2026.
B-Z_=FNA—BBRE_Z-_R"FAA=+—H-

[
CECMEER  AREEWRBEERAT

F4

%

|
|
|
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Directors’ Report
EEERESE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS'’

REXZREERERGHNZ

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ fE 2% (%)

4. Eastern Global Sale Agreement (Continued) 4. REEMHEEHRE)
Eastern Global is a company incorporated in Taiwan with limited liability. RRERARSEFIMKLZBRA
Itis principally engaged in wholesale and retailing of various goods. Ale HXrZREFZEMRMIHBERT

==

As of the Latest Practicable Date, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, HERBRERUTEE  BES1EH—
information and belief having made all reasonable enquiry, each of TEEERERA  HELEE TR
Eastern Global and its ultimate beneficial owners is an Independent Third EPHRAEGREGHBRBAYRELE
Party. However, given that (a) one member of the board of directors ZH A BRQEREIZESTE
and the vice-president of Eastern Global, namely Mr. Chao Shih Heng, KEZRREER(ENBHE=ZLE) BRE
is the sole ultimate beneficial owner of Insbro which is holding 22.76% R ERHREBA MREESH
of the issued Shares, and (b) the Eastern Global Sale Agreement and the 22.76%2 B BT ¢ R (o) RAHRE IR
Eastern Global Procurement Agreement (for further details, please refer ERFENERETRBRZCE—FH15
to item 8 of this section) have been entered into on the same date as BAHAEESIR) D EAEFTHE A
the other transactions disclosed in this section, the Directors consider WX ZRRABEY EERAEBFEKRSD
that it is appropriate to voluntarily treat Eastern Global as a connected HERRARRARZEEATEEE -
person of the Company and to comply with Chapter 14A of the Listing BZEMEEST EmRAIE14AE o Bt -
Rules accordingly. As such, the transactions contemplated under the RAREHEEMRE THET IR HE
Eastern Global Sale Agreement shall constitute continuing connected BN T 2 FHERERS °
transactions of the Company.

5. ET New Retail Consignment Agreement 5. RAHZTER#HHR

On 12 May 2023, Taiwan NB entered into a consignment agreement
(the “ET New Retail Consignment Agreement”) in respect of (a) product
consignment and (b) cost sharing in relation to the sales of products with
Eastern New Retail Department Store Company Limited (RZRFTZEH
E /R 1B BR 2 R)) (‘ET New Retail’).

The major terms of the ET New Retail Consignment Agreement are
summarised as follows:

R-ZE-_=ZFRA+_-H &EBARE
HRRTTETERDERAR(EHF
HEEDR@QERRBE RO EMRBEK
RO REHE(REFTERB
szl °

RAFTERE DR T EEFTtm
T

Subject matter

FEER

ET New Retail Products Consignment

RANZEERNKHE

Taiwan NB agreed to engage ET New Retail to sell cosmetic and skin care products
(the "ET New Retail Target Products”) supplied by Taiwan NB. Taiwan NB shall
authorise ET New Retail to sell the ET New Retail Target Products to end customers
and to use related promotional materials for such purpose (“ET New Retail Products
Consignment”).
REBAXAEZRERGNTEHESEBAEMERNALEEER (R
RATEERER] - AEAAXBEERRTTENRHEFHERRTZTE
BRERmERZBENERREEEMH(RANTEERRE]D)
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’

Directors’ Report
EEEWRESE

REXZREERERGHNZ

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) & £ ()
ET New Retail Consignment Agreement (Continued) 5. RAMSERHFEHRE)

5.

Pricing

EE

ET New Retail shall be responsible for marketing and selling the ET New Retail Target
Products to end customers through its own distribution channels or third party
distribution channels.

AR TZEREEREAGDHREAE =S D HEBMRREPHHERIEE
RRNTERRERD °

ET New Retail Cost Sharing

RAHMBERED B

Taiwan NB shall be responsible for the costs in relation to the sale of ET New Retalil
Products Consignment to end customers, including the costs associated with
the marketing, transportation and programme production (“ET New Retail Cost

Sharing”).
REBAEKEEABAAKHEFPHERRTZEERRENALR - 815

o ERNFEAENRERA(RERFTERESH]) -

ET New Retail Products Consignment

RANMBEERNRH

The price of the ET New Retail Target Products sold by Taiwan NB to ET New Retail
shall be at 50% to 90% discount to their retail price, or 20% to 60% discount to their
gross profit margin if the ET New Retail Target Products are OEM or ODM products.
BERAENRRTEEHECRRT EEARERBRARKETEE0%E
90% 2T - HMERFTZE B IREMBOEMEODMZ Em - AIHBRERAERH
FEFFE20%ZE60%2 730 -

ET New Retail Cost Sharing

RANBEREDE

Taiwan NB shall pay a sale commission at 2% of the internet sale proceeds
during the month to ET New Retail. Taiwan NB shall additionally pay a marketing
sponsorship fee at 3% of the relevant sale proceeds to ET New Retail for such ET
New Retail Target Products sold during the month.

BEBEREHRE AEBMBEHEERMFHRIEZ2%ARRNTEXNEERE - &
EBERAERREALENZERANTE B RERKRIBHEHEMSRIAZ3%M
KRN ERIINSEHERE -

—TOMFEFH  BRXEVPRERAT

81

=
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EEIWESE
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ FEXZREEREREGNZ
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) & £ (4)
5. ET New Retail Consignment Agreement (Continued) 5. RAMSERHFEHRE)
Annual cap Pursuant to the ET New Retail Consignment Agreement, the annual caps in relation to ET
New Retail Products Consignment and ET New Retail Cost Sharing by Taiwan NB shall be
as follows:
FELR BRERRFTZERBEHR  AEEAXERRRNTEERRBERERTZERNAELS
BFELERAOT

a. ET New Retail Products Consignment

a. i%’i%ﬁg’éé mAC 8
NT$20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,097,544) from 1 September
2023 to 31 December 2023;
TEC=FNA-RET=F+"HA=+—8 " #H%20,000,0007C
(FHE 7 495,097,544 7T)

NT$50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$12,743,860) from 1 January
2024 to 31 December 2024
TECME-A-HBEZT-_WFT-A=+—H - #HAE%¥50,000,0007T
(*E?E?E’\\“\’712,743,860/’§7E) ;

NT$80,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$20,390,176) from 1 January
2025 to 31 December 2025; and

—T_RE—A— E':?:fgfﬂi—'— A=+—H - #&%s0,000,0007T
(FE 7 #720,390,17678 7T)

NT$120,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$30,585,264) from 1 January
2026 to 31 August 2026.

—ERF-RA-HEZZTZRFNA\A=+—H - #5%120,000,0007T
(FEE P £930,585,264 8 7T) °

b. ET New Retail Cost Sharing
b. iﬁ%ﬁg’éﬁkzkﬁﬁ
NT$900,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$229,389) from 1 September
2023 to 31 December 2023;
fyf_ijmﬂ BE-ZT-=F+_"A=+—H " #&A%¥%900,0007T (1§
P #)229,3897%87T)

NT$2,300,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$586,218) from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2024;

TECMF-A-BET-_MOF+-A=+—H  $H%2,300,0007T
(& 4586,2187T)

NT$3,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$917,558) from 1 January 2025
to 31 December 2025; and
—E-RF—A— Eli;?:\;ﬁEJr A=+—8 " #&#%3,600,0007T
(FHE R #917,5587 L)
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ FEXZREEREREGNZ
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ fE 2% (%)
5. ET New Retail Consignment Agreement (Continued) 5. RAMSERHFEHRE)
. NT$5,400,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,376,337) from 1 January 2026

to 31 August 2026.
—E_ARF-A—HAE_ZE-_RFNA=1+—8 ' A ¥5,400,0007T (1
B R#91,376,337787T) ©

Term From 1 September 2023 to 31 August 2026.

HARR B -_—FNA-—HRBRE-_Z-_FNA=1+—H8-

ET New Retail is a company incorporated in Taiwan with limited liability. RRHEERNBETMA L ZERA
It is principally engaged in distribution of goods through e-commerce in Al AXZAMRETHBERENRSER
Taiwan. mo e o

ET New Retail is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Eastern Home. As disclosed RRTTERRRGIBNZENBR

in item 2 above, the Directors consider that it is appropriate to voluntarily Ao MM EXFE2EFBE EERA
treat Eastern Home as a connected person of the Company. As such, HRAREZEERBRAERG BEA
the Directors consider that it is also appropriate to voluntarily treat TEEE  Alt  EFRR - BERRH
ET New Retail as a connected person of the Company and to comply TEARRALRRE CBEALITBE
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions g BABST EMHRAE4AE - Bt -

contemplated under the ET New Retail Consignment Agreement shall %m%ﬁg’iﬁfﬁﬁfﬁ HTHETZIRS
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company. JERMARRZHERERS -

SECNEFR BAREYNEERAA
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FERHLE
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ FEXZREEREREGNZ
/ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ fE 2% ()
6. Strawberry Sale Agreement 6. Strawberry$H & 173
On 12 May 2023, Natural Beauty China Holding Company Limited (B RZEZ=FRA+=ZH AxRpaz
: SREFRBIERR AR A A]) ('NB China”), a wholly-owned subsidiary EMBARIBAZPEERBR QA
7 of the Company, entered into a sale agreement (the “Strawberry Sale ((BAEZEFHDERFFHZETERD
Agreement”) with Strawberry Cosmetics (Services) Limited CRFRFTZ & BERAE ([Strawberry )T & 5
AERMBR ARG (‘Strawberry”). ([Strawberry S5 & W% 1) °
The major terms of the Strawberry Sale Agreement are summarised as Strawberry$5 & & 2 £ Z &8t 20
follows: ™
Subject matter A sales and procurement framework had been established between NB China and
Strawberry, whereby NB China may from time to time sell and Strawberry may from time
to time make wholesale purchase of products from NB China such as food and cosmetic
products for on-sale to end customers.
FEEHE BAEH B EStrawberry B R IHE RERBIESR - Bk - BAZPEAAKLEE - M
StrawberryF] N M B AEFR B ERBERBIOR @ RMbtm) - NmKmnE P
% o
Pricing (1) At 50% to 75% discount to the relevant retail price; and (2) at 20% to 60% discount to
the gross profit margin if it is OEM products and ODM products.
EE MBEEZTEETN0%ZE75% : K ()M ROEME m RODME M@ - AIBFEF X4
20%E60% °
Annual rebate 5% of the aggregated annual purchase amount by Strawberry will be rebated to

Strawberry when the aggregated annual purchase amount reaches NT$3,923,458
(equivalent to approximately HKS$1,000,000);

7% of the aggregated annual purchase amount by Strawberry will be rebated to
Strawberry when the aggregated annual purchase amount reaches NT$11,770,374
(equivalent to approximately HK$3,000,000);

9% of the aggregated annual purchase amount by Strawberry will be rebated to
Strawberry when the aggregated annual purchase amount reaches NT$19,617,290
(equivalent to approximately HK$5,000,000); and

13% of the aggregated annual purchase amount by Strawberry will be rebated to
Strawberry when the aggregated annual purchase amount reaches NT$31,387,664
(equivalent to approximately HK$8,000,000).

FERA EReFERESEENA13,923,4587T (FBE R 411,000,000 70) B + Strawberry B4R
BEERBESE%RRE T Strawberry

BRATFERESTENAS11,770,37470 GHE 7 493,000,00078 70) B » Strawberry )
AT EREST7%EIRE T Strawberry

BRAFERBECTIENE19,617,2907T (FHE 7 495,000,000/ 7T) B + Strawberry#)
IRE FERE 2% RE T Strawberry © &

BRATFERESTENA31,387,66470 (FHE 7 498,000,00078 7T) B + Strawberry )
A FERES 3% IRIE T Strawberry ©
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ FEXZREEREREGNZ |
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) & £ ()

6. Strawberry Sale Agreement (Continued) 6. Strawberry$5 &1 :& (&) !

Annual cap Pursuant to the Strawberry Sale Agreement, the annual cap in respect of the fees payable l

by Strawberry to NB China shall be as follows: |

FE LR BRI Strawberry$5 & 17355  Strawberry BN BAZETRR 2 BRMFEE LRI ¢

HK$40,000,000 from 1 September 2023 to 31 December 2023;
“EC=FNAAHEZFT=F+-HA=1—H 40,000,000/ : '

HK$60,000,000 from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024;
“TENFE-A—RE_TMF+-A=+—H - 60,000,000 T : :

HK$80,000,000 from 1 January 2025 to 31 December 2025; and '
TEChE-A—RAEZE-_hF+-HA=+—H 800000008 ; &

HK$1OO 000,000 from 1 January 2026 to 31 August 2026.
ZRFE-A-RAEZXFEAHA=+—H - 100,000,000#&T °

Term From 1 September 2023 to 31 August 2026. |
HiFR B -_=FNA—HRBEZZ-_"FN\A=+—H- |
Strawberry is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. Strawberry SR B AEMK L2 BRA
It is principally engaged in sale of internationally renowned skin care and Ale AEXr A B MANEHERERA
beauty products through internet. HLEEREDTEM

|
As disclosed in item 2 above, the Directors consider that it is appropriate BN ENEEFEE  EERAER |
to voluntarily treat Eastern Home as a connected person of the Company. BRHRES ﬁ'ﬁﬁ#"yK’\ ABEALTEBE !
As at the Latest Practicable Date, (a) Strawberry is an indirect wholly- B o REEERAIITEE - @ Stravvberry |
owned subsidiary of Eastern Home and (b) Strawberry Sale Agreement BRARSIEZ F'EJ E2EWB A '
was entered into on the same date as the other transactions disclosed (b) Strawberry$5% 1% aﬁﬁiﬁi$ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁ
in this section, the Directors consider that it is appropriate to voluntarily ZEMZSRABEIY - EERE - # |
treat Strawberry as a connected person of the Company and to Strawberry B FEfR BN AR 2 BEA LB |
comply with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules accordingly. As such, the HE - BEMBEEST ETRAIZE4AE - |9
transactions contemplated under the Strawberry Sale Agreement shall At - Strawberryfﬁ’%T’%%Iﬁﬂqﬁﬁﬁ?&
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company SEBRARRR 2 FHEBERS °

@%

CTECEER  BAREVMNEERAR 8/5
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EEERESE
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ FEXZRESREAGNZ
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ fE 2% (%)
7. Eastern Home Procurement Agreement 7. iﬁ Eﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ’fﬁ%
On 12 May 2023, Taiwan NB entered into a procurement agreement (the Bm= “FRA+TZA aEEaAE
“Eastern Home Procurement Agreement”) with Eastern Home. Eﬁiﬁ ?%% Bl RERE((RRE
BRI RD -
The major terms of the Eastern Home Procurement Agreement are RAREIERBEBZ 2T 2GR
summarised as follows: ™
Subject matter A sales and procurement framework had been established between Taiwan NB and

Eastern Home, whereby Eastern Home may from time to time sell and Taiwan NB may
from time to time make wholesale purchase of products such as health supplements,
commodities and food from Eastern Home for on-sale at its franchised/self-owned spas,
medical cosmetology centers and counters.

FESBHE REBREERREGIBORIIHE RIKBER - Bit - RREIBAINKEE - M
REBAEATHRARRSTIBHERBERPIVRER - BmEkRdam) - AREN
B BEREKERDY BRERTFLRAESEESE -

Pricing (1) At 50% to 80% discount to the relevant retail price; or (2) at 10% to 30% discount to
the gross profit margin.

EE (BB EBHTHIS0%ZES0% : KQ)BEFEHTN10%E30%

Annual cap Pursuant to the Eastern Home Procurement Agreement, the annual cap in respect of the
fees payable by Eastern Home to Taiwan NB shall be as follows:

FELR BRERRGHBRERR  RRGIBENCEAAXERZFELRAT

NT$15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,823,158) from 1 September 2023
to 31 December 2023;

—E-=HFHhA-BE-T-=f+-A=+—8  $4%15000,0007T(HE
72 #93,823,1587T)

NT$50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$12,743,860) from 1 January 2024 to
31 December 2024;

ZECNF-A-BEZZE_NFF+_A=+—0H ' HES50,000,0007T HHE
FR4912,743,8607 7T)

NT$100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$25,487,720) from 1 January 2025
to 31 December 2025; and

T -RF—A— Eli_7_£¢+ A=+—8 " #$&%100,000,0007T (&
R #925,487,7207 7T)

NT$150,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$38,231,580) from 1 January 2026
to 31 August 2026.
—ERF-A-HBEZEXRENAZ=+—8 - $E%150,0000007T HHER
#38,231,580% L) °
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EEEHRES

REXZREERERGHNZ

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ fE 2% (%)
Eastern Home Procurement Agreement(Continued) 7. RRABEBRBHRGE

7.

Term

R

As disclosed in item 2 above, the Directors consider that it is appropriate
to voluntarily treat Eastern Home as a connected person of the Company
and to comply with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules accordingly. As such,
the transactions contemplated under the Eastern Home Procurement

From 1 September 2023 to 31 August 2026.
B _=FNA—HRBE-ZZ-_"F/\H=1+—H-

BN EXFE AR - EERRERZR
SIBERERARRZHAEALEE
E - BZAMELEST EMRAIEI4AZE -
Bt - RIRBHBRBEHER T EHET

Agreement shall constitute continuing connected transactions of the ZRGEBRARB 2 HERRERS o

Company.

Eastern Global Procurement Agreement 8. RARZMEEWHZ

On 12 May 2023, Taiwan NB entered into a procurement agreement (the RZEZ=FAA+TZH &8EBRE

"Eastern Global Procurement Agreement”) with Eastern Global. HRAREIRFT IR E & ((RAR IR
Bl o

The major terms of the Eastern Global Procurement Agreement are RREHEBEBE 2 E BRI

summarised as follows: I

Subject matter

TEEBHE

Pricing

EE

Annual cap

FELR

A sales and procurement framework had been established between Taiwan NB and
Eastern Global, whereby Eastern Global may from time to time sell and Taiwan NB may
from time to time make wholesale purchase of products such as health supplements,
commodities and food, and Eastern Global shall sell such products to Taiwan NB.
AEEREERREHERIHE LRBER - Bl - RREHATRFHE - WA E
BAEAASHERBERPINRER  BAakER)  MEREEREMAEEAE
HEZSER -

(1) At 50% to 80% discount to the relevant retail price; and (2) at 10% to 30% discount to
the gross profit margin if it is OEM products and ODM products.
NEAEBTEBHTMN0%E80% : &) AOEME fh RODME M@ » RIEFERNEHFrH
10%2230% °

Pursuant to the Eastern Global Procurement Agreement, the annual cap in respect of the
fees payable by Eastern Global to Taiwan NB shall be as follows:

BRERZEHRBH S  RREHRENGEEAXBERZFELRNT :

NT$15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,823,158) from 1 September 2023
to 31 December 2023;
TE-=HhA-BE-_E-_=F+-"A=+—8 " H4%15000,0007T (0
FA#]3,823,158%8 7T)

NT$30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,646,316) from 1 January 2024 to

1 December 2024;
TECNE-A—HE-Z-_NE+-_A=+—H ' $A%30,000,0007T+EE
R#97.646316787T) @@

—TOMFEFH  BRXEVPRERAT

@
o
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued)

8. Eastern Global Procurement Agreement (Continued)

31 December 2025; and

R#712,743,860787T) 5 &

—E-RAF-—A—HEZZ

BAEXZIREENREAEGHNZ
RS (8
8. EABEBIGEE

NT$50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$12,743,860) from 1 January 2025 to

AFE+ZA=+—H  HE%50,000,000THE

NT$100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$25,487,720) from 1 January 2026

to 31 August 2026.

CE-RF-A-BEZE-RENA=+—8 - #E%100,000,0007T FHE R

492548772058 7T) ©

Term

AR

As disclosed in item 2 above, the Directors consider that it is appropriate
to voluntarily treat Eastern Home as a connected person of the Company
and to comply with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules accordingly. As such,
the transactions contemplated under the Eastern Home Procurement
Agreement shall constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company.

For further details regarding the agreements discussed in items 1 through 8
above, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 12 May 2023
and 27 June 2023, and the circular of the Company dated 4 August 2023.

The above transactions are regarded as “continuing connected transactions”
and “connected transactions” of the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Group confirms that the above disclosure has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Independent Non-executive Directors confirmed that the transactions have
been entered into by the Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business,
on normal commercial term or better and in accordance with the terms of the
respective agreements governing such transactions that are fair and reasonable
and are in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The board of Directors confirmed that the Group’s auditors have confirmed the
matters set out in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

*\‘_ — R ’ —— — . .

From 1 September 2023 to 31 August 2026.
B-E-_=FAA-BRE-_ZT-_AFNA=+—A-

N EXF IR - EERRGRZR
SEBERBERARRIZHABEALER
g BZAMEMET EHARRIE14AE -
Bt - RFBHBRBHHR T EET
ZRPEBRARBZFERRERS °

EREXE EoBET M R E— S B
Z2HARTBRA-_ZE_=FRA+-_BR=
T _—FRNAZTEERNRAE  UERARFAR
AT -=F)\AHMNBEX -

R ETRAUE AR EARZHER BN
RAZHEMEZ S IRBER 5] -

AEBEER LA KBECHE ETRAE A
BHRBRE

BIUFATESTOHRR - LR FIIRAEE
M— B MBEBEBBREPRIY - BiEE—REH
FHRXEEGRAEREBEEEAR S & s
FRETL - MR ZGEFBAFEE - BFAA
NA AR 2 B aR o

BEEeHR  AEERHMEERHEN LETHE
BI|Z514A5615H)ZETE -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ FEXZRESREAGNZ |
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued) ~ fE 2% (%)
Save as disclosed above: B ESCHTRAEIN '
|
() no contracts of significance subsisted to which the Company or any () ARG HKEEAHE QM ET AR
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company, REE HEFFWBOER - ZERKR ,
an entity connected with a Director, a Controlling Shareholder or any KRG EFEMHB AR EE KEEREF !
of its subsidiaries had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, BHEENER  BEREHE_T-_F+ '
subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024 or at any time ZRA=1T—BIEFERNKZF AT
during such year; and RIRER 2 EMERELD R
(i) there were no related party transactions of the Group for the year ended (i) ~ W E(TAI4R & BA SRR I 5T 43FTE A &= _
31 December 2024 as set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial Bz _WF+_A=1+—HIF !
statements which need to be disclosed as connected transactions or EZEMEBMATRIZERBLEMR
continuing connected transaction (as the case may be) in accordance A7 RERBRAER FHIFEBRER
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. ZRIERAME) °

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS EENBEEBTNER
During the year, none of the Directors had any interest in any business which ~ F R » I EE EERAER > 56 HEME
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business %5 8t AJ RETFAE Bt 2 (T (] 2 75 70 5 (T (o 42

of the Group. & o

EMOLUMENT POLICY < BUR

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is adopted by the Board AL BEREEZHE BT EESTSRIEEE 2SR
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. & BENBENMERM -

The emoluments of the Directors and chief executives of the Company are  ARAREENRETBITHRABZHE IHFMHE
recommended by the Remuneration Committee and are decided by the Board, B &#&EBER A A KL EE  AARKRLAE
as authorized by shareholders at the annual general meeting, having regard ~ LLEHISEIERIELES > BHEFSELR .
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable & » WA RERRAFE RS HIFKE -

market statistics.

The Company has adopted two share awards schemes as an incentive to AR & ERMMER G EBEIGTE - LUEEES
Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set out in note 38to KA ERIEE ° ZrTEl 2 BHRRE T BH
the consolidated financial statements. =MIEE38 -

@@

—Eomasl  aREeywsgseas , 891
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PENSION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which
are available to all employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group
and employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries.
The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds. For further details, please refer
to note 34 of the consolidated financial statements.

No forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) were used to reduce the
existing level of contributions and no forfeited contribution was available as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 to reduce future years’ contributions.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles, or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital was held by the public as at the Latest Practicable Date of this
Annual Report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by RSM Hong Kong
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of RSM Hong Kong will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

Shareholders who are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,

holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to, the
Shares, are suggested to consult an expert.

*\‘_ — R ’ —— — . .

RHKEERETEAGE

AR BB 1B B9 T 2 A0M0TE B LR IRE
B - AREREBHTHEINETIREEE
RFENEDLLEE 5 ARBORINERE
BB ASIE A R BB (T E S Mk - ARIE—
SR8 - BLBRAMBREMEM -

TEERENER(AEERRET2ATE
PLAEE R BB Z AT S ER)BRIEIRE N
MK - I BEE 2024512 A31 B M20234F
12A31 B R FEHREMNETOR D R REHH
Heg o

BRBEERE
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SHEHR -

PRERE
RBEAQNGESHARAEMMESHTANE &
EAFHRERERAIITHE  AQRRBBEITE
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B ED
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%o BERXGRMEBAMEREER  HEEE
R FREE RS - BRERERISHME
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R2 -
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SRR EBOEAENOBEYE R
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MAJOR EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any major events requiring disclosure that has
taken place subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

REVIEW OF AUDITED 2024 ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee which
is of the opinion that such statements comply with the applicable accounting
standards, legal requirements and the Listing Rules, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

On behalf of the Board

LEI Chien
Chairperson
Hong Kong

24 February 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB S S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
NATURAL BEAUTY BIO-TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Natural Beauty Bio-
Technology Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 102 to 232, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA”") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Natural Beauty Bio-Technology Limited Annual Report 2024

RSM

HEREZEYRE

BRATRR
(RAEEHEZMHE L FRLF])
=

AZBEMUATEBIEMDERTINEHRE
102BEEFE20EEHEAZEMRZERAT]
ERRDREHMBAR(EEEMNEGEH
BHE  WEAVMERREEN S -_NF+
ZA=+—BNRATBRRSRE BEEZ
ALFENGEBREREMEZEKER 426
BREHRIGEEBEERER  UREEWE
HEWE  BREEBSIPRER -

BARR  GEVBRRECREFESAMA
(BB GTMAR)EMNCEEM RS
FRAN (EEMBEREEADEENR TR

M7 S£ERN - ZT-_WE+_HA=+—HH
GARBRAT EREBEXE LEENS

EMBREANGARENRE  LOHR(FE
REMGOD O WEREZZRE -



BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key
audit matters we identified are:

1. Net realisable value of slow-moving or obsolete inventories
2. Impairment assessment on trade receivables
3. Impairment assessment of Cash Generating Unit of Sales of Cosmetic

Products in Mainland China (the “CGU")

Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FREFTTER®
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRENSEE EEFTPHBAREGFSENERSE
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Net realisable value of slow-moving or obsolete
inventories

FHHRRETEUEEFE
Refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
BB WIS RRM 24 -

The Group's inventories include raw materials and
finished goods. The Group has recognised an allowance
for slow-moving or obsolete inventories of approximately
HKS$26 million in arriving at a total inventories value of
approximately HK$81 million as at 31 December 2024.

BEEEGERERMARERSR RN
F+-A=1+—H X EEBEERFEREY
81,000,000 T + EHERFHIREFTERBED
26,000,000/ 7T ©

As set out in note 5(f) to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group reviews
inventories on a product-by-product basis at the end of
each reporting period and makes allowance for slow-
moving or obsolete inventories. The management
estimates the net realisable value for such items with
reference to the recent selling prices, subsequent sales
and the market conditions.

WERA R BRAMEOME - BEEREEEERS
BEPREGEEAERHEREEFE - LB HIMR
EFErRERE - BEESEONEE EREE
KW bat iz FRE < A #EFE -

Management was required to exercise significant
judgements and estimations in determining the net
realisable value and allowance for slow-moving or
obsolete inventories. Accordingly, these areas are
considered a key audit matter.

EREAEEERERRERE 2 72315 E M
I EAHE R - Bt - RETERAR
FASEEAtEIH -

Our audit procedures included:
B EARFBRIE

Understanding and evaluating of the management
controls over the identification of slow-moving obsolete
inventories and the assessment of their net realisable value
and assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors;

TREFEEEERBENBEREFTE R EER
IR FE 2 B R E B E B T REE MR
J& Ne E At A 1E [ B () Z 7K AR A% BB K35 AR R B9
MR

Evaluating the reasonableness of the methods and
estimation used in determining the net realisable value of
inventories;

AERETFENERFEMFERN A EREEZ
B

Testing the inventory aging reports generated by the
application system and checking to the supporting
documents for their accuracy, on a sample basis;

RIS ER RGP T E Bl T E - I H A
DA R 7 PR STRFIE AT

Evaluating whether inventories were stated at the lower
of cost or net realisable value at the reporting date
by comparing the carrying amounts of inventories at
reporting date to the sales price of inventories subsequent
to the reporting date; and

BB BHRE AN FEREERRS ARRNET
EEERFERBREANFELTURALATEE
FEREEAR: &

Compared the level of inventories written-off during the
year with the provision made in prior years.

B BRAFEMEN T EKFEBEFEEHAORE
g o
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EEFTTFHRARETBENEES

2. Impairment assessment on trade receivables

2. EZEWRFUBETMG
Refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
BB E MR FE25 ©

The Group has recognised an allowance for credit losses
of approximately HKS1 million in arriving at net trade
receivables of approximately HK$68 million as at 31
December 2024.

R-_ZE-_mM&E+—-_HA=+—H - SEFEENE
%ﬁ%%ﬁ%%m@mww&n% Eﬁwhgﬁ
1B 45 491,000,00058 7T, ©

As set out in note 4(aa) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group always recognises lifetime
Expected Credit Losses ("ECL") for trade receivables and
estimates the ECL using historical credit loss experience
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors.

BMAER S IS IMK M T 4(aa) P - EEE—EH3L
BHRWEFERTEREHREEHR(EAREE
EBE]) - UHABEEEEERELR(REBARE
AEEH B REFEREERSE

Management was required to exercise significant
judgements and estimations in grouping debtors
with similar loss pattern and in determining whether
a particular debtor is considered to be in default. The
impact of economic factors, both current and future,
historical experience and forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors were also considered in management’s
assessment of the likelihood of recovery from customers.
Accordingly, these areas are considered a key audit
matter.

%Ii&%ﬁﬂ*ﬂ‘*ﬁ%&ﬂé* KEERAETHAE
WETHEEEFART G BENREEHERH
%&{E.ﬁr EEIR A E I E FUER AT sl
RBIMEETHEARAREERE - BELHRLER
ANETAEEREZNFE - Bt S HEHES
RAdgEEat g -

Our audit procedures included:

BB EF R

Assessing the key controls over the monitoring of trade
receivables and management's impairment assessment;

AN EEE S RERR N EEEMREN G
RIS I % -

Assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement of the
ECL allowance by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors;

BBERMGTTHEEIENEE M EMAERRE =
g\ﬂﬁs AeHERBERBRBEERERRENHA

Evaluating the methodologies, inputs and assumptions
used by the Group in estimating the ECL allowance;

Attt BERBEAEGEEHEEBBERERHMERN
B BABUIR KRR

Understanding and challenging the judgements made by
management in estimating the ECL allowance;

T A 90 R  TR EE 1 3 TR BB R B 4
SR

Assessing the relevance and reliability of the data used to
determine historical loss rates and the appropriateness of
any adjustments for historical and forward-looking factors
or factors specific to the debtors;

AHEAREEBEBRENEIE 2 ABIERA SN
LA K 3t 38 1 K Al ﬁ!ﬁl%&ﬁﬁ@\ﬁil%f’ﬁﬁ&
R EE M

Assessing the adequacy of the allowance recorded by
reviewing subsequent settlements after the reporting
period; and

BBENRE RRORESERTEPILENEE
ehRE &

Compared the bad debt written-off during the year with
the ECL allowance made in prior years.

B BN R MR R OK T BB E F BN IE
HEERERE -

@
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Impairment assessment of Cash Generating Unit of
Sales of Cosmetic Products in Mainland China (the
IICGUII)

RPBAREHEECURZREELEN(REEE
B ) RERF

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
B2 E Y IERRM T2 -

As at 31 December 2024, goodwill with carrying amount
of approximately HK$25 million was allocated to the
CGU.

R-ZE-_WFE+_A=+—H EHEELHAE
25,000,000/ TR B DB EIREELESBN °

The CGU is tested for impairment at least annually or
whenever there is an impairment indicator by comparing
the carrying amount including goodwill with the
respective recoverable amount of the CGU. Management
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU by
engaging independent qualified valuer.

ReELBENEVBFRERRBETREETH
BAR AR EEREEREER) BUReES
BUZAMAWNOLHE EEERBEEBIYAE
MEALERD fEqufEiEE Sz AT [E & FE o

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment included:

BMBEREEEREMNENETEFEE

Understanding and evaluating management’s key controls
over the impairment assessment process and assessing
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factor;

TR AR E I E BB E R AR IR R BB B 5 0A
WiEBZE BT THETIENIZE REMAERRE
FRFUARHAEA SRR A KRR -

Evaluating the outcome of prior period impairment
assessment of the CGU to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;

HBEETHEREEE BN RENHEREDT
B AHEEEE/RERENA ML |

Obtaining and evaluating management’s approved cash
flow forecasts, testing the mathematical accuracy of the
underlying value in use calculations and agreeing them to
the approved cash flow forecasts;

BEAFHEERBILENRSREER - RBIHAEHE
FEREEFENREBERENNRE RIS ENERE S
mETRR -2

Reviewing the valuation report from independent qualified
valuer and holding discussion with management and
independent qualified valuer to understand the valuation
basis, methodology used and underlying assumptions
applied;

BBV ABRMGEMNGERS  LREEER
BIYABBRMGEMETH RN TRAEEER £/
W% M FE BV RER
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Impairment assessment of Cash Generating Unit of
Sales of Cosmetic Products in Mainland China (the
“CGU”) (Continued)

RABAREHEECURZREEELEN(REEE
B ) RERF (&)

The result of the CGU impairment assessment performed
by management at end of reporting period concluded
that total impairment loss of HK$29 million to be
recognised on property, plant and equipment and
goodwill at the end of reporting period to reduce the
carrying amount of CGU to its recoverable amount.

EREEBNRENEEERFNITRESEAEMRNE
SEERRE  RRESEAER  RmE
B B 5% A8 B 7 22 8 W SR BB /S 18 4R %H29,000,000
BT U SEABMMERENRE A IkE £
B o

The impairment assessment was based on value in
use model and management was required to exercise
significant judgements and estimations including sales
growth rates, gross profit margin and long-term growth
rates used to estimate future cash flows and discount
rate applied to the forecasted future cash flows of the
underlying CGU. Accordingly, these areas are considered
a key audit matter.

RERHE DEREREEEREL - AEIEERE
HEXHE LA - BREARGEFRICRSREN
HERBRE - EMRRRMERE - URERARNHE
BREELEURARKESRENURE - F
b RESTERGSERESEEH -

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment

assessment included: (Continued)

BMBERERERENENETREFEE (B

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the independent qualified valuer,

FEBIAREEEROTH ) RBEBUL

Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions based
on our knowledge of the business and industry; and

EREMHRBERITENTH  HEXTERINAE

HRRHERE - &

Assessing the appropriateness of the discount rate used
with the assistance of our external valuation specialists.

ERMINBEEIROBHT -

RZHEEM -

AF{h FTE A Y RE R
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’'s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
BY MBS

BB BT RS
R
BMNEBRABRERENS LERANS
BRETTHEERRGFREERMERNE
RERBL - LRHBERE R NZBENR
£ BfifEn MTERRERMAHER -

B mEME 1 - RIFET @ RARENRMA
IR ATABRE HEFRET -

B IS SRR AR

BEETESERANZE  BETEERRER
BB EAETHES TRRREERMATE

HY B A #8 R R o #5 BR R AT JR 0 BR R k88
Ao ER R EBERESERMIBER TAIRERE
RERBGEAMBHRRELOLERER - Al
R REXERRA

BAREBEEEETEETENITIEZ—
EERBERAE  EBREFTBEVRERE

RERAEE © Tffith -

AR AR A B HRER P AR ERGEK
EERMEBRME A RRAER - AE
LJLEJ_LI? SETRHMITEEE T - EET
HENETEFEABRMNE RIRH

%ﬁ’% HAREGEAIRE S R Rl -~ B

SHEE R ERR L E BN ERES
R E o AKREEEBRILEKRMER
SHERPR M AR L R REFE IR A SR M &
BB AR NEBRE S °

THREEGTAROABESE - URHE
BTG -  BUFE Eﬂ ;Kl
NEBE M BRI ERER -

ST 1k TR PR B 3 TR 2
HREFEHOERRER

T ¢ Rt

BRI -

[
BAZEWNEERAR

e

TECMEFR

]
e I
e}
£



100

Independent Auditor’s Report
B B RS S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
action taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Szeto Tai Shun.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two
28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

24 February 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ceBERkHEMEENER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_F_MEt-_A=1t—HLHFE

7 Revenue

102

2024 2023
—E-ME =T =t
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FHET T
1 ON 8 353,651 336,015
Cost of sales $HEE Ak AN (151,321) (135,670)
Gross profit EF 202,330 200,345
Other income and other gains HAtn g z=FFI15 9 4,224 7,883
Reversal of allowance for trade receivables, net & 5 e YR BR FR B ¢ [m] - %58 10 124 4,076
Impairment loss on goodwill R EE R 22 (24,806) -
Impairment loss on property, plant and VI - BB MR ERESE
equipment 19 (4,153) B
Fair value loss on investment properties wEYHE 2 N FEEE (19,727) (5,764)
Distribution and selling expenses DI REERX (171,014) (142,208)
Administrative expenses THHRX (80,372) (65,965)
Other expenses and other losses HibR T g%k (3,768) (2,105)
Loss from operations KEEE (97,162) (3,738)
Finance costs &R AN 12 (8,045) (8131)
Loss before tax BRFLBIEE (105,207) (11,869)
Income tax (credit)/expense ISR (%) FxX 13 1,592 (3,242)
Loss for the year KEEEE 14 (103,615) (15,111)
Other comprehensive income: Hi2mKE -
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T &R EFH 7 I Z s 7.2 18
g
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit EREMNRREFE 2B
pension plans g 230 659
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: Al BER EBF D E B 2,2 TH
g :
Exchange differences on translating foreign MEBINEREEZERZES
operations (23,546) (8,486)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEakHEMEZERER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_M&E+-_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-E —E=4F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt & FET FHET
Other comprehensive income for theyear, HREEHM2EKE @ MBRHHE
net of tax (23,316) (7,827)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEE2EHKRFEAE (126,931) (22,938)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTATEERFERISE :
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZZ =N (103,615) (15,111)
Total comprehensive income for the year LTATEARFEREKZE
attributable to: %
Owners of the Company iN/NGIEZ =N (126,931) (22,938)
Loss per share SRER 18
Basic BN (HK cents 5.18)  (HK cents 0.75)
(5.1878l1) (0.75741L)
Diluted e N/A N/A
TEA T E A
@
&
°
-
Q
@
—TopEsn anzspnzaras o, 103
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R R 3R

At 31 December 2024
RZZFZMFE+=A=+—8H

7 Non-current assets

2024 2023
—E-ME =T = =i
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
P FHT FHEIT
FREBEE

Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 19 239,614 239,974
Investment properties wEMZE 20 190,021 217,688
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 21 34,871 30676
Goodwill kS 22 = 25,158
Retirement benefits plan assets BRIRENEEEE 34(b)(iv) 1,543 1,391
Deferred tax assets FEIEFRIAE E 33 18,123 14,262
484,172 529,149

Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 24 81,204 77614
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E A AR K 25 89,614 98,628
Contract costs BRI 26 196 238
Restricted bank balance SRR HIIRITETF 27 1,238 -
Bank and cash balances RITRBE2ET 28 116,507 166,305
288,759 343,285

Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMETIRR 29 93,452 88,715
Amount due to a related party JE A~ — 17 B Bk 75 I8 43(b) 284 241
Contract liabilities aHBEE 371 18,339 19,639
Borrowings gk 30 68,209 168,309
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 6,090 3428
Current tax liabilities VAR IR & (& 1,134 3,028
187,508 283,360
Net current assets REBEEFE 101,251 59,925
Total assets less current liabilities #ZEERARBEE 585,423 589,074
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FRE AR RIRE
At 31 December 2024
RZZEZMFE+=—H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mE =ITes =UE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FET
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Borrowings &k 30 124,043 3,498
Lease liabilities HEEE 32 13,787 11,052
137,830 14,550
NET ASSETS EEFE 447,593 574,524
Capital and reserves R R s
Share capital [N 35 200,210 200,210
Reserves [tz 247,383 374314
TOTAL EQUITY BRER 447,593 574,524

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2025 and are signed on its

behalf by:

Dr. LEI Chien

EfREEL

R-E-_RAF_A-t+tMNAESESHE I

RATREESE
Mr. LIN Chia-Wei
MRELRE
@
&
-
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a
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

an\ 1:'"')4,%‘ eSS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_T_MF+_A=+—HILLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRREAEL
Remeasurement
Property of defined
Share Capital Share  Statutory  Translation revaluation benefit  Retained
capital surplus ~ premium reserve reserve reserve  pensionplans  earnings Total equity
EERNERHRE
ke EAB%  ROEE  AERGE  EXRE DRERRE HHLENTE  REER  BRAE
HKS000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
T Fin T Tin T Tin Thr TEr  TEn
(note35)  (note 37(b)())  (note 37(b)i) ~ (note 37(0il))  (note 37(b)(v)  (note 37(b)v)
(HiE3s) (e (Wasvml) (Wssrin) (Rl (EE3biv)
At T January 2023 R_2-=F-f-A 200210 42554 29004 180,118 59,168 29157 2689 54562 597462
Total comprehensive income TERRENGER
for the year § - 3 . (8480) - 659 (15,111) (22938)
Transfer to satutory reserve BRETTHE - - - 330 - - - (330) -
Changes in equity for the year RERERE - - - 30 (8.486) - 659 (1541 (22939)
At 31 Decernber 2023 and s
1 January 204 TZA=T-BR
“%-mE-F-A 200,210 42,554 29,004 180,448 50,682 29,157 3,348 39121 574,524
Total comprehensive income TEERANGES
forthe year - - - - (23,546) - 230 (103,615  (126,931)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRERITRE c c = = = = = = =
Changes in equity for the year TERERE - - - - (2354) = 20 (103615)  (126,931)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME
TZA=1-H 200,210 42,554 29,004 180,448 27,136 29,157 3578 (64494) 447,593
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n‘/-.R/\IE%/)“JE%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_NF+-_A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
¥ WEN _—_FT_=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B sE FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZFHFIE2RERE
Loss before tax BT BB 1R (105,207) (11,869)
Adjustments for: M SIERE
Interest income L2 A (847) (1,508)
Finance costs BB A AR 12 8,045 8,131
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ ¥12 + BiE LR EITE 26,305 20,981
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEREEZ
equipment (Wz) /E18 (181) 98
Written off of property, plant and equipment YIE - BB KRR 255 =
Fair value loss on investment properties WEWE L A TEBE 19,727 5,764
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 5,362 5,669
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets LEFAEEE 2 K= (5) (101)
Allowance for slow-moving inventories EETT BB 4,232 873
Inventories written-off ﬁ g 1,968 2,868
Reversal of allowance for trade receivables, net B 5 JE U BR R B BR[O - /58 10 (124) (4,076)
Impairment loss on goodwill 2R EEE 22 24,806 -
Impairment loss on property, plant and W - BE REREREREE
equipment 19 4,153 -
Operating (loss)/profit before LEECEHR 2
working capital changes K (E18) s A (11,511) 26,830
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOEM,wd (8,217) 16,509
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 R Ho A JE R RROR > 9,206 1,018
Decrease in contract costs AR AF D 42 36
Increase in restricted bank balance SR HIERTTAE T A1 (1,238) -
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other B 5 K E A FE T RRK
payables #hn, Gt ) 4,737 (16,095)
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to FEfTREEE 5 AIEi'ﬂD/(/)ER
related parties 43 (250)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities BHEECRD), i (1,300) 3,234
Decrease in retirement benefit obligation RIKEFRE TR (152) (48)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations REXBPIR),/ sz HiE (8,390) 31,234
Income tax paid EAFTSE (4,771) (8,398)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEME (585) (1,112)
Net cash (used in)/generated s R (FTR) T2 Bie
from operating activities FRE (13,746) 21,724,
L
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n/-.R Eﬁ:ﬁ/)lbi%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
SR WER _—_T_—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FET FET
~
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREFHFEB2REFRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEME  WE&R&E (41,211) (69,116)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plantand &  HE K& &2 TS
equipment K8 192 1
Interest received BB 847 1,508
Net cash used in investing activities REEBFAZIRES T (40,172) (67,607)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZBHFE-BRERE
Repayment of borrowings EEER (167,761) (54,757)
Borrowings raised EE5EN 195,288 109,101
Principal elements of lease payments HENROAESE D (4,725) (4,697)
Bank loan interest paid ERRITERFE (7,460) (7,019)
Net cash generated from financing activities BEEBMS RS FE 15,342 42,628
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERRESEEMRD FE
EQUIVALENTS (38,576) (3,255)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes MEREE) 25 (11,129) 1,406
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—A—BZERERRSEEY
1JANUARY 158,743 160,592
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RT+-ZA=+—HZzBE&RkES
31 DECEMBER £EY 109,038 158,743
ANALYSIS OF THE CASH AND CASH RERRESEENIN
EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances WITEBR G 28 116,507 166,805
Less: Time deposits with maturities of over B =1EH J//U: FUATHHEZ
three months but less than one year TERBTE X (7,469) (8,062)
109,038 158,743
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Natural Beauty Bio-Technology Limited (the "Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 29 June 2001 as an exempted
company with limited liability. The address of its registered office is P.O.
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The
address of its principal place of business is changed from 5/F, Manulife
Place, 348 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong to Room 1916, 19/
F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong and
effective on 10 January 2025. The Company’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, as at 31 December 2024,
Far Eastern Silo & Shipping (Panama) S.A, Insbro Holdings Limited and
Next Focus Holdings Limited are substantial corporate shareholders of
the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKAS"); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

B 7% R 2R B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_NF+-_A=+—HLFE
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—RER
BAEEVHRBRARTARRENR
ZEE—FRNAZTNABERSHSHE
MR RERREER QA o B M#
F R 2 3 AP.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands ©
HT 22X MESNEEBIEEM8H
BN ESSEE AT B EEREE33
FRE B9 16EWR T _RF
—ATHER - XRRROEEAHE
RBAABR AR (B ERET »

ARAR—RIEEER AR - EHIBA
FIMEZEBH NG S M FRER N T
23 °

RARABEFRR RZZE_MFE+=
A=+—HB EXEeRMEECEH)K
MARRDEF - REZERAER D E RNext
Focus Holdings Limited BN AR E B (b3
MRER o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BT HF+_A=+—HLEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. R REEBITEBHBR

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS HEEA
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) EAFHITRLEITE RV KR
HEA
The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs and REGAMGHRERE  AEEDE
interpretation issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are REAR-_ZE_NF—-—A—HBzkZ

mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after
1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1

BB R ERIERNER]

Amendments to HKAS 1
BEGTENEIRAEE
Amendments to HKFRS 16

FEMBHREERF 165 ER
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 ("HK Int 5") (Revised)

BERESESR(EEREBESTR (KE

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
ARG ENERREEBY BHRE LS

E"Jf&ﬂ

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material

?%ﬁa-ﬂ%él’]if“ﬁﬂf'aﬁ?@%ﬂiﬁﬁﬂ’%ﬁ%
SR AERMNF MBS
RN TMER] K2R -

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

KEESBRREIERE

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

MERER I ERBBE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

ERENFHEERE

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of aTerm Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

ﬁ?f?’f%iﬁ%%ﬂﬁ%ﬂ fERA B2 RN ZRERIERANTEH

T
Supplwer Finance Arrangements

R R RE T

B TPt ESN - AR FE R ET
Rl BB REER R BB R

impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the HEAZEBTEHREERTFER

current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. AT RKETE BB

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued) £ XA )
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued) (a) EAFHITIRKZETEBMBER
HER @)

Adoption of Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current” and Amendments
to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants”
(collectively the “HKAS 1 Amendments”)

As a result of the adoption of the HKAS 1 Amendments, the Group
changed its accounting policy for the classification of borrowings
as below:

“Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the end of
the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on or before
the end of the reporting period, are considered in classifying loan
arrangements with covenants as current or non-current. Covenants
that the Group is required to comply with after the reporting
period do not affect the classification.”

This new policy did not result in a change in the classification of
Natural Beauty Bio-Technology Limited's borrowings. The Group
did not make retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting
HKAS 1 Amendments.

R CFEFR

RAEBEERE1RBIIET [
EETEBREHFREIREE
B ERIE 1R HEET[ M 5 Bt 9
FnBEE| (B EESTER
F19ERIIERT])

MREBEA G ENE1RNE
Al ARBHERDENETEER
fEHIT#E -

[FRIFASEMAERNBERNHEE
BB ENEEAMRREREN
wrELRMEAR  BRERDEAR
BaE-

B ERZENER LD R RRE
SIEREE - @ERAKEARRK
SRR AR ZRIE TR o
AEERNREMRBETHRED
FHEIE -

BT SR 3 S B0 9 22 A W
RARAANERA BLRLD -
S B SRR R
1SR AT TR R EE -

BARAXEMNEERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. BRI RKEITE BB
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued) o 416

(b) Revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (b)

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of new standards and
amendments to standards and interpretation, which are not
effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and which have
not been adopted in these financial statements. The Group has not
early applied the following which may be relevant to the Group:

EEMGEERERZRETTE
B EREEL
HEZSHRAMBRERTIZEAR
BEACHMAEEBMZLIANG]
AR LA R B R R s RE S ET - MEER
EZToMFE+ZA=+—HLE
EZREEARZERAER - IR
REZEMEREP RN - KEEIW
EIRR AT E 2 BN S
15 :

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUT RS 2Rk a5t
BEEX

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 — Lack of Exchangeability

EA G ERE2IR BB B REEE1FOER] — = Al LRt

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments

1 January 2025
—E-h%—H—H
1 January 2026

FEMBREENFISRERBFBVBRELEMNE7ROET —SRITENSE — T F—A—H

NaEtg
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
BEMBREER G LR FESCE - F 1111
HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
BEMBMEEAF 185 — MIEHMERN 25 L HEE
HKFRS 19 — Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures
BB BMEER 195 - FRRAITEEMB R RIHBKE
Amendments to HK Int 5 = Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause
BERBESHNER - MBRRNE —ERAE B2 I BER EREE]
RHEBERNDE

The directors of the Company are in the process of making
an assessment of what the impacts of these new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretation are expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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T t+¥—HA—H
1 January 2027
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR R MR

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of financial
statements”, introducing new requirements that will help to
achieve comparability of the financial performance of similar
entities and provide more relevant information and transparency
to users. Even though HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or
measurement of items in the consolidated financial statements,
HKFRS 18 introduces significant changes to the presentation of
financial statements, with a focus on information about financial
performance present in the statement of profit or loss, which will
affect how the Group present and disclose financial performance
in the financial statements. The key changes introduced in HKFRS
18 relate to (i) the structure of the statement of profit or loss,
(i) required disclosures for management-defined performance
measures (which are referred to alternative or non-GAAP
performance measures), and (iii) enhanced requirements for
aggregation and disaggregation of information.

The directors of the Company are currently assessing the impact of
applying HKFRS 18 on the presentation and the disclosures of the
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments - Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

The HKICPA issued targeted amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS
7 to respond to recent questions arising in practice, and to include
new requirements not only for financial institutions but also for
corporate entities. These amendments:

clarify the date of recognition and derecognition of some
financial assets and liabilities, with a new exception for some
financial liabilities settled through an electronic cash transfer
system;

BL

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_BE-_NME+_-_A=+—HILtEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
(b) Revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments — Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

(Continued)

clarify and add further guidance for assessing whether a
financial asset meets the solely payments of principal and

interest (SPPI) criterion;

add new disclosures for certain instruments with contractual
terms that can change cash flows (such as some financial
instruments with features linked to the achievement of

environment, social and governance targets); and

update the disclosures for equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the

Group.

Amendments to HKAS 21 “Lack of Exchangeability”

The amendments specify when a currency is exchangeable into
another currency and when it is not and how an entity estimates
the spot exchange rate when a currency is not exchangeable.
In addition, the amendments require disclosure of information
that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate how a
currency’s lack of exchangeability affects, or is expected to affect,
the entity’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2025, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and performance

of the Group .
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the accounting
policies below (e.g. investment properties that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

7 For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company's share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and any
foreign currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investments. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c)

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at the acquisition-date
fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities
incurred and any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs
are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the
consideration transferred in a business combination to calculate
the goodwill.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units ("“CGUs") or groups of
CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwiill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars
("HKS") which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy
are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign operation
(none of which has the currency of hyperinflation economy)
that have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation

of monetary items that form part of the net investment in foreign

entities are recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a

foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified

to consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than properties under construction as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except for those that
are classified and accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write-off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:
Buildings 2.5% ~ 5%
BF 2.5%—5%

Leasehold improvements
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on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction
and plant and equipment pending installation, and is stated at cost
less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant
assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

7 For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

()

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or developed for
future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured
at that time.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

A property is transferred to investment property when, and only
when there has been a change in use. Such change in use occurs
when the property meets the definition of investment property,
and there is evidence of a change in use. If an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, any difference between
its carrying amount and fair value at the date of change in use is
treated as revaluation in accordance with HKAS 16 Property, plant
and equipment and recorded in other comprehensive income.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is withdrawn from use. Any gain or loss
on disposal of an investment property is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the property,
and is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in note 4(s) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

(9)

Leases
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the

contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if

the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value. When the Group enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the
lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
EZT-_NEFZA=T—RHILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)
(g) Leases (Continued)
(i)  The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease
liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received,

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
the relevant subsidiary, which does not have recent
third-party financing, and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data)
which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the
group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine
the incremental borrowing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

(g) Leases (Continued)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use
assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, except for the right-of-
use assets that meet the definition of investment property
are carried at fair value in accordance with note 4(f).

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

7 For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)

(9)
0]

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (‘lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4, BEESTHHBERER®

(h) Inventories (h =FE
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. GFEUKAR TR FEREEA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

(h) Inventories (Continued)

(i)

Other contract costs (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate directly to an
existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract may include direct labour, direct materials,
allocations of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to
the customer and other costs that are incurred only because
the Group entered into the contract. Other costs of fulfilling
a contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property,
plant and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as
incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses
are recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of
the contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining
amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive
in exchange for the goods or services to which the asset
relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not yet been recognised
as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

1)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL") in accordance with the
policy set out in note 4(aa) and are reclassified to receivables when
the right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(k)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

U

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are
measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

- Amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment
is calculated using the effective interest method.

- Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")
= recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and
the investment is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses ("ECLs"), interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or
loss.

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling). Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

U

(m)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOC], are recognised in profit or loss as other income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective of
collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less allowance for credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_M&E+-_A=+—HLEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EES€HBEER @)
(Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECLs.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out in notes (p) to (r)
below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of
loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised
as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the end of
the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

(s)

Borrowings (Continued)

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on or before
the end of the reporting period, are considered in classifying loan
arrangements with covenants as current or non-current. Covenants
that the Group is required to comply with after the reporting
period do not affect the classification at the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an equity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue cost.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sale of skin care, beauty and aroma-therapeutic
products, health supplements, make-up products and beauty
apparatus directly to the franchisees or distributors is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being when the
goods have been shipped to the distributors and franchisees’
specific locations (delivery). Following delivery, the franchisee or
distributors has full discretion over the manner of distribution
and price to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when
on selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss
in relation to the goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group
when the goods are delivered to the franchisee or distributors as
this represents the point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required
before payment is due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(s)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Under the Group's contract terms, franchisees have a right of return
or exchange of goods within an agreed period and amount. At the
point of sale, a refund liability and a corresponding adjustment to
revenue is recognised for those products expected to be returned
or exchanged. At the same time, the Group has a right to recover
the product when customers exercise their right of exchange or
return so consequently recognises a right to returned goods asset
and a corresponding adjustment to cost of sales. The Group uses
its accumulated historical experience to estimate the number of
exchanges and returns on a portfolio level using the expected
value method. It is considered highly probable that a significant
reversal in the cumulative revenue recognised will not occur given
the consistent level of exchanges or returns over previous years.

Revenue from the sale of skin care, beauty and aroma-therapeutic
products, health supplements, make-up products and beauty
apparatus through retail outlet is recognised when control of the
goods has transferred, being at the point the customer purchases
the products at the retail outlet. Payment of the transaction price
is due immediately at the point the customer purchases the
products.

Revenue from skin treatment, beauty and spa services through
its self-owned spas and medical cosmetology services through
its self-owned medical beauty clinics is recognised over time as
the customers of the Group simultaneously receive and consume
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group
performs. The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on an output method,
which recognises revenue on the basis of direct measurements
of the value of the services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
the services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

] For the year ended 31 December 2024

/ HE_Z-_MF+—_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EESHBEER @)
(Continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (Continued) (s) WAREMUEE)
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective PR A R FEET R (52 A BB A 0%
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost TR o IR HEA A IZ A FEE
or FVTOC! income (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the AEMEmkzE(JEE 2 AT
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of ERREERECEREEMS -
the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest BERMNEEANEE ZRESE -
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net REREEREZEREEMS -
of loss allowance) of the asset. ERMNEERAREE CEHEKR
(ENHNBr BB R BRI AAE) -
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to % B 5 g A B SR AR B R IR 2 HE I HE
receive payment are established. B HERR o
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised ERERRUE S WS R H AT
in profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered MEMBEANZ S HEERNER
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more R MHHEBRES [l ER MR
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use MEREEEEMGEN R EER
of the leased asset. Gh e
(t) Research and development expenditure t) WFEEXH
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as expenses in the ITEE) S I BB A 2 AR A e
period in which it is incurred. RARE -
(u) Employee benefits (u) EEER
(i)  Employee leave entitlements (i) EEEZHE
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service EEEREZEFBARIRER
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A HRE TEERER - B E
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave WEHHEEHERESR
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by FrIiEftRB=EHNFREE
employees up to the end of the reporting period. R HRBANMGET B EED
B -
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are EEEZZ2RBRERER
not recognised until the time of leave. TER IR 75 AT RERR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

(u) Employee benefits

(i)

Pension obligations

The Group operates various post-employment schemes,
including both defined benefit and defined contribution
pension plans.

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Obligation for contributions to the local government of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") defined contribution
retirement schemes pursuant to the relevant labour rules
and regulations in the PRC are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as incurred.

For the defined benefit retirement plans, the liability (asset)
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position is the present value of the defined benefit
obligation less the fair value of plan assets. When there is
a surplus in a defined benefit plan, the net defined benefit
asset is measured at the lower of the surplus in the defined
benefit plan and the asset ceiling. The defined benefit
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries
using the projected unit credit method. The present value of
the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting
the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of
high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the
currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have
terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related
pension obligation. If there is no deep market in such bonds,
the market rates on government bonds denominated in that
currency are used.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

7 For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

(u) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Pension obligations (Continued)

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) —
which include actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan
assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the
net defined benefit liability (asset)), and any change in the
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding amounts included in
net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset)) — are
recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in
which they arise and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
Service costs and net interest on the net defined benefit
liability (asset) are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the
beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability
or asset. However, if the Group remeasures the net defined
benefit liability or asset before plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement, the Group determines net interest for the
remainder of the annual reporting period after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement using the benefits
offered under the plan and the plan assets after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement and the discount
rate used to remeasure such net defined benefit liability or
asset, taking into account any changes in the net defined
benefit liability or asset during the period resulting from
contributions or benefit payments.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(v)

Share-based payments

The Group can issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees and others providing similar services. Equity-
settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted
for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
directors, employees and consultants. Equity-settled share-
based payments to directors and employees are measured at
the fair value (excluding the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will
eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based
vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured
at the fair value of the services rendered or, if the fair value of the
services rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value
of the equity instruments granted. The fair value is measured at
the date the Group receives the services and is recognised as an
expense.

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

7 For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)
(w) Borrowing costs

(x)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation on rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Any specific borrowing
that remain outstanding after the related asset is ready for its
intend use or sales included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowing.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised
in profit or loss over the period to match them with the costs they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+-_A=+—HIEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EES€HBEER @)
(Continued)

(y) Taxation (y) BiE
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax. FriS®ite BN EAF 18 SRR IH « 48
e
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the BIVAR FE {5 B TR IR 6 N B AR T b A AT
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or HoBmRERT RN TEEEM
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or FE 2 ERBS A HRA A Sk 2
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or HE - M BEIEE AR A R
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using ZIBH - R RERE RN T
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the A - AREBERNETIE B FEiRRE 8
end of the reporting period. MEEHEBMAER LB ARG
EErHE -
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between BEERIB BT E W BmKR CEE
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated KB ERRE B BT H R BUR M B
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the ENEMERA G EERABERE
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally BERE BN EREERER o BT
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets MIEBGE B RRANE R E
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences TR o BEHIBEE —MRERA
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available BEER1S FE R i ) 1 < A HOUR B
against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses ZE - ADATIEEBEIRBAT
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are HERESNERZIBRT  BtATE
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or AR E R EREER - NEEEX
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) R EREBEHBRINR S 2
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither EWEERBERELTHEEN
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of FEERT RN ET R - &
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible R 5 8 A A R R & AT
temporary differences. HMBRERZE AEHREAERAR

NFHER °

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary AEBSHMBARIKREEEZE
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries except where the AR EZHERREERIBAE - v
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference EINAEE R EEERERE -
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in BO - BEREFEIEIEATRE o
the foreseeable future. RERFEEE RIBR SN o
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end AEBEgNEREHREE RS ;"?"N <
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no BRERBEEEZREEY TAA
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to & - AN REEUS B 49 2 JE AR FY
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. A AU E 2RIy EE A
PR o
@ Ve
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(y)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption
is rebutted when the investment properties are depreciable and
are held within a business model of the Group whose business
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such
investment properties is measured based on the expected manner
as to how the properties will be recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised
and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(y)

(z)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with
the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable
that the relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using
either the most likely amount or the expected value.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that are
not yet available for use are reviewed for impairment annually
and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for
the CGU to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the
individual asset or the CGU.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows
of the asset/CGU. Present values are computed using pre-tax
discount rates that reflect the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset/CGU whose impairment is being measured.

BE_—

e I ERAR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-WET-_A=+—HLFE

4, BEESTHHBERER®

(y)

(z)

TECMEFR

BIR (%)

28 AROR SR B BT T BRI S B
HIREEEAMBIRREERE - M
HH R — RS HE B S5
Bl AR ECEHREERAE
i BAKERFRELLH
HAHHAEERARE

FERHME TSR IR 77 AR (] TR
TE R - AEBEERBETSKE

Al B AR E RN EAT
1S LB IR NPT {5 A Skt (52 PR A0 T e
EHEERES X - BB A - BIH
MIEER B 2 IR B PT1S m1* H
MIRIERIEF AEE o HABEHRE
BB REES T EERERER
% B THREMNFESFERRD
P xEsFa B EE R -

FeMmEERE

B 75 4% PR A {55 FA 4 B ok 1 R AT A
ARENEESTREBEREHE

EeRBHIRES LR RREE A B

AR BRI AT B DR E o

HibJE@mEE RAENS
HERa B ERETR ﬁfﬂéféﬁ
BE - BRI B RFaERK
OB ZE B AL PIIEI S 5E o AT4 D
SHEMERNEERETE - EMEEL
BEARBIBINE @éﬁié{
EAR RS RMARIN - TEILIE

T AEE ,\Exéé‘kﬁﬁngﬁi
EFEMETE - fllE & ERER
BENIRCEFEN 7 (ERAEER
RPEREERNEIREF 2 REE

=t
al=+ °

EREEREE HREeEEEMM
AARRESREZHE - BEER
MEREHEEREE ReEL
B (B E8RE 2FERR 2B

AIRAIR RFHH - @

BARAXEMNEERAT

e

&



144

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EESHBEER @)
(Continued)

(2)

(aa)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
Impairment losses for CGUs are allocated first against the goodwill
of the unit and then pro rata amongst the other assets of the
CGU. Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused by
changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent
that they reverse the impairment.

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
on lease receivables, trade and other receivables, contract assets,
loans to employees, pledged bank deposits and bank and cash
balances, as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount
of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables,
contract assets and lease receivables. The ECL on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EES€HBEER @)

(Continued)
(aa) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

(aa) TRMEERSWEERER)

(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which
the Group's debtors operate, obtained from economic expert
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-
tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration
of various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group's core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EESHBEER @)
(Continued)

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (aa) TREERASNEERE®E)

(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) EERBAEZEEME)

~  an actual or expected significant adverse change in the - EBANET - LB
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the RIEBERIEHRNBEED
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's MNEH  BREBAEER
ability to meet its debt obligations. W NBEE T o

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group Eam LGNSR - AEE

presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased BRRfmE QR HE®308 - 8l

significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments CREENEERR B VPRI

are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable REEEILIN - BRIERNSKEBREREA

and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. EERRI EEZIEINGEIERA

SFER - AfERI °

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on BER LMRE  ERHEEHE
a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial MTEWAHATEAEEALEEZER
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have % AEBZHERERIAFER
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is G B ) SR AT I N o
determined to have low credit risk if: ETIEAT eI ASHATE

REEREEERR

() thefinancial instrument has a low risk of default; h Z2MIBEEEREENOR
A .
(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash (ih EBAFRANEENEITE
flow obligations in the near term; and HNEHReREETE &
(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the (i RBERFERENRBETF
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability SEAEMREERUERERS
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. HPABITEANBREREER
BB -
The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk AEERR  BRERFAAMNGE
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade” £ ATMEERINTEETRE
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an [1% & A% IS AE HNEB ST AR 30 38 A3 #Y
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of BATEEZRNHAFRAIRER
"performing’”. Performing means that the counterparty has a strong 7] BIZEEEBEREERR -
financial position and there is no past due amounts. KRRFIEHFHABRROIT B

AR R I 838 B EROR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EES€HBEER @)
(Continued)

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (aa) TREERSNEERE®E)
(Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) EERMBAEEEME)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used AEBTEHERBNEERRES
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit BERIFFARENFRML - WE
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are TBIERT ARE IR 2 IR 2EBE S0 1 AR S
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the BRI R IME B R ) R E AN o

amount becomes past due.

Definition of default ENNES

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of REERBATERATEATEER
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical RERENMEEXENSH R
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the ERBALRERTE AT EMN—
following criteria are generally not recoverable. B 2 R AR R — R A D -

~  when there is a breach of financial covenants by the - HFLERMBEEGE K

counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from external - REELSEREINDRIR

sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its BWEEKHA  EHATKA

creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into 2 ﬁ HEEA(BERER)

account any collaterals held by the Group). HERTH REAEERFS

E’\]T?Eﬁﬁﬁﬁuu)
Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default \mam Lot - REER
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due Tﬁ‘i\ﬁﬂggﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂ% H- E‘JE?X
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information EHNEMN  BRIETSEGREHA
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more E%mE’ULi’JT? B REENEE
appropriate. AlsEER - RIVERES o
Credit-impaired financial assets FEERESREE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that EEBRE— MU LLEHEHEHE ’
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of EWNAFIARRBEREEE TR ~
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset 20 AIZeRMEEEBECRE @
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following CMEEFERENSREENT
events: AR EUE h ¥
i =

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the - BITASEFHIHIRE KNG,

counterparty; TSR E
~  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event; - EBH B EiRa s @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EESHBEER @)
(Continued)

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (aa) TREERASNEERE®E)

(Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) T'Lgﬂﬁﬁ A& E (%)

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or HFEFHNERALREETF
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s financial FHBEREERNLENE
difficulty, having granted to the counterparty a concession(s) HARE MEHFIRTE
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or HTARETEERHESR

B9

~ it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter - HFAARKRAIEWESET
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or HM BTG E4E ¢ 3k

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset - ZemEERBEEMmK
because of financial difficulties. KIERTIS ©

Write-off policy e R

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information EEEMIEHEBABAREN

indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there RSB ER B8 (R

is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor FEBACE GBI EABRER

has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy s - B HEWEFTME -
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts EAHeEalBAME(URT
are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial ERERE) AEEEMESR
assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement activities BE - OMENSREEDNIIRE
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal AEBWKERFEEHNITITE
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in FHEEBRATEREEZER - £

profit or loss. WEIFIEGNEZPHER °

Measurement and recognition of ECL EHEEBBENT2RER

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the FEHEEBENGTENKEREY

probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of Bk BREARENEYBNE

the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The KIEE) REBARBE A KB o 511E
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is BB ERENDBRENKE AR

based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information AT AR AR A BT EE o

as described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial ZREHNRAR  HeMmMEEMS -

assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at EREENSRESHBZRmMAET

the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure R - BB IERENME - B

includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, BEANRE AR ZFIBERE

together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down RESLBHEE 2R BRE ’7

in the future by default date determined based on historical trend, A B2 Al i 32 BX A (R ] 5B /M 5RIE

the Group's understanding of the specific future financing needs REBEHEFARFERRE zvﬂéfﬁ/\

of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information. BT B A SR A AR RE BT RE (&R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(aa)

(ab)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For financial assets, the excepted credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the expected credit losses is consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance with
HKFRS 16.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

BE_—

e I ERAR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-WET-_A=+—HLFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(ac) Events after the reporting period
Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the reporting
period are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are not
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements when material.

EESTHEER®

(ac) MEHREIE
AAREERREHBEEER 2R
RILFEINE R 2 REHEEIEE
RABEIR  WREGEEVBREA

R o I FEAEEEARE R
FHEBEAR - BIRERE I IEHmE
B S B -

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5. BEEHEREEMG
In applying the Group's accounting policies, which are described in TEJE AR S B ) & 5T IR (JAR 524 P )

note 4, the directors are required to make judgements (other than those
involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts
recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying

B EFAFLUBIABREAEATE
Z A CF KA EHEBRIN) - L HRBERD
BEBHEMBRREEZEERAGBRE

amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from Tﬁﬁftﬂﬁ st R MRER - ARG ET RABAR
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on R EL/{LE%%%?& ﬁﬂ?ﬁi?ﬁ?‘r*ﬁ Wz
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. EREE BERERFEHEZFMLTAE

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing

Ho

fEqu&i‘HFWE““ELM%ZEl EEE o fi

basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in HEr e BB EETB 2B
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in - BIRZ IR - SiWiErI a2

the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have
made the following judgements that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart
from those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(@)  Distinction between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals and

B A M R 2R AR
REARIHERR o

Al MERT I FoR

FERE R EEH
EREAEFERRZBEY  EFCIFH
NTHEEMBERERAMEREEAR

EAFEZHE O RETER TXREE
BRSM) -

@ BRREYREREEMAYE

ETVEREFAFERNES A

another portion that is held for use in the production of goods. S Mmes—&n E'J BBIEEEER
If these portions can be sold separately (or leased out separately m o a2 E 50 ] 0 F & S AR
under a finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions EHESH Hﬁﬁ E|J2|§E@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
separately. If the portions cannot be sold separately, the property BE D D FARR o WS 30 A
is accounted for as investment property only if an insignificant AFEME E\'JEE%%/\ﬁ’J\a‘BE
portion is held for use in the production of goods. Judgement is BEEEEEMNIER T AIIER
applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant B o KE =78 I i Bl 2 AR 7% /9
that a property does not qualify as an investment property. The EEZRE  RETWETEER

Group considers each property separately in making its judgement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(b)

Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors have reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group's investment properties
are not held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through sale.
Therefore, in determining the Group's deferred tax for investment
properties, the directors have adopted the presumption that
investment properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered through sale.

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in accounting policy disclosed in note 4(aa), ECL
are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1
assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves
to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant
increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an
asset has significantly increased, the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-
looking information.

Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term at the commencement date for
leases that include renewal options exercisable by the Group, the
Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising the renewal options
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances that
create an economic incentive for the Group to exercise the option,
including favourable terms, leasehold improvements undertaken
and the importance of that underlying asset to the Group’s
operation.

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

(d)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Determining the lease term (Continued)

Generally, periods covered by an extension option in other
properties leases have not been included in the lease liability
because the Group could replace the assets without significant
cost or business disruption. See note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements for further information.

The lease term is reassessed when there is a significant event
or significant change in circumstance that is within the Group’s
control. During the current financial year, no lease term has been
reassessed.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of

estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

During the year, approximately HK$1,592,000 (2023 charged to
profit or loss: HK$3,242,000) of income tax was credited to profit or
loss based on the estimated assessable profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

BE_—

e I ERAR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-WET-_A=+—HLFE

5. EEXEREEMF @

AT RERR 2 EBRR (@)

(b)  Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use by YE BERXEBERERAEEEZ
assets A
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated M BERIBEBREREEET
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. BRAR 25T E RO E S BR (40
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to ﬁ) CETEESGRER K
exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing: /,\TT{E#U@)T&VFH&'EJ Rl
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect R ¢ ﬁ?#ﬁﬁﬁiiﬁ
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be £ $5 T%'r?‘f—f e EEEEE
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, BEREERES %’]M—Hﬁl@i
the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated (N REREE) X FF - RREE
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate FAREEMTHRIBESRENF
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable BRE : RO)HFEAN G AIKE S
amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate ERMEEERBRR(BERERE
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable TR K8 R RLIR 5K) o B AW
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the FENEE(BIEEREERE) N
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which WEleFER  AEEHAEERNE
the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates, REEEBMMAIKEEEE - R
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow RiGEt (BREReRERAZAE
projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts. EHRERE)EY - gHAIKROE
BERERTE -
Further, the cash flows projections, growth rate and discount rate o - BRSBTS KRS (B
are subject to greater uncertainties in the current year due to HASBEKENBTTE)  ~F
volatility in financial markets, including potential disruptions in the ERHReRETRN - BREMAER
Group's operation. RIFERRTET I
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and RENBRDE - BERZHR
right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2024 were approximately B/E184,153,0008 L& (Z ==
HK$239,614,000 (2023: HK$239,974,000) and HK$34,871,000 FWEERYE  BELRENA
(2023: HK$30,676,000) respectively after impairment losses of REAEEEREBE)  R-2FT=N
HK$4,153,000 were recognised in property, plant and equipment F+-_A=+—H ¥ BEX v
during the year (2023: No impairment on property, plant and HEAREAEEENREES 5 -
equipment and right-of-use assets was recognised). Details of #15239,614,0008 (=== °
the impairment loss calculation are provided in note 19 to the 239,974,000/ 7T) }2.34,871 ,OOO?%T_E
consolidated financial statements. (ZE == : 30,676,000/ T) ° ftm
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_—

5.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(©)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the CGU to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period is
fully impaired during the year.

Details of the impairment loss calculation are provided in note 22
to the consolidated financial statements.

Fair values of investment properties

The Group appointed independent professional valuers to assess
the fair values of the investment properties. In determining the
fair values, the valuers have utilised methods of valuation which
involves certain estimates. The directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the methods of valuation and
inputs used are reflective of the current market conditions.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31 December
2024 was approximately HK$190,021,000 (2023: HK$217,688,000)
after recognition of the fair value loss of HK$19,727,000 (2023:
HKS$5,764,000) in the profit or loss during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e)

Impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables based on the credit
risk of trade receivables. The amount of the impairment loss
based on ECL model is measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected, or being revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade receivables
is HK$68,172,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$904,000) (2023: HK$77,415,000 (net of allowance for doubtful
debts of HK$1,096,000)).

Allowance for inventories

The Group reviews inventories on a product-by-product basis at
the end of each reporting period, and recognised allowance for
obsolete and slow-moving inventory items that are no longer
suitable for use in production or trading. The management
estimates the net realisable value for such items based primarily
on the latest invoice prices, sales after year end and current market
conditions less all estimated costs and expenses necessary to
sell the products. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount
of inventories, net of allowance for inventory of HK$25,950,000,
was HK$81,204,000 (2023: net of allowance for inventory of
HK$23,291,000, was HK$77,614,000).

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(9)

Actuarial assumptions on defined benéefit retirement plans
Accounting for defined benefit plans may be complex because
actuarial assumptions are required to measure the obligation and
the expense, with the possibility that actual results differ from the
assumed results. These differences are known as actuarial gains
and losses. Defined benefit obligations are measured using the
Projected Unit Credit Method (“PUCM"), according to which the
Group has to make a reliable estimate of the amount of benefits
earned in return for services rendered in current and prior periods,
using actuarial techniques. In addition, in cases where defined
benefit plans are funded, the Group has to estimate the fair value
of plan assets. As a result, the use of the PUCM involves a number
of actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include demographic
assumptions such as mortality, turnover and retirement age and
financial assumptions such as discount rates, salary and benefit
levels. Such assumptions are subject to judgements and may
develop materially differently than expected and therefore may
result in significant impacts on defined benefit obligations.

The carrying amount of retirement benefit as at 31 December 2024
was HK$1,543,000 in assets (2023: HK$1,391,000).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign

currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from
its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its
financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial
institutions, foreign exchange translations and other financial
instruments. The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial institutions
with high credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating
agencies, for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to
the Group's established policy, procedures and control relating to
customer credit risk management. Individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer,
the Group uses an internal credit system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer.
Limits to customers are reviewed regularly. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 30% (2023: 26%) of
the total trade receivables were due from the Group's seven largest
customers as at 31 December 2024 and all of the customers are
located in the Mainland China and Taiwan (2023: Mainland China
and Taiwan).

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. Customers with significant outstanding balances
with gross carrying amounts of HK$199,000 as at 31 December
2024 were assessed individually (2023: HK$315,000).
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group'’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

6. MXKAMEE®
(b) EERKE)
B 5 fE W IR X ()
TREGEBAEER T _maE
+-A=+—AFEYBSREKE

December 2024: R EERREBHEEBEZE
%
The Group 2024
AEBR-ZF-MF
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RHEsER IREAE BEEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
% FHET THET
Current (not past due) BIVHEA (k%81 HA) 0.43% 51,622 223
1 - 180 days past due #HR1Z180H 1.70% 11,213 191
181 = 360 days past due #HER1812360H 2.64% 4,508 119
More than 360 days past due %8 BB #8360 H 11.21% 1,534 172
Assessed individually (ERIERE 100% 199 199
69,076 9204
The Group 2023
AEBP-_ZT-_=F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TR IR FREEE EIR RS
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% TAET T
Current (not past due) BUER (R HA) 0.59% 54279 318
1- 180 days past due #HA1Z=180H 1.58% 19916 314 ®
181 ~ 360 days past due BER181 23601 2.53% 3516 g @
More than 360 days pastdue 8 HiB #3601 1237% 485 60~

Assessed individually

(BRI

100% 315 315 m
» C

78511 1,096 @&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

/’ BE-T-ME A=t HILEE
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. MBERER®
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERBRE)
Trade receivables (Continued) B 5 EWR(E)
Mainland China 2024
FEAER-—F_F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEE=R IREAE EERE
% HK$'000 HK$’000
% FET THERT
Current (not past due) BUER (R HA) 0.36% 29,890 109
1- 180 days past due #HA1Z=180H 1.63% 10,819 176
181 = 360 days past due BHI1812360H 2.64% 4,508 119
More than 360 days pastdue 8 HfiEB 33601 11.51% 1,408 162
Assessed individually (EhERE - - -
46,625 566

Mainland China 2023
PR ARERN T - =4

Expected Gross carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

TEERE R X FRE 4218 EEEE

% HK$'000 HK$'000

% FAET FABT

Current (not past due) BUH (R HA) 0.34% 34,846 118
1 - 180 days past due #ER1 2180 1.62% 15978 259
181 - 360 days past due BH181 23608 201% 3339 67
More than 360 days past due 7 EfiEB#8360H 12.37% 485 60
Assessed individually &R R A - - -
54,648 504
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_M&E+-_A=+—HLEE

6. UIEEKREE®
(b) 1SEEBR(E)

Trade receivables (Continued) B 5 EWERR (B)
Taiwan 2024

AER-Z-NEF
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEE=R BRI 48 E EEEE
% HK$'000 HK$’000
% FHET THERT
Current (not past due) BUEF (R HA) 0.53% 21,522 114
1- 180 days past due #HA1Z=180H 7.25% 207 15
181 = 360 days past due #ER1812360H = = =
More than 360 days pastdue  #81HAA #8360 H = = =
Assessed individually (ERIERES 100% 199 199
21,928 328

Taiwan 2023

BER_T_=F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TREAE IR X BRI 4218 EEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% FAT FHBT
Current (not past due) BHR (R HA) 1.04% 19,204 200
1-180 days past due EHR1E180H 1.53% 3,587 55
181 - 360 days past due #3181 2360 37.50% 8 3
More than 360 days past due 31 #iB3B360H - - -

Assessed individually ERIREE 100% 315 315 ®
s
23114 573
fg ‘! S
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@
o
@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_BE-_NME+_-_A=+—HILtEE

6

. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

6. HERAMEE®

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERRE)
Trade receivables (Continued) B S EWERR(B)
Others 2024

HR —F - HF
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEE=R BRI 48 E BERE
% HK$'000 HK$’000
% FHET THERT
Current (not past due) BUER (R HA) - 210 -
1- 180 days past due #HA1Z=180H = 187 =
181 = 360 days past due EER1812360H = = =
More than 360 days pastdue 8 HiB 383601 7.94% 126 10
Assessed individually (BRI ERE - -
523 10

Others 2023

EMR—T==%F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEERE R FREAE EEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% FHET FHBT
Current (not past due) BHR (R HA) - 229 -
1= 180 days past due BH1ZE180H - 351 -
181 - 360 days past due BHI 1815360 H 11.24% 169 19
More than 360 days past due  #1 #ifB 38360 H - - -
Assessed individually (ERIERE - - -
749 19

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past few years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group's view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure relevant information about specific customers is updated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HEZ-_MF+_A=+—HIFE

BEREERE®

FERRE@E
B2 BWIRM(E)
AEER SRR BREER

receivables during the year is as follows: ZEamT
2024 2023
SBoME T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 1 January ®n—AH—H 1,096 5,147
Reversal of allowance for trade receivables, net & S EUER R EH BB - F5E (124) (4,076)
Exchange differences M =5 (68) 25
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 904 1,096

The following significant changes in the gross carrying amounts of
trade receivables contributed to the decrease in the loss allowance
during 2024:

- origination of new trade receivables net of those settled
resulted in a decrease in allowance of HK$124,000 (2023:
HK$4,076,000).

Financial assets at amortised cost

All of the Group's financial assets at amortised cost are considered
to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance recognised during
the period was therefore limited to 12-month expected losses.
Other instruments are considered to be low credit risk when they
have a low of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. The directors
of the Company consider the ECL on these financial assets are
insignificant as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

R-ZE-MFE - U TNESREWER
FREREERNEEHNEIERE
B

- FEE SRR (RS
VB ) 2 BB R 40124,00078
TL(ZE == : 4076,000/8
JL) °

RBMRATIE Y SREE
NERFERBIEKATIES S8

BEZ EEAREBBARE  ®

HEAP R B R BRI 128 A
TR - f4E M T AR HRRIE

MRAT A BB A NG EB R B 1T ®
AR ZRERERM MM
TEZEERAREARE R-F e
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s bank borrowings
and other financial liabilities, based on undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting
period) and the earliest date the Company can be required to pay.

Specifically, for bank borrowings which contain a repayment
on demand clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole
discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on the
earliest period in which the entity can be required to pay, that
is if the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights to call
the loans with immediate effect. The maturity analysis for other
financial liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment

6.
(c)

B 75 LB

EEm)
FEBELER
AEEYREATHERARE
By RBEL TR KBRS

B R AR e BN RS
EEERHRORBESHE

TRINFAEBRITEREE S
BABENHREMEEE B ERNRE,
RASRE(BRRAEON XL
(M AZBMR)ENBERHEEE
HERITHXRFHEOF BT E

KRB AJREWMBERNRZHZE B
WEIRAHFIHAR -

ARmE WL EREZIERK
(TEE%E«TE%E’J E176E) AV R ﬁ1a
R DITERBIE B AEE

ﬁmﬁ’]riﬁﬂﬁ(ﬁﬂfhﬁ )\fﬂ%
HfE (G RER) 7 B Y B & 5R) T 2
Emfﬁiumﬂj HithemaEmns

DITRIFETBIE R A HmE -

dates.
Maturity Analysis - Undiscounted cash outflows
HBET-RERRBRE
Within Between Between Over
On demand 1year 1and2years 2to5years 5years Total
REX -fR -ERF WEEF  AENE st
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
At 31 December 2024 R=B-mF
+-A=1+-H
Trade and other payables BHREMENER = 93,452 = = = 93,452
Amount due to related parties  JEA BB 77 ZE = 284 = = - 284
Borrowings fE s 42,833 26,041 15,337 118,458 = 202,669
Lease liabilites BEER - 7,009 7,190 4,964 2,417 21,580
At 31 December 2023 WITZ=fF
TZA=+-H
Trade and other payables B9 REMERER - 88,715 - - - 88,715
Amount due to related parties  JE{ BEE /7 3008 - 241 - - - 241
Borrowings EE 134853 33456 3498 - - 171,807
Lease liabilties HEAR - 3737 4215 3003 4101 15256
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. The
amounts include interest payments computed using contractual
rates. As a result, these amounts were greater than the amounts
disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the maturity analysis
contained above. Taking into account the Company's financial
position, the directors do not consider that it is probable that
the banks will exercise their discretion to demand immediate
repayment. The directors believe that such bank borrowings will
be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set

ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_M&E+-_A=+—HLEE

BEERER®
(0 #FBELEAKRGE

TRBAMHFEREREEFROR
TERBRBER GRS 2 HEE
FEMRIEL DB DN - B
SHEEEERSONXAEZHE
MK Bt - WESERR L
FHIMBE WP IREREHEE
FIRBEZ S8 - st RARBZHHE
AR - EERBBRITIAARERT
B ERAFERNEERE - EFMH
& AERTERSEREBEERD
BATE  EEERBMMER

out in the loan agreements.

Maturity Analysis - bank borrowings subject to a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayments
HHELM-BERCERZRERERERRE 2 RTEX
Total

Within Between Between undiscounted
1year 1and2years 2to5years cash outflows
REREE
—FR —-EWF MERE e okl
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FEL FET FET
At 31 December 2024 A—E-ME
+ZA=t-H
Borrowings &% 33,097 1,604 10,718 45,419
At 31 Decemnber 2023 RZBZ=fF
+-A=+—~H
Borrowings AR 160,814 9915 - 170,729 ’
&
o
-
%'..'
@
—TonEsR  aRxEnngarRad o, 166
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to variable-
rate bank loans. It is the Group's policy to keep its borrowing at
floating rate of interest so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR") arising from the Group’s Renminbi
denominated borrowing.

The Group's fixed time deposits bear interests at fixed interest rates
and therefore are subject to fair value interest rate risks.

The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank
deposits and bank borrowings. These deposits and borrowings
bear interests at variable rates that vary with the then prevailing
market condition.

At 31 December 2024, if interest rates had been 25 (2023: 25) basis
points higher with all other variables held constant, consolidated
profit after tax for the year would have been HK$136,000 (2023:
HK$8,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of higher interest
expense on bank and other borrowings, and the equity would
have been HK$136,000 (2023: HK$8,000) lower, arising mainly as a
result of a decrease in the fair value of fixed rate FVTOCI financial
assets. If interest rates had been 25 (2023: 25) basis points lower,
with all other variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax
for the year would have been HK$136,000 (2023: HK$8,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of lower interest expense on bank and
other borrowings, and the equity would have been HK$136,000
(2023: HK$8,000) higher, arising mainly as a result of an increase in
the fair value of fixed rate FVTOCI financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. MBAMER@®
(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 December: (€ R+T=-H=+—HzE€®mIA
Al -
2024 2023
—E_NE At et o
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Financial assets: SREE :
Financial assets measured at amortised cost REENAGTEZSMEE 192,874 252,614
Financial liabilities: TREME:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEAYIR @R EBE 285,988 260,763
(f)  Fairvalues H 2FE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and financial REBRERE P AR R KR A =l
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial ZeRMEERERBERAMBESER
position approximate their respective fair values. EBRATEEE -
7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. DFEFE
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to NEEEMS2EE CBRETER - &
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants BRRXGHTHEEEB KR SEEZE G
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value BZAAEERE - TXAFEAEZHE
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels EREABHEATEMBHELEZ
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: WARBBER=ZBAERZATERERXR
K
Level 1inputs:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F-RBAE: AEERF=AH
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access AR ZERE
at the measurement date. EEERERT
5B R H
%) - .
&
Level 2inputs:  inputs other than quoted prices included within level E-RBARE: BE-RAEER °
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either BLUAINEESBE
directly or indirectly. BEESHEEANER ’
y or indirectly 3;: CIEES X m ¥
ZBABIE o
-
Level 3inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. FEoREAZRE: EEXKEETIUSH
R ZBAEIE ©
Q
@
—TomEsR aREspngaRaa o, 167
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)
/
-
=4

BE_FT_NMFE+_A=1t—HLHFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any
of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances

7. AYETE®
AEEHEPER-FABRTBZE
W EHRBEREHEACEAR

that caused the transfer. g o
(a) Disclosure of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 (@@ RT+=ZA=Z+—HRAFERERRKX
December: EEBEEER
Fair value measurements using: Total
AFEFERA Fo
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024
- ER ®=H —E-E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TERT FAET
Recurring fair value REMEATETE:
measurements:
Investment properties (note 20) 1% & ¥ % (I 5£20)
- Commercial units = Taiwan -EEEMN-5E - - 10,808 10,808
- Industrial buildings and land - THERERTH
- Mainland China - R B K RE = = 179,213 179,213
- - 190,021 190,021
Fair value measurements using: Total
NEEERA 4BEr
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023
F—1 EZR =K ZTZ=F
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FET
Recurring fair value REMALETZ
measurements:
Investment properties (note 20) 3% & ¥ 2 (M 5£20)
- Commercial units = Taiwan -HEEEM-/E - - 10,463 10,463
- Industrial buildings and land -THERER T
~Mainland China - R K e - - 207,225 207,225
- - 217,688 217,688
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERAR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_T_HNF+-_A=t—HLFE

7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) N ETFE®
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based (b) BEBEE=ZHRBRALEFEZE
on Level 3: EYER:
Investment
Investment properties -
properties - Mainland
Description Taiwan China Total
REYE REYE
it -A8 - B KBE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET
At 1 January 2023 R=ZE-=F—H—H 9,917 218,797 228714
Total gains or losses recognised in B R U a sk B 18
profit or loss (#) AW 482 (6,246) (5,764)
Exchange difference b H = 64 (5,326) (5,262)
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=F
1 January 2024 +ZA=F+—AK
—E-mF—H—H 10,463 207,225 217,688
Total gains or losses recognised in B & R Y U & Sk B 18
profit or loss (#) ) 1,122 (20,849) (19,727)
Exchange difference EH = (777) (7,163) (7,940)
At 31 December 2024 R _MF
+=-A=+—H 10,808 179,213 190,021
(#) Include gains or losses for assets BRENREHHEESE
held at end of reporting period HIFEEERER 1,122 (20,849) (19,727)

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss including those

assets and liabilities at end of reporting period are presented in the
other income and other gains of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

REDRER 2 KEHEEAR(E
EZENRENEEE
BB EGARE A EE KL
REOEMK AT 2 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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7.

/////ﬁi:g:m¢+:ﬂ:+—5¢¢§

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2024:

The Group's chief financial officer (“CFO") is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. The
CFO reports directly to the Board of Directors for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and results are
held between the CFO and the Board of Directors at least twice a
year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised professional
qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations.
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7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group

7. AVEFE®
(c)

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2024: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_MOF+_A=t—HLEE

EEAEEREAGERRFU
RR-ZZB-_mF+=-RA=1+—
BZAFETEFRERMGES
ERBABBZEEER : (&)
E=MAFEHE

Effect on fair value

Description Valuation technique  Unobservable inputs Range  forincrease of inputs Fair value
BARBEMY
i fhEL% TURERARE g8 AYEXE DYHE
2024 2023
“RCRE —To=F
HK$'000 HK$000
ThARL TAT
Investment properties  Mix of direct comparison  Yield 188%(2023:191%)  Decrease 10,808 10463
=~ Commercial units method and income
= Taiwan (note 20) capitalisation method
REM% ERUBEENAE Rk 188% (2= 1 191%)  BP
-BREN Mokia
- B (M)
Monthly market rent HKS43.867-  Increase
HKS45,052/ping
(2023:HK$42,239~
HK$43,829/ping)
FAMGHES BYTETRASSET/ I I
(ZEZ=F:0n981%
1382987/ 4F)
Investment properties = Income capitalisation ~ Yield 5-5.75%(2023:5-5.7%)  Decrease 179,213 207,225
Industrial buildingsand ~ method
land - Mainland China
(note 20)
REMZ LON-v.X(#7 K% 5575 Y
-TE¥RERTH ZTIZF 55T
- REIARE (FiEE20)
Monthly market rent HKS35-38 per square  Increase
meter per month ®
(2023: HK$33-41 per
square meter per month) . &
FAMSES BYRABABEREEL M °

(CZZZF:§THR
BRABETZNET)

There were no change in the valuation technique used for the

above investment properties.

HIRE YRR A A S E ML »
EEE -

R CFEFR

aRzewdaaRaa -, A7

s @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

/’ BE-T-ME A=t HILEE

-

8. REVENUE 8. WA
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (@) WABA
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by REEZRFZEEMRRBEHEEE S
major products and service lines for the year is as follows: RABFPEHZWARMANAT
2024 2023
—FomE O —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Revenue from contracts with customers  RE B ISR EE R F155 8
within the scope of HKFRS 15 ARBEFEHZWA
Disaggregated by major products or EIZERIRBEESE
service lines
Sales of goods EmiHE 350,388 331,943
Service income AR 75 2= 3,263 4072
353,651 336,015
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8. REVENUE (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HEZ-_MF+_A=+—HIFE

8. WAm
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued) (@) WABA(E)
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services REBHWARBR T EZRS
over time and at a point in time in the following major service lines &0 [E] N b 6w g Ber ] N 70 28 (Bl e ) B4
and geographical regions: EREm&R
For the year ended 31 December Mainland China Taiwan Others Total
BE+-A=t-HLEE hE KR Al Hito @5t
2024 2003 2024 2003 2024 2003 2024 2003
ZBCME -T-=F CZBIME —T-=F ZBOME —T-=F CBCME CTCo=F
HKS000  HKSO00  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000
TEn FET FiEx THT TEn FAT FiEx THT
Primary geographical markets FEHETS
- Mainland China -hEIARE 255,176 237750 = 641 & = 255,176 238,391
~Taiwan = - - 91,458 84105 - - 91,458 8,105
- Others -Hip - - 643 - 6,374 13519 7,017 13519
Segment revenue G ON 255,176 27750 92,101 84746 6,374 13519 353,651 336015
Intersegment revenue AEHBEBA = - - - - - - o
Revenue from external customers RENPEP 2B 255,176 237750 92,101 84746 6,374 13519 353,651 336015
Timing of revenue recognition BB Z K
Products transferred at a point in time REARESERER 252,749 234,254 92,013 84,746 5,626 12943 350,388 331943
Products and services transferred over time ~ BERS & & 2 & R 2,427 3496 88 - 748 576 3,263 4072
Total @it 255,176 27750 92,101 84746 6,374 13519 353,651 336015
Transaction price allocated to the remaining b)) P7HEEEFEANKRTENR

performance obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December

2024 and the expected timing of recognising revenue as follows:

B2RXHE®K
RZE-_NF+=—_A=+—H " 5

REH T CGREEMR B S R #E

) BHBT 2 X5 BIERERK

A TEST BRI T - 9

2024 2023 -
—EmE —_E-=F

HK$000 HKS'000 %

FExT FET O
B
Within one year —FR 18,339 19,639
@
<
@

—TomEER  aRsswNssRan o | 173



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_BE-_NME+_-_A=+—HILtEE

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS 9. Htzm=MAIEF
2024 2023
SBoOE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest income on bank deposits RITFRF B UA 847 1,508
Rental income from investment properties REYE 2 BE WS 242 244
Rental income from other properties and s R o He s
equipment 1,463 2,537
Government grants (note) BB & (fEE) 381 464
Gain on derecognition of right of use assets RIETER AR E E 2 W 5 101
Others HAt 1,286 3,029
4,224 7,883
Note: The government grants mainly represent unconditional research BT - BUT B © = EEE G EIE B B
and development project subsidies and other subsidies. (2023: Local LEAMFER - (ZTEZ=F : BN
government in compensation for taxes incurred and paid by certain HASEE THREABELEMBARE
subsidiaries of the Group operating in Mainland China.) ARSI REEE <)

10. REVERSAL OF ALLOWANCE FOR TRADE 10. 5 EWERRERE - FiE

RECEIVABLES, NET
2024 2023
—E-_E =
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHETT
Reversal of allowance for trade receivables, net 28 5 E UL BR 2R B 55 3¢ [a] - &8 (124) (4,076)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has three (2023: three) reportable segments as follows:

1: Mainland China
2% Taiwan
34 Others (Hong Kong and Malaysia)

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units that offer
different products and services. They are managed separately because
each business requires different technology and marketing strategies.

The Group’s other reportable segment includes certain inactive
operations. None of the segments meets any of the quantitative
thresholds for determining reportable segment. The information of the
other operating segments is included in the “others” column.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those
described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. Segment
profits or losses do not include central administration costs, directors’
salaries and interest income.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") makes decisions
according to operating results of each segment. No analysis of segment
asset and segment liability is presented as the CODM does not regularly
review such information for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue and segment
results are presented.

e I ERAR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_T_HNF+-_A=t—HLFE

7 EER
AEEEUT=EACE_=4;

AERESE

=&

1. HEKREE
=y
Hip(FBERERAD)

RER B 2 Al s ) BPE BR AN R EE am AN

RAG 2 RBEEISEA - ARBEBTE

TR R & RS WIRET D RE

TR -

AEEMEMAIRE D PREETTE

EE%%‘ ZEDEEAKREIREERT
REDHZE2PIE - ZEEMKED

ﬁBZéﬁﬂ%ﬁE@FEMJJ—Wﬁ

RED gt R AR A B % R MY
FEAPTILE R - DRRBRE T BIEPRIT
BER  EEHMERNSWA -

TELERRA(EEZEEREADR
BEDOMOEERBEEHRE - BN E
BEERRAALARRERD B RFFER
EMBEMTERERNZSTEN  HALE2
SINFEERDEABH DN - Bt
B2 BUWA R DEBEAE

b
=
=

—TOMFEFH  BRXEVPRERAT

Q@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

7 For the year ended 31 December 2024

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 1. &R @
Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets AREsHzEE EEREEE
and liabilities: #
Mainland
China Taiwan Others Total
rh Bl K fE =) | Hty st
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET FET FET
Year ended 31 December BE-_Z-WE+=
2024 A=+—-HLFE
Revenue from external customers 3R B SMNEBERFE Z WA 255,176 92,101 6,374 353,651
Segment (loss)/profit o EB(E51R),m (100,359) 4,458 (2,244) (98,145)
Finance costs BhE KA 7,689 255 101 8,045
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #12 + BB M & &
and equipment e 23,205 2,869 231 26,305
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEERE
assets 2,602 2,060 700 5,362
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HEME - BERE
property, plant and equipment &2 Wz, (E518) 35 155 (9) 181
Written off of property, W - BB NEE
plant and equipment L (232) (13) (10) (255)
(Reversal of allowance)/ T E (R
allowance for slow-moving @) B
inventories 290 3,986 (44) 4,232
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE (24,806) = = (24,806)
Impairment loss on property, WE - BE KRR
plant and equipment B8 (4,153) - - (4,153)
Fair value (loss)/gain on wEWMEZNTE
investment properties (B18), W= (20,849) 1,122 = (19,727)
Inventories write-off FEMHE 1,435 533 = 1,968
Reversal of allowance for trade & 5 & Uk B 50845
receivables, net e CIRIE 2 83 (207) = (124)
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR R MR

Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets

11.

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_MOF+_A=t—HLEE

DEER @

AHEIHzER EEREEER

and liabilities: (Continued) &
Mainland
China Taiwan Others Total
B KB = HAh st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T FAET FHET
Year ended 31 December BE-ZE-=F+=
2023 A=+—-HLFE
Revenue from external customers 2R B MNIBR = 2 A 237,750 84,746 13,519 336,015
Segment (loss)/profit o EB(E51R), (12,670) 4,578 4,508 (3,584)
Finance costs A KA 7,681 335 115 8,131
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% - &= M &EIT
and equipment 3 16,729 4,046 206 20,981
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEERE
assets 2,906 2,096 667 5,669
Gain on disposal of property, LEWE - BEKE
plant and equipment Bz W 98 - - 98
Loss on derecognition of right-  #% |F SR FARE A =
of-use assets 2 518 107 - - 101
(Reversal of allowance)/ T E (B
allowance for slow-moving [0), Bt
inventories (3,626) 4,874 (375) 873
Inventories write-off FEMHE 2,572 296 - 2,868
Reversal of allowance for trade B 5 FE U BR Fuias 5 8%
receivables 5] (1,976) (2,100) - (4,076)
@
- L ]
&w{
a
@
@ @
T EFR
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RE B ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

/’ HE-Z-ME+-A=+—ALEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 2 EER @
Reconciliations of segment revenue, profit or loss and ﬁ%ﬁ”ﬂll CEBEEREEHEK:
assets:
2024 2023
—E-NF —ETo=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Revenue ON
Total revenue of reportable segments AT o EP AR A 353,651 336,015
Profit or loss B#
Total loss of reportable segments AlRE D H e EE (98,145) (3,584)
Unallocated corporate expenses RABARZL (7,909) (9,793)
Unallocated income R ELdas 847 1,508
Consolidated loss before tax BRIAIAR S SR (105,207) (11,869)
Geographical information: IEER -
The Group's information about its non-current assets by location of assets AEBREEMTHEDNIIERBEE
are detailed below: ZERFBEYET

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBxT FHET

Non-current assets ERBEE
Mainland China N 173 411,086 454,953
Taiwan =y 52,137 58,121
Others Hfh 2,826 1,813
Consolidated total AR 466,049 514,887

Note: Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_T-_M&+-_A=+—HLEE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 1. 7HER @
Revenue from major customers: REFEEFZKA :
No customer accounted for 10 percent or more of the Group's revenue MERFPEAEE S _mER_T=
for both years 2024 and 2023. =FIRAZ10%3 A L o
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. BE KA
2024 2023
SBoME T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Interest on borrowings BRFLE 7,460 7,019
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 21) HEE GRS FHE21) 585 1,112
8,045 8,131
@
&
!"_|°
a
@
00
a@?
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_BE-_NME+_-_A=+—HILtEE

13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as follows:

13. FIBH(ER) BxX
BRI AR

2024 2023
—EMEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current tax — PRC Enterprise income tax (‘EIT")  BIEAREIE - PR EFTBRH
([ ZFT1SHL)
Provision for the year FNEAE 327 1,001
327 1,001
Current tax — Taiwan Corporate income tax BVERARIIE - 8B EATSH
Provision for the year FNRE 1,813 2,115
Over provision in prior years BAFERERE (399) (424)
1,414 1,691
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax and others ~ BIEAFEIE - HEFIS R E A
Provision for the year FREME 568 1,000
Over provision in prior years BAEFEREBRE (278) -
290 1,000
Withholding tax TR 1,012 179
Deferred tax (note 33) IRIERLIE (T 5E33) (4,635) (629)
(1,592) 3,242

PRC EIT has been provided at a rate of 25% (2023: 25%). The statutory
withholding income tax rate for non-PRC resident is 10% (2023:10%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Taiwan,
dividend withholding tax is imposed at a rate of 10% (2023: 10%) and
21% (2023: 21%) on dividends that are declared in respect of profits
earned by the PRC and Taiwan subsidiaries respectively and that are
received by non-local resident entities. No withholding tax on dividends
(2023: no withholding tax) and HK$822,000 (2023: Nil) were recognised
for the PRC and Taiwan respectively for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Corporate Income Tax in Taiwan has been provided at a rate of 20% (2023:
20%).

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HKS2 million of profits
of the qualifying group entity established in Hong Kong will be taxed at
8.25% (2023: 8.25%), and profits above that amount will be subject to
the tax rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). The profits of the group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime will continue to be
taxed at a rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group's subsidiaries
operate, based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in
respect thereof.

e I ERAR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_T_HNF+-_A=t—HLFE

13. FIBHLGER) B (@

R B oK RE & &R A B R
AR B ARE K B KB A R BRI TS
i F) 1 BRI B FEANH B RO FE U Z
BB - BRETEMBESBA10%(ZEZ
=F 0% R2I%(ZFEZ=F 1 21%) °
HE-_ZT-_W&F+-_A=+—HLHF
E - FRKETEERREBNHCE
—:i'iﬁ& ﬁmm) & E R

BIEMF822,0008 (= _=F :
2%

BEBLEMBMRIE20%(ZFE_=F:
20%) T R FH R -

REMBFESHHE  EEBRLHE
ﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁmézwww%iﬁﬂ%
825%( =T — = F 1 825%) B REF -

ﬁiﬂ&é%%mﬂ%&ma%_yz
=4 2 16.5%) B R o MRNSEL S
ETHEEREBRBTEENGHER
16.5%(ZFE = =4F : 16.5%) Fi KT -

AN ER B 2 B A b 15 AT A A R SR A i A

REBETHBEARZEREREERZ
BERBED - RBRED - RERT

BEFTERIALH -

—TOMFEFH  BRXEVPRERAT

Q@



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

/’ BE-T-ME A=t HILEE

-

3. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued) 13. FIBHGER) B @
The reconciliation between the income tax (credit)/expense and the FriS % (3K ) /B = Ed B A BT 18 3k LA
product of loss before tax multiplied by the PRC EIT rate is as follows: PRI EMERBE 2 ERERAT
2024 2023
—E-mE TE =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss before tax BT ARS8 (105,207) (11,869)
Tax at the PRC EIT rate of 25% (2023: 25%) BPBEEMEHHELR( T
=4 25%)FHERIE (26,302) (2,967)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible DAIF T 2 B & 12,264 2,215
Tax effect of income that are not taxable ARG 2 B2 (1,119) (5,886)
Tax effect on deemed sale of gift item RIELEERNBBEE 987 626
Deferred tax liabilities on undistributed earnings & BFRBIKFE K& & &M B AR 2 K5
of the PRC and Taiwan subsidiaries KB EERIBEE 218 144
Tax effect of temporary difference and unused ~ RIERE E#%gﬁ)ﬁ?ﬁ@)ﬁﬁ TIAEE
tax losses not recognised 18737 14,127 8,491
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously &)/ 4t Bil ﬂiﬁﬁp HIBBE BB E
recognised (1,030) (1,042)
Over provision in prior years BEFERERE (670) (424)
Withholding tax on income earned by non- FEE R ERATREUR AR TENR
resident entities 1,012 179
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MB AR TRME B2 (899) (157)
Others HAtb (180) 2,063
Income tax (credit)/expense FTisHi (%), Fx (1,592) 3,242
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14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

14. XEEEE

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the

following:

AEBAFEBEREMR,GEA) T3

KIF :

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Amortisation of contract costs EYohws ! 34 36
Auditor's remuneration for audit services ZEHEE BZERBH e
- Audit services - ZE RS 2,083 2,159
- Non-audit services - IR ER T 200 200
Reversal of allowance for trade receivables, net B ZfEU BR s B B[O - JF%5E (124) (4,076)
Allowance for slow-moving inventories (included s $571F & B # (G A S8 S AAN)
in cost of sales) 4,232 873
Inventories write-off (included in cost of sales)  TF & Hfi$8 GF ASHE R A) 1,968 2,868
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense BERRAERST 2 FEKA 133,008 127,956
Direct operating expenses of properties and AEAHESWE s MERBBEEL
equipment that generate rental income EH X 478 456
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #1% « = M REFTE 26,305 20,981
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (included in  {# A& EITE GFASEEMA -
cost of sales, distribution and selling expenses D5 M IEER S RITHES)
and administrative expenses) 5,362 5,669
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 24,806 -
Impairment loss on property, plant and W - BE RERERERE
equipment 4,153 -
Fair value loss on investment properties WEMEZ N HEBRE 19,727 5,764
(Gain)/loss on disposals of property, plant and HEME  BELEZEZ
equipment (k) /EiE (181) 98
Gain on disposals of right-of-use assets HEFAREE = (5) (101)
Written off of property, plant and equipment M - R MR E 255 -
Advertising and promotion expenses EERHEERY 32,526 19,611
Research and development cost A AN 2,343 3451
Net exchange (gain)/loss B3 (W), BEFE (350) 53
Cost of inventories sold included staff cost, depreciation and operating BEFERNABEE TRA « ITERK

lease charges of approximately HK$23,279,000 (2023: HK$21,738,000)
which are included in the amounts disclosed separately.

B

ZETINEER

BIEBAA23,279,0008T(ZE=
F 1 21,738000/87T) - WEHEBFFABKE

@

BARAXEMNEERAT

&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

/////ﬁi:g:m¢+:ﬂ:+—5¢¢§

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

15. ETHRANEHR

2024 2023
—EC-lEF —E-=fF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FHET
Employee benefits expense (including directors’: 8 TiEFIZR(BIEEZHL)
emoluments):
Salaries, bonuses and allowances Fa - LA RpoREh 140,644 109,105
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RREF T8I 5K
~ Defined contribution plans - ERRH G E 10,998 9,035
- Defined benefit plan - EREEHETE 16 8
151,658 118,148
Five highest paid individuals hEEESHFMAL

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year ended 31

December 2024, one was the chief executive officer whose emoluments

are reflected in the analysis presented in note 16(a) to the consolidated

financial statements. The emoluments of the five individuals including

AEBHEE T -_NMFEF+_-_A=+—H
FFERAEaTMALTHN—R AT

BaEE - HMEER&Ea

B 7% SR MY it

16@F DT AR - AR AL (BIETT

the chief executive officer are set out below: BBE) 2 MemT
2024 2023
—E-MEF —Eo=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FHET

Basic salaries, housing allowance, other EXHE  FERM  EMEMEE

allowances and benefits in kind YrtaH| 8,194 8314
Discretionary bonus FETEAL 1,537 1,013
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RREFET B 3R 161 295
9,892 9,622
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Continued) 15. EIRANERA®
The emoluments fell within the following band: HE&A8RmT -

Number of individuals
AE
2024 2023
TEDWE T =F

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T 2 1,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 7T 2 2,500,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7T 2 3,000,000/ 7T 1 5
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,0017 7T 2 3,500,000/ 7T = 1
During the year, no amount was paid or payable by the Group to the RAFE  AEBWEZFHERMNTX
directors or any of the five highest paid individuals set out below as an FHEEE TN AEEaHFMAT IR
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for B ERRSIEEMBSRMBEREE
loss of office. W 28D - SYERBERLR 2 FHE -
@
&
-
s
& B
a
@
<
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

7 For the year ended 31 December 2024

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 16. EEEARER
(a) Director and Chief Executive Officer emoluments (a) EERTHARMNS
The remuneration of each director and chief executive officer is set BEE RTHREE 2 3o & at a0

out below: K
Employer's
contribution
Salariesand  Discretionary toaretirement
Fees allowances bonus benefit scheme Total
ExH
RIER
ne FEOREH WAL HE LofiE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2024 —E-mE THER TET THET FET THET
Executive Directors HiTES
Dr. LEI Chien (alias Joanna LE) EBEEL(ER)

(Chairperson) 1,000 = = = 1,000
Mr. LIN Chia-Wei (note (i) MR8 5 4 () 250 = = = 250
Ms. LIN Yen-Ling (note (i) MR 2 (B i) 240 1,661 = 22 1,923

1,490 1,661 - 2 3,173
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. CHEN Shou-Huang BRpEEE 370 = = = 370
Ms. LU Yu-Min (alias Vicky LU) R 2 (FEky)

(note (iv)) - - - - -
Ms. LIN Shu-Hua MREL T 240 = = = 240

610 - - - 610
Independent BUFHTES

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long RinkE %A

(alias Steve CHEN) 370 - - - 370
Mr. LU Chi-Chant (note (i) EEEbR A E0) - - - - -
Mr. YANG Shih-Chien BHgLE 370 = = = 370
Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang MER LA )

(alias William LIN (note (if)) 370 - - - 370

1,110 - - - 1,110
Total directors’ emoluments EE e 3,210 1,661 - 22 4,893
Chief Executive Officer THAR
Mr. CHENG Chi-Chung (note (v) BB 2504 (HiHE () = 1,706 456 12 2,174
Total for 2024 TR 3,210 3,367 456 34 7,067
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16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+-_A=+—HIEE

16. EET/AIRER @)

Director and Chief Executive Officer emoluments (a) EERTHARMNE®E)
(Continued)
The remuneration of each director and chief executive officer is set BEE RITIREE 2 3 B & i oo
out below: (Continued) T ()
Employer's
contribution
Salaries and Discretionary ~ to aretirement
Fees allowances bonus  benefit scheme Total
ErH
\ ) RixiER
e FeRoeit EiEfa FTEIRMR @t
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§’OOO
2023 —EC=E TET FAT TET TAT TET
Executive Directors BiTES
Dr. LEI Chien (alias Joanna LEI) EREL(ER)

(Chairperson) 1,000 ) 0 - 1,000
Mr.PAN Yi-Fan (alias lvan PAN) &2 L 5L (BH3E()

(note (i)) \ L | i k u
Mr. LIN Chia-Wei (note (i) MR & LA EE ) 250 = = - 250

1,250 - - - 1,250
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Mr. CHEN Shou-Huang RTERE 370 - - - 370
Ms. LU Yu-Min (alias Vicky LU) R 2 ()

(note (iv)) 941 - - - 941
Ms. LIN Shu-Hua WREL T 240 - - - 240

1551 - - - 1551
Independent BUFHTES

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. CHEN Ruey-Long k&

(alias Steve CHEN) 370 - - - 370
Mr. LU Chi-Chant (note (i) BB S A (EE0) - - - - -
Mr. YANG Shih-Chien BEELE 370 - - - 370
Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang MERE A ()

(alias William LIN) (notes (i) 370 - - - 370

1,110 - - - 1,110
Total directors' emoluments e 3911 - - - 3911
Chief Executive Officer THER
Ms. LIN Yen-Ling (note (i) Mg 2 (B 2 i) - 2,660 a 28 3,109
Total for 2023 —Eo=EEs 3911 2660 421 28 7020
a@?
“ECoNFEFR  BRAREYREERAT

Q@



-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

////’@g:g:m¢+:ﬂ:+—a¢¢§

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Director and Chief Executive Officer emoluments

(Continued)
Notes:

(@) Mr. PAN Yi-Fan Ivan (alias Ilvan PAN) and Mr. LU Chi-Chant were
resigned as Directors of the Company on 1 January 2023.

(if) Mr. LIN Chia-Wei and Mr. LIN Tsalm-Hsiang were appointed as
Directors of the Company on 1 January 2023.

(iii) Ms. LIN Yen-Ling was appointed as Director of the Company on
1 January 2024 and resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 2 April
2024, and remain as Director.

(iv) Ms. LU Yu-Min (alias Vicky LU) was resigned as Director of the
Company on 1 January 2024.

) Mr. CHENG Chi-Chung was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on
16 July 2024.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments during the year (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as otherwise disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions and Directors’ Interest in Contracts of Significance”
of this Annual Report, there are no other significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company and the director's connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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16. EET/ARER @)

(a)

(b)

EESRITHRAZME (@)
GEE

) RBREATEREREREN_-F
—=F-R-—BBEARAE
=.

(i) MREEERMBEFEER-F
= -A—REZERELARF
B=-

(i) MBEBRLIN_ZE-_WF—F—
BEZRTARARBESTIN T
—ENA - BEEITRERE
NhES -

vy BERRZIWN-_Z-_NF—F—
HEIARRES -

v BEREENR-_Z-MELAL
NEEZERITHRAEH

FR EBTRABREFNES
MERREBEAME (T ==
FE|E) -

EERRG  REHHEHNZE
R
BAFHRIAEXHREZTNEK
BRZRE]I-MRTTREEI
RERRFAEMESEL EFET
MHAARRBRIIMARRERERA
BBEALTERSEEEAEAER
AEAEEXGERZIEMEAR
5 RHREH



17.

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been paid or proposed during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the reporting period.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$103,615,000
(2023: HK$15,111,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary
share of approximately 2,002,100,932 (2023: 2,002,100,932) in issue during
the year.

No diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 is presented as the Company had no dilutive potential ordinary
shares outstanding.

17.

18.

ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_M&E+-_A=+—HLEE

Bﬁ/%\
HE_Z-_NFEER-_TE_=ZF+_-_A=
+—RHIFER - WARIFERTMA
B8 - BREHEEEHARINAEZ
A% S -

BREE
SREREBETIREARQBES ARMN
REZEIB#103,6150008 T(ZE - =
£ :15111,000870) RFRNBBEITLBK
2 INHESF 15 88#92,002,100,9320 (= F —
=4 :2,002,100932%) 5t & °

HE_T-_NFR-_TE-_=F+=A=
+T—HLEFE  ARAQRWEBRITE
INZESEEBE LR - I ERYER
BEEE -

SECNEFR BAREYNEERAA

Q@



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_MF+-_A=+—RHLFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. 1% - BERRKE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixturesand  Construction
Frecholdland ~  Buildings improvements  Machinery Motorvehicles  equipment inprogress Total
HENE BR &

h i3 £ #2 K& RRE  ERIE 3
HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
ThT  TAr  TAr T TAn TET Tt AT

Cost S
At January 2003 R-2-=¢-R-A 16857 BT 518 305 3103 107798 13276 468362
Additons 5 v 1214 % 1861 i 10550 44705 89346
Disposals & - 3 5 i - 39 - (39
Wite off ki - 7 (999 (14 - 31 = (1232)
Tengfr 8% - F ; 2561 - 1412 B9 -
Euchange difference ERZR o &73) 656 B419) I B471) 7 (1128)
At31 Decernber 2023 and 1 January 204 M-F-=F+-A=+-Rk

“3P%-A-H 16951 240588 54875 4005 3104 104933 391 514057
Addiions e . 5 &) T = 18604 229 4111
Disposdls e - g i 3 3 ) X )
Witeof i . - (52) (12219 (1413 867) - g
Transfer g% - : 13401 51,709 . 1466 (66,59) -
xchange difference EiZE (1,247 (10027) (1955) (2474 ] (5039) (123 (3140
At31 Decernber 2024 NZBIMETZA=T-A 15,704 230561 61315 Al 1518 111,46 7062 54517
Accumulated depreciation Zithe
At lanuary 2003 WZF-=E-f-A - %870 48465 380 2380 87759 - M36
Charge for theyear R - 7067 1755 103 5 10811 - 0%
Dispasdls e - - - - - 39 - 33
Wiiteof s - - 19%) (14 - 22) - (12231
xchange diference EiZE - (1969 (50) (2451) 4 (158) - (5949
At31 December 2023 and 1 January 204 =B =E+ZA=1-RR

ZECRE-A-A - 104069 Q175 32450 2659 85,730 - 274083
Charge for theyear Ex - 6284 444 3633 54 11690 - 26305
Impairment or the year EmifE - - 605 23% - 1152 - 418
Disposals & - - - - - B3 - (3
iteof s - - 658 (217 (1413 8459 - (27306
xchange difference EXZE - (4653 (2062 (1270 (150 (4164 - (1299)
At31 December 2024 NEZRMETZA=1-8 - 105,700 46884 2505 1350 85916 - 264903
Carrying amount Raf
31 December 2024 RZFZMETZA=T-A 15704 1243861 14431 52,08 168 25,330 70602 239614
At31 Decernber 2023 RZBZ=ETZA=T-A 16951 136519 570 7565 445 19203 591 239974
At 31 December 2024, freehold land and buildings amounting to RZEZWMF+=ZB=+—H ' kA%
approximately HK$ 15,704,000 (2023: HK$16,951,000) and HK$ 117,864,000 T+ 30 B F 5 B 4915,704,0008 7T (=
(2023: HK$73,600,000) respectively were pledged as security for the T~ =4 : 16,951,000 7T) K 117,864,000
Group's bank loan (note 30). BIL(ZZE =% : 73,600,000/ 70) B &

HEATNEERITE R 2HET R (T

30) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out the investment properties under operating leases
with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period
of one to five years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease
arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective functional
currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual
value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the
end of lease term.

ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_M&E+-_A=+—HLEE

20. REYHE
FEERBCLAENEREYE %
AgNES - AEMVARREREA—
ERE o

EHERHT  AXRMEHESUEE
BERZHEDERRITE SHAKEY
BAXIINERR - HESNLTEEE
BERE/REEAAREETAREER
YE P32

2024 2023

SBoMOE T =F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

At 1 January n—HA—H 217,688 228,714
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss RIEEP RN FEEIE (19,727) (5,764)
Exchange difference fEH =% (7,940) (5,262)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 190,021 217,688
At 31 December 2024, investment properties amounting to RZZFZWME+=ZA=+—H0 - &EY

approximately HK$179,213,000 (2023: Nil) was pledged as security for the
Group's bank loan (note 30).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at the end of
reporting periods were valued on a mix of direct comparison method
and income capitalisation method. The valuations were performed by
independent firms of chartered surveyors.

There was no change in the valuation approach for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023. The fair value of the Group's investment
properties is within level 3 of the fair value.

HH1792130008 L (ZE-=F : E)E
LIEARNEBRITE R 2 EE R E
30) °

AEBBEMERBEHRHELEFTHOA
YAE Ty A B B e BOR B A & AR E A
GiE - ZEHERBLETIERT
T o
HE_Z-_NFER-_T-_=F+=H=
T—HIEFEZGBEL AN EZS) - K
SEEEMEZATEEATEERSE
—REEA o

@

—TOMFEFH  BRXEVPRERAT

&

Q@
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@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

/’ HE-Z-ME+-A=+—ALEE

-

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 21. EHREEE
Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total
HE L HEWE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
At 1 January 2023 R-_E—_=F—H—H 17,656 23,430 41,086
Additions R 923 923
Derecognition TR T (1,492) (1,492)
Depreciation ?ﬁ% (641) (5,028) (5,669)
Lease modification MEEAT - (3,566) (3,566)
Exchange differences FEHZR (430) (176) (606)
At 31 December 2023 and R-E—=
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—AK
—E-mF—HA—H 16,585 14,091 30,676
Additions R = 11,243 11,243
Derecognition BRI - (96) (96)
Depreciation e (522) (4,840) (5,362)
Exchange differences EHZER (596) (994) (1,590)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-NF
+-A=+— 15,467 19,404 34,871

Lease liabilities of HK$18,381,000 (2023: HKS$13,733,000) are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$33,407,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: HK$30,021,000). The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are
held by the lessor. Leased properties may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

R-ZZE-_WNF+=—_A=+—8"H
EH81E18,381,0008 T(ZE =4 :
13,733,000 L) B EBEREEE
33,407,000/ 7T(ZF = =4 : 30,021,000
) —RER - REEARENHESR
EZW%TE‘ SN - EHZE T HEMNER
Y - HEYETSHIEEERR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_M&E+-_A=+—HLEE

21. EFRAEEE®

2024 2023
—E_NE N T it —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEERE 5,362 5,669
Interest expense on lease liabilities BEAEMNE T HGAREXA)
(included in finance costs) (note 12) (B5E12) 585 1,112
Expenses relating to leases of low value assets B EIKEEEERENF S GFATT
(included in administrative expenses and BRI RS EMEERS)
distribution and selling expenses) 957 774
Expenses relating to short-term lease ERARMEENRS GEATTEAX
(included in administrative expenses and EAHREERR)
distribution and selling expenses) 3,055 2,219

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 39(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

For both years, the Group leases offices, factory plant and land for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of two
to ten years (2023: two to ten years). Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns an office building located in the PRC. The
Group is the registered owner of this property interest, including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the land interest. The leasehold land components of this owned
property is presented separately only if the payments made can be
allocated reliably.

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use
assets related to leasehold lands of HK$15,338,000 (2023: HK$5,645,000)
were pledged as security for the Group’s bank loans (note 30).

HEBRSRHAEFEENGAHBR
REFFE39(0) ©

PREFE  ALEHREHRAE - BE
NI EITERE - eIz HEAR
VR 2+ (2= =&+
F) - MEGRFIREREEREITHER - W
BELBTIEMER RGN - RNETHE
ARFEAHESEz RER - A&
EERANTE RETA XA 8 HIENTT
m%@°

s - AEBE R —IE AR BEARER
BFE o ARB AU RS (BIEERE
ME+i) 2 FMEBA - EFEH—RIE
BNFARELinED - LEAMEL
HE T AEXE D EEER FEDRME
H2 B EFET

RZZT-_WE+—_A=+—8 K&
EEHEEELIHNEREEERAE
15,338,000/ TC(ZZE Z = 4F : 5,645,000/
TO)EEHEAAEBIRITTE R ZIKIE S
(B$7E30) °

—TOMFEFH  BRXEVPRERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

7 For the year ended 31 December 2024

22. GOODWILL 22, BHE

CGU for sale

of cosmetic
products in the
Mainland China

1%

(the “CGU") Others Total
R B K R
HE LAz m
ZHREEE
Bu(RE
ELEN]) Hith st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT FET
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2023 R-—T-—=F—H—H 29,442 5451 34,893
Exchange difference PEH ZR 612) - 612)
At 31 December 2023 and R-ZE—=%F
1 January 2024 TZA=FT—AK
—E-WE—-HA—AH 28,830 5,451 34,281
Exchange difference HEH R (895) - (895)
At 31 December 2024 R_T M4
+ZA=+—H 27,935 5,451 33,386
Accumulated impairment losses 2T REESE
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—H—H 3,764 5451 9,215
Exchange difference fE R Z%E (92) - (92)
At31 December 2023 and 1 January ~ R-ZT - =4
2024 TZA=T—AK
—E_WHE—-HA—H 3,672 5,451 9,123
Impairment loss for the year FRRERBE 24,806 - 24,806
Exchange difference PEH Z%E (543) - (543)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZ M4
+=A=+—¢H 27,935 5,451 33,386
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December 2024 N_ZE_F
+=-A=+—H - - -
At 31 December 2023 A
+=A=+—¢H 25,158 - 25,158
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22. GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated at acquisition
to CGUs expected to benefit from the transaction. Alongside goodwill,
property, plant, equipment, and right-of-use assets that generate cash
flows together with the related goodwill are included in these CGUs for
impairment assessments.

The Group’s sale of cosmetic products in the Mainland China has
been identified as a CGU that is subject to annual impairment test and
whenever there is indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined using a value-in-
use calculation based on discounted cash flows. Cash flow projections
are derived from five-year financial budgets approved by directors,
incorporating key assumptions such as budgeted revenue and gross
margin, which are estimated based on past performance and market
development expectations.

As of 31 December 2024, before any impairment, the carrying amounts
allocated to this CGU were approximately HK$24,806,000 (2023:
HK$25,158,000) for goodwill, HK$212,268,000 (2023: HK$204,001,000) for
property, plant and equipment, and HK$23,638,000 (2023: HK$18,530,000)
for right-of-use assets.

The Mainland China market experienced intensifying competition
during 2024, coupled with changing customer needs and an economic
slowdown. In response, the management revised their marketing
strategy in the second half of 2024 to focus on rapid expansion through
a multi-channel/multi-brand approach and franchise store growth via
agents. While this strategic shift increased operational and personnel
costs, it was deemed necessary for future growth. Because of the
aforesaid, the management has prepared cash flow forecast for the next
five years derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by
the directors.

e I ERAR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_F_MOF+_A=t—HLEE

22. HE®
REBEHHESG 2 BN KRS
FHEPEBRERRHZBEEEENMN -
HBEFTEME BREEHN  WE -
BE - REREERERENTEREE
E EZREEmETAREEESEN -

AR B 0 R B K R 0tk o 8 6 B
FRACELEM  AGFREEME
BREETTRERR -

ROELELY TRELBREURE
SRERAEAEEET - RO RER
AR E T80 T B BB EH,
DEREMARENESHRER - %

SBRTRBBERER TS ERAND
1 -

BHE_Z-_MOMF+=-_A=+—8

RAREBELEEMFBERN  AEE -9
X BELRREAREREEENR

EZRCELAENNERED NN A
24,806,000/ 7L(ZF = =4 : 25,158,000
FETT) 212,268,000 L (ZE =4 ¢
204,001,000/ 7T) %%.23,638,000/8 7L (—E =
=% :18,530,000/87T) °

T oFE - pEAEMSHRFME
BEP®B R BB - Bt
EEER T _MFTEFEIEH
HRE - ZENEBERE/ZREHTH
BROEFRIR - 3% 30 13 7 6 Bh o0 BE 5 3

o HREERABKANEIZM - 1t
TRRBE S H R ARAIE RN = 5758 &
Z-ARLARE  BEECDREES
HAENSABMMBHEERERAREFN o
RenETRA '
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R MIEE

] For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_MF+_A=+—HLFE

4

. ~ 22. GOODWILL (Continued) 22. HE®
' - Management engaged an external valuer to estimate the CGU'’s EREZEINFEHEMGETEE_SZ
/ recoverable amount as of 31 December 2024. The recoverable amount ME+—_A=+—HAREELELMLHNT
was lower than the carrying value of the CGU by HK$28,959,000, resulting WE &% AJWESERRESEEEN
in impairment losses of HK$24,806,000 for goodwill and HK$4,153,000 for BRTE{E1K28,959,00078 7T + B i Z
7 plant and equipment. Discount rates used were 14% (2023:16%), with a {B /8518 24,806,000/ 7T M R 55 K2 5% (8RB
forecast revenue compound annual growth rate of 16.4% (2023:14.7%). [E5184,153,0007% 7T © FrER ARGIR E R14%
The budgeted gross margin was 55% (2023: 58%), and with the terminal (ZZZ=%F : 16%) ' THRWRAIEA FIE
growth rate at 2.2% (2023:2.2%). REBI64%(ZEZ=F : 147%) - BE
EFERSB(ZF =5 : 58%) * MK
BRIBREB22%(Z B =5 1 22%) °
23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 23. RIB LB Z2RE
Particulars of major subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are as follows: E’\_ E-MF+—A=+—RH2ZEZMH
NAEIFFIEAT :
Principal country of
operation/county
of incorporation/
establishment/kind of Issued capital/ Percentage of
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
IEQEREEAR/
i/ R BRTER/
WEARER R/ ERERER aREx BEERER LA TEEH
Direct Indirect
B 3
LEARZEMREBERAR Mainland China United States Dollars - 100% Production and sale of skin care and
(Shanghai Natural Beauty ("USS") 29,980,000 beauty products
Bio-Technology Company Limited)*
LEERRENHBARAA REARE 29980000 7T ([ £ 7)) - 100% AERHEEEREDEM
HEERE=BERERA Mainland China RVIB3,000,000 - 100%  Sale of skin care and beauty products
(Shanghai Natural Beauty Sanlian Cosmetics and aroma-therapeutic products
Company Limited)*
LRBAR=BERBRAR HEAR ARE80000007 - 100% HBEEERZAEMREBER
TEEREEEMARBRATS Mainland China US514,800,000 - 100% Production and sale of skin care and
(Shanghai Natural Beauty Fuli Cosmetics beauty products, aroma-therapeutic
Company Limited)* products, provision of skin treatment,
beauty and Spa service
LEERXERIHRERARE EKE 148000007 - 100% EERHEEERXRERREH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. RBLFR2RE @
Principal country of
operation/county
of incorporation/
establishment/kind of Issued capital/ Percentage of
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
IEREREEAR/
i/ R BRiTER/
WEARERE 3/ ERERER dRER HREER LA TEXH
Direct Indirect
HE 3
ERAZENHBERABRAF Taiwan NT$201,000000 5 100% Production and sale of skin care and
(Natural Beauty Bio-Technology beauty products
Company Limited)*
AARENHERNERAF) B #121201,0000007T - 100% £ERHEERRERER
EERERNER AR Taiwan NT$126,086.450 - 100%  Investment holding
(Huei Yao Investment Company Limited)*
BRRARNBRAA B $1211260864507 - 100% REER
R BREARBEERNARAA Taiwan NT$50000,000 - 100% Provision of beauty consulting and
(Ray-Sen Medical Cosmetics Company Limited)* training
hABEXARRLERNBRAF hig #78%500000007T - 100% RESAERERBRE
R ERRHBR D F(Ke Mei Yan Bio- Taiwan NT$100,000000 - 100%  Sale of skin care and beauty products
Technology Company Limited)*
MERERRDBRAR B #1281000000007 - 100% HEEBRFRER
Belem Holdings Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia MYR68,609,858 100% = Investment holding
(lass B shares
MYR10,000 w
(lass A shares
Belem Holdings Sdn. Bhd. BRAS 68609858 5% 100% - RARR g
BEAMR (7100005 .
NERR A _ ¥
@
@
o
@
SToMEFE  AREEMBBEEARAD | 1/97
: &
& -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
OE+—A=1T—HLFE

BE-T-

. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

23. RB AR Z2RE @)

Principal country of
operation/county
of incorporation/
establishment/kind of Issued capital/ Percentage of
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
IEREREAR/
/LA BRTER/
WEAEERE R/ ERERER dfRER BEEER LA TEXH
Direct Indirect
B 3
Billion Synergy Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia MYR1,000,000 & 100% Wholesale of skin care and beauty
products
Billion Synergy Sdn. Bhd. SRAR 1,000,000% % : 100% HEEERERER
Great Glamour Company Limited British Virgin Islands US$50,000 100% = Investment holding
('BVI)
Great Glamour Company Lirited KBEMRES(2E 50000%7T 100% - RAER
#EREE])
Next Success International Limited BVI US$100 100% = Investment holding
Next Success International Limited EBEARES 10037T 100% - RARR
Fortune Investment Global Limited BvI US$50,000 100% = Investment holding
Fortune Investment Global Limited EEEARES S0000% 7T 100% - RAER
Natural Beauty Bio- Technology (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Sale of cosmetic products and provision
Company Limited of beauty treatments
BARENHR (BB ERAF) &R 1000077 - 100% HEkRRRAXEEE
Natural Beauty China Holding Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 100% = Investment holding
BAXTERRERAT B 2000007 100% - RERR
TRERRENBEEAR AT Mainland China 552,600,000 - 100% Manufacture and sale of health
(Shanghai Natural Beauty Bio-Med supplement
Company Limited)*
EERARENEEERAR mEAE 2600000% 7 - 100% £ERHERER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. RBLFR2RE @
Principal country of
operation/county
of incorporation/
establishment/kind of Issued capital/ Percentage of
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
TEQEHERAR/
i/ R BRTER/
WEARERE R/ ERERER dRER BEEER LA TEEHR
Direct Indirect
HE &
DEBREBEnERAR Mainland China RMBE0,000,000 5 100%  Sale of skin care and beauty products
(Shanghai Natural Beauty Haili Cosmetics and aroma-therapeutic products
Company Limited)*
rEERFERIIRERAR mEAE A B %600000007C - 100% HEEERFAERRBHER
BEAAREYRE BB AR (Hainan Natural - Mainland China RVIBS,000,000 - 100% Sale of skin care and beauty products
Beauty Bio-Technology Company Limited)* and aroma-therapeutic products
BEERRENHRERRF) mEAE ARES,0000007T - 100% HEEERERERREHER
These subsidiaries are foreign investment enterprises with limited liability ’ ZEMBARARPEKERIMER
established in the Mainland China. BEEINEDRE -
. These subsidiaries are domestic limited liability enterprises in the Mainland . ZEWB AR ARHBERENZHNE
China. BREFDE -
e The subsidiary is a Chinese-foreign joint venture established in the e 2B A R AR R B K BER S 8
Mainland China. INEEDE -
4 Being English translated names. i HIBZ B EE -
]
&
s
@
@
o
@
SToMEFE  AREEMBBEEARAD | 1/99
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iRE B R R MY A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_T-_M&+-_A=+—HILEE

24. INVENTORIES 24. 78
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHET
Raw material R A4 # 56,757 61,079
Finished goods UK M 50,397 39,826
107,154 100,905
Less: Allowance o B (25,950) (23,291)
81,204 77,614
Reconciliation of allowance for inventories: FEBELER
2024 2023
—E-[F —ET-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
T F#ET
At 1 January n—HA—H 23,291 22,704
Allowance for the year FNEE 4,232 873
Exchange differences b H ZRE (1,573) (286)
At 31 December R+-—A=+— 25,950 23,291
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

25. ES R EMEWERR

2024 2023

—E-ME —T-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Trade receivables Z 5 EUWERFK 69,076 78,511
Less: Allowance for credit loss W EEEERE (904) (1,096)

68,172 77415

Prepayments TEfT IR 14,485 13,269

Deposits & 2,931 2,125

Other receivables E fib B IR BR FR 4,026 5819

89,614 98,628
The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 150 days to its trade AEEGLRTEREAEEHEERCES
customers who are qualified for credit sales. The credit period provided HP30E150H 2 FHEEER - REREP
to customers can vary based on a number of factors including the ZEERFKEZERZ(BEREPZE

customer’s credit profile and sales promotion policy.

FIR R AR S4TSR T 7 PR R o

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables, based on the invoice REERZEAH  AEEE S RBERR(EE

date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

NERBHE) 2 FREE DTN

2024 2023
—E-OEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within 30 days 30 A 17,337 24,759
31days to 150 days 31HE150H 33,627 35,749 L
Over 150 days HBi@150H8 17,208 16,907 ]
o”
68,172 77415, $
i .T : B ;'fc
B
@
e’
@

—=omass  aRzewssssas o 200
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

/’ HE-Z-ME+-A=+—ALEE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group's net trade receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

25. ESREMEWERR @

AEEEZRURFFRZREMENAT
JIEHEHE

2024 2023
—E-{mEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH T FHET
Renminbi ("RMB") ARETARE]) 46,136 54,089
New Taiwan dollar ("NT$”) Faw(lHmarl) 21,605 22,540
Ringgit Malaysia (‘MYR") BREDE(HED 431 786
68,172 77,415

26. CONTRACT COSTS 26. BB
2024 2023
—E{F —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT F&TT
Incremental costs to obtain contracts MG & HIE SRR 196 238

Contract costs capitalised as at the end of the reporting period relate
to the incremental sales commissions paid to franchisees whose
selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and purchase
agreements for the Group’s services which are still not transferred at the
reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as part of cost of sales in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which revenue
from the related services sales is recognised. The amount of capitalised
costs recognised in profit or loss during the year was approximately
HK$34,000 (2023: HK$36,000). There was no impairment in relation to the
costs capitalised during the year.
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27. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

27. ZRFIBRITHER

2024 2023
—ECIEF —EBC-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FET
Restricted bank balances for the banking facilities =R #lI$R1T451F 2 BT 2= 4%
for the note payable RITRLE 1,238 ¥
Conversion of the above balances from RMB into foreign currencies and FiETFBRARE X RAINE R BINE
from foreign currencies to RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange RN R R EE B RRESNE B
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment BOIFGEE  SERNESTEETE -

of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

28. RITRBEEHEF

2024 2023
—EB-MmE —E=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FH&T
Bank and cash balances RITRIREETF 116,507 166,805
Less: Time deposits with maturities of over o ZEARE—FT
three months but less than one year BEA 7 TEEATE R
(note (a) & (b)) (fF 3% (a) B (b)) (7,469) (8,062)
Cash and cash equivalent HERELSEEY 109,038 158,743
Notes: M5t
(a The Group placed time deposits with banks with high credit-rating ) RE BT BT RFRERBREETR

BB RREENR2ERT  HA
EFERH A RIREEMEFTE - 4K

assigned by international credit-rating agencies in Taiwan, with fixed
maturities and fixed interest rate which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk; while time deposits with fixed maturities and floating
interest rate are exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. A MIZFEFI R B2 EHFER - Al%
AEEAZBREREFERR

&
EAXATEMNERR  mEETEEH ©

The balance was denominated in NT$. RETFAF B EETHE - b
@
Short term time deposits were made for a maximum period of one year b EHTHTFRNSZERERA —F(Z
(2023: one year) with fixed interest rate ranging from 1.495% to 1.65 % per To=F: —F) BEFANENT
annum (2023: 1.37% to 1.525% per annum). 1.495%%1.65%(—F — =4 : £ RN
F137%E1525%)
@

—TOMFEFH  BRXEVPRERAT



-

RE B ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

/’ BE-T-ME A=t HILEE

denominated in the following currencies:

28. BANK AND CASH BALANCES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. RITRBEEEF®

AEERE MRS FEYZIREMENT

Bl M5

2024 2023
—E-{E IE_=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

HK$ BIT 11,898 7,939
RMB AREE 53,554 78,100
Uss$ ETT 4,850 10,559
NTS etk 37,013 59,816
MYR K 1,723 2317
EUR BT = 12
109,038 158,743

RZZ-WNE+—_A=+—H ' K&EEF
BAEMRBRARMBAARBFECR
17 RIR & 17 #946,940,0008 TL(ZE - =
£ 1 77,926,000 7T) © AR KB AN
E RIB B P B K BeE SN 5 ) IR 19 RN 4 B

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank and cash balances held by the
PRC subsidiaries denominated in RMB was amounted to approximately
HK$46,940,000 (2023: HKS$77,926,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange

Regulations. EHERMNEERRT o
29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. E5 RHEMBEMN IR
2024 2023
—EB-mE —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables H 5N IR 25,604 20,741
Deposits from franchisees InEEES 26,207 24,376
Other tax payables HAth 1R 1E 2,791 2,856
Accruals e & 32,190 27,634
Construction costs payable for investment JE T & W) 3 1) b T RK AR

properties - 5,008
Other payables H A ERTBRFK 6,660 8,100
93,452 88,715
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables, based on the date of
receipt of goods or service consumed, is as follows:

ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_M&E+-_A=+—HLEE

29. EFREMENSIRRE
RENSHZAREESE  A£EES
FERER SR BRI T -

2024 2023

—EB-ME —E_=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx TAET

Within 90 days 90H A 25,178 20,741
91 days to 365 days 91HZE365H 426 5
25,604 20,741

AEEE HRMNRRZREEIAT

p=

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are denominated in 8
the following currencies: BEHE -
2024 2023
—EB-MmE —E=%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
RMB AR 20,456 7,112
NTS etk 5,128 13,504
MYR & 20 125
25,604 20,741
]
&
o
s I
J L
@
@
a\,
@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_MF+-_A=+—RHLFE

30. BORROWINGS AND BANKING FACILITIES 30. ERKRBITHE
The analysis of the Group's bank loans is as follows: AEBRITERSTAT -
2024 2023
—EomE —F_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Secured bank loans BEMRITER 190,124 171,807
Note payable A3 2,128 =
192,252 171,807
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year —FLR 57,215 33,456
More than one year, but not exceeding two years ~ — LA ERREIAT 11,693 3,498
More than two years, but not more than five years FIF A ERFLAT 112,350 -
181,258 36,954
Portion of bank loans that are due for repayment —iﬁé;@]ﬁm EEBEREXK
after one year but contain a repayment on BRIERNIRITERE D
demand clause (shown under current liabilities) (REBAaEsIxR) 10,994 134,853
192,252 171,807
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months J& : 121 A /% 2 & 1~ 7018
(shown under current liabilities) (RrEadsR) (68,209) (168,309)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 B & B BRFE (S 308 124,043 3,498
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. BORROWINGS AND BANKING FACILITIES
(Continued)

e I ERAR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_F_MOF+_A=t—HLEE

30. ERRIBITHE®

The carrying amounts of the Group's bank loans are denominated in the REBRITERZREENL TS
following currencies: B :
2024 2023
—E-mEF =T o=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
RMB AR 181,897 165,750
NT$ ek 10,355 6,057
192,252 171,807
The Group's bank loans are arranged at the following interest rates: REE 2 RITERIR TR EGE
2024 2023
—E-OEF ===
Bank loan at floating rate of HK$192,252,000 FBIRITE 192,252,000/ 7T
(2023: HK$171,807,000) (ZFZ=% : 171,807,000/7C) 0.96% — 4.80% 0.96% — 5.70%

Borrowings of HK$192,252,000 (2023: HK$171,807,000) is arranged at
floating interest rate which was exposing the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk.

Note payable HK$2,128,000 in year ended 31 December 2024 was at
fixed interest rate 2.50% per annum (2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's banking facilities and bank
loans totalling HK$192,252,000 (2023: HK$171,807,000) are secured by
charge over the Group’s right-of-use assets related to leasehold lands
and buildings located in the PRC, freehold land and building located
in Taiwan (note 19 and 21), and personal guarantee from a director of
certain subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has approximately HK$234,077,000
(2023: HK$142,158,000) of available undrawn banking facilities.

B #192,252, ooo/%rc(_f— =
171,807,000 L) IR Z B FI LGB - &R
EFEARR S RENXRR -

(2 _NMF+-_A=+—BI1tHF
€ - FERZEIE2,128,0008 T 2L E E F
FFE250%(ZF_=F : T)FtH

RZZE-—WMF+=-—A=+—H A£H ®
RITEE MIRTT fké/\/’% 92252000
BIL(ZE —=z 1,807,000/ 7T) - &
uﬁﬁlﬁuﬁ¢lkﬁmﬁ im& S
BFEHANERAREE LRAER
ﬁ%ﬁéiiﬁ&@?wﬁﬁg&m)u& m
FHBAREEMNEAERTER - ;

R-B-mE+-A=+—0 AEE
BB #1234,077,0008 L (Z T - =4 :
142,158,00078 7T ) #) A] BY A R AR B SR 1T Y @

—TOMFEFH  BRXEVPRERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

31. 8N EE

2024 2023

—EOF —T=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT FAT

Prepaid beauty treatment fees BNERERER 2,182 2,931
Sales of products EmiEE 16,157 16,708
18,339 19,639

The contract liability is the consideration received from the customers
which represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods and services to
customers that has not been completed. All the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year has been realised to revenue in the current year.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities
recognised are as follows:

Prepaid beauty treatment fees
The Group typically receives a 100% deposit before the services
commence.

Sales of products

The amounts of consideration received in advance as prepayments by
customers who are not qualified for credit sales are short term as the
respective revenue is expected to be recognised within a few days when
the goods are delivered to customers.
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32. LEASE LIABILITIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

32. fHEE®E

Present value of minimum

Minimum lease payments lease payments
BRERASENH REEENRERE
2024 2023 2024 2023

—¥_AF —T_=F |[=F-HEHF _—_T—_=F

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx TAT FET TET

Within one year

More than one year, but not
exceeding two years

More than two years, but not more
than five years

More than five years

Less: Future finance charges

Present value of lease obligations

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown
under current liabilities)

Amount due for settlement after 12

—FR 7,009 3,737 6,090 3428
—F U EBETEB
N 7,190 4215 6,625 3,947
MF A _EBRTEB
HE 4,964 3,203 4,769 3,069
AEMUE 2,417 4101 2,393 4,036
21,580 15,256 19,877 14,480
B RSB R (1,703) (776) N/ATER N/ATEA
HEEMTRE 19,877 14,480

B 1218 A AR R
FTERRBE
BE3IR) (6,090) (3/428)

12{E A & B H e

months TKIE 13,787 11,052
The carrying amounts of the Group's lease liabilities are denominated in AEBHEEABCREENTIES
the following currencies: B :
2024 2023
—EB-MmE —To=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 o
FET FHET
- &
RMB AR 8,357 2064 °
NTS ek 10,023 11,775 :
MYR HH 1,497 641 2
e
19,877 14480 =
The average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities THEBEMERN IS EZFEN
ranged from 1.2% to 13.7% (2023: from 1.2% to 10.6%). F12%F137%(CE=—=F : NF12%%E _ @
10.6%) ° ®
@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_BE-_NME+_-_A=+—HILtEE

33. DEFERRED TAX 33. JREBIIE
Undistributed
earnings of
Allowance Other ~ Mainland
forhadand Defined ~ Unrealised ~ shorterm  Chinaand

doubtful  Inventory  Revaluation benefit ~ profitson  temporary Taiwan Lease  Rightsofuse

debts  provision ofproperties liabilities  inventories differences entities  Taxlosses  liabilties assets Total

HERER

FRE  AKEE cEEEZ
ROEBE  FEEE BN EERARRE  BER ERER ARNBM BEER  BRAR RAREE it
HOOO W00 KOO MDD MDD HOOD HSOD MO HSID HSI0 H
TEL  TEL TR TR TAm TR TEn TEn T TEr TR

At January 203 N-E-=%-F-H 126 4687 9374) 5 2440 1840 (1849) 19425 1314 (1314) 13949
Creitcharge] toprfitorloss ortheyesr — ERRBEREA/ (1)

(rote13) (fn) () 1 1466 - i ] (144 s 160 Gl 69
Bichange diference EiEE (10 () i - ) (%) - i £0) K| (16)

At31 December 03and arwary 04 ZF-=FTZAZT-AR

“E-mE-F-B 168 4929 (1677) 54 2,643 1,052 1,993) 15,048 517 (479 14,262

Creltcharge] toprfitorloss ortheyesr — ERRBEREA/ (1)
note 13 (F3kn) 3 8 4983 3 (543) (535) (18 - 1625 (1551) 4635
Bichange diference EiEE (6) (326) 18 U] (40) 28) - (350) (52 4 (174)
At 31 December 2004 TE-METCAZT-H 165 5474 (2511) 50 2,060 489 (2.211) 14498 2,09 (1,981) 18123
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33. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

e I ERAR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_T_HNF+-_A=t—HLFE

33. IEFERIE (&)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for consolidated AT AREERE MR ek mETTHIR
statement of financial position purpose: IEFTRAE R DT -
2024 2023
—EComE SEBE-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Deferred tax assets BELEFIREE 24,826 24,411
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIBAE (6,703) (10,149)
18,123 14,262

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$160,685,000 (2023: HK$123,156,000) available to offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of approximately HK$57,992,000 (2023: HK$60,193,000) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$102,693,000 (2023: HK$62,963,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately HK$102,558,000 (2023: HK$58,017,000) that will expire
after 5 years from the year of assessment they related to. Other tax losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.

Deferred taxation has been provided in full in respect of the undistributed
earnings of the Group’s PRC and overseas subsidiaries arising since 1
January 2008 as the directors consider that such earnings are estimated
to be distributable in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax has been
provided for in respect of the temporary differences attributable to such
profits amounting to approximately HK$4,468,000 (2023: HK$2,835,000).

REHEEER NEBBRBEAH
TE 18 49160,685,000/8 TT(Z B - =4 :
1231 56000/%E)TFH{’E$EE§ﬁﬂ6Xmﬂ
EmAMEE#57,992,0008 T (ZE =
=4F 1 60,193,00078 7T) ERIE L TR B E
E o AR BEaFAREAETE - Bt
WEFER T 2102,693,0008 T (— T ==
F 1 62,963,000/870)  TIAE B ERIELT
REEE - ABRBEBERRESERH
AT EERTAFRIENEERY
102,558,000/ 7L (ZF = =4F : 58,017,000
PETT) o H M IA B 1E n] MR B4k 4R o

NEBEFRE T A B ARE XS IN B A
AT NF—A—BERFEAZRK
DIREF  AEHE2BURERBEE - R
AAEERABEBAT TN R K
AEDIR - AEEERFEEBB@EFZ
BT IRy 7 RRE R T A TR B 49 4,468,000
BT (ZZTE == : 2,835000/87T) °

—TOMFEFH  BRXEVPRERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(a)

Defined contribution plan

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement plans
which are available for eligible employees in Hong Kong, Taiwan
and the PRC.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme
(the "HK MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong) for
all employees employed under the jurisdiction of Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong) and
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the Labour Standards
Law (as amended) in Taiwan (the “TW MPF Scheme”). The HK
MPF Scheme and the TW MPF Scheme are defined contribution
retirement plans administered by independent trustees. Under
the HK MPF Scheme and TW MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% and 6%, respectively, of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 (with
effect from 1 June 2014) for the HK MPF Scheme while there is no
cap to monthly income under the TW MPF Scheme. Contributions
to the plans vest immediately.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the PRC
government. As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, these
relevant subsidiaries participate in various defined contribution
retirement plans organised by the relevant authorities for its PRC
employees. The employees are entitled to retirement pension
calculated with reference to their basic salaries on retirement and
their length of service in accordance with the relevant government
regulations. The PRC government is responsible for the pension
liabilities to these retired staff. The Group is required to make
contributions to the retirement plans which are calculated based
on certain prescribed rates and the salaries, bonuses and certain
allowances of its PRC employees. The Group has no other material
obligations for the payment of pension benefits associated with
these plans beyond the annual contributions described above.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$10,998,000 (2023:
HK$9,035,000) represents contributions paid or payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

(b)

Defined benefit plan

The Group’s Taiwan subsidiaries participate in a central pension
scheme providing benefits to certain employees in accordance
with the Labour Standards Law (as amended) in Taiwan. The
Group has an obligation to ensure that there are sufficient funds
in the scheme to pay the benefits earned by the employees. The
Group currently contributes at 2% of the total salaries monthly as
determined and approved by the relevant government authorities.
Under the scheme, the employees are entitled to retirement
benefits equal to two months’ salary for each year of service for
the first 15 years and one month’s salary for each year of service
following the 15 years, but not more than 45 months’ salary in
aggregate on the attainment age of 60. No other post-retirement
benefits are provided.

The Group's net obligation in respect of the pension scheme
is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current
and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine the
present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the PUCM. An
actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was carried
out by an independent actuarial firm which is a member of The
Actuarial Institute of the Republic of China.

The plan in Taiwan exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as
investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk.

Investment risk:

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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34. RREFNET®

(b)
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The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate determined

by reference to the weighted average rate of long-term government bond and long-term bank

deposit rate. Overall market condition is also taken into consideration. The change of discount rate

was noted mainly because of the stable level of bank interest rate. The management of the Group

considers that the general environment of Taiwan will not be changed materially over the coming

years over which the relevant present value will be discounted. Currently the plan has a relatively
&

balanced investment in various financial instruments and assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

/’ BE-T-ME A=t HILEE

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (Continued) 34. EREBEIET @
Defined benefit plan (Continued) (b) EBEEFTEE

(b)

Interest rate risk:

IES

Longevity risk:

REAR

Salaries risk:

Rk

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the

A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this will be partially
offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s debt investments.

BN RGBT EIBE - AT - MRS MEBIE ROIE N 555 i o

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate
of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment. An increase in the life
expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.
TREMNFEAENRENSL2EFE2HEENERPELEZ 2T XNREMTRZ
FTHE o StEI2EEN TS INENTEIEE -

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the future
salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase
the plan’s liability.

TREMNFEAENRENKSZAEZEENRRGERAE - Bt - sHEI28EEN
Fag g mstaas -

) HEETHREGRERARAZ

actuarial valuations were as follows: FERRWT
2024 2023

—E-E —E-=F
Discount rate BhIR = 1.6% 1.2%
Expected return on plan assets FrEIEE 2 TEHIE 1.6% 1.2%
Expected rate of salary increases TEERF 1L hniE = 2.5% 2.5%
The actuarial valuation showed that the market value BEHEBETHIHEEZMEY
of plan assets was approximately HK$5,734,000 (2023: 5,734,000/ 0 (ZZE Z =4 : 5,577,000/
HK$5,577,000). TT) °
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (Continued)
Defined benefit plan (Continued)

(b)

(if)

(iif)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

34. EREINET @
(b) EFEREAGEE)

Amounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of the (il ERERETERZITEERE
defined benefit plans are as follows: FIETr8|S5|MT -

2024 2023
—EB-MmE —EB=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Current service cost IR RF PR 7 A AR - =
Interest on obligations B HE 48 67
Expected return on plan assets FrEIEE 2 FEHIE (64) (75)
(16) (8)

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of the defined benefit plans are as follows:

(il EREMHEZEREZERZT

BEMNEEISENT

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit ~ E¥fst E TR I A G
liability: HEE
Actuarial gain arising from remeasurement BT EELEZBE
e (274) 626
Expected return on plan assets FHEIE E 2 TR R 504 33
230 659

SECNEFR BAREYNEERAA
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_BE-_NME+_-_A=+—HILtEE

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (Continued) 34. EREBEIET @

216

(b) Defined benefit plan (Continued) (b) EFEEAGEE)

(v)  The amounts included in the consolidated statement of (iv) B AZEHBHKIBRZ
financial position arising from the Group’s obligations in NEBEEBENEEEBET
respect of its defined benefit plans are as follows: EAZESEWNT :

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Present value of funded defined benefit BHRREREFER
obligations RE 4,191 4186
Fair value of plan assets EEECZ A AFE (5,734) (5,577)
Net asset arising from defined benefit TEFENEREE L
obligations HAE (1,543) (1,391)
Level of funding at the end of the reporting period are as RERREGEE B 2 HRtt
follows: BT
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
Level of funding HER LB 136.81% 133.23%

(v)  Movements in the present value of the defined benefit

v AFEETBEEMNEHREZ

obligations in the current year were as follows: 2Hmn -
2024 2023
—EomE —T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
At 1 January mn—HA—H 4,186 5,654
Interest on obligations ERH S 48 67
Benefits paid [=ENE=p - (914)
Actuarial loss BHEER 274 (626)
Exchange difference PE 5 =58 (317) 5
At 31 December W+—_HA=+—8H 4,191 4,186
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ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_M&E+-_A=+—HLEE

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (Continued) 34. RRBENEE @
(b) Defined benefit plan (Continued) (b) EEERFEE
(vi)  Movements in the fair value of the plan assets in the current Vi) AEFEEFEEEATFEZE
year were as follows: BT

2024 2023

—EoRmEF —EB=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

At 1 January ®n—H—H 5,577 6,354
Contributions from the employer B EHK 15 8

Expected return on plan assets FHEIEE 2 TEHIE 64 75

Actuarial gain BE W= 504 33
Benefits paid [RANEEE - (914)

Exchange difference M =R (426) 21

At 31 December R+Z—H=+—H 5,734 5577

Actual return on plan assets FEIEE ER B 567 108

The directors’ assessment of the expected return is based
on historical return trends and analysts’ predictions of the
market for the assets in the next twelve months.

E=MERAERFE IR
BREONREZROMEY
BEMSBART _EAZRE
BIHETT o

Q@

—TomEss  angtnssaRaa o 20
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e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
EZT-_NEFZA=T—RHILFE

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (Continued) 34. EREBEIET @

(vi)  Movements in the fair value of the plan assets in the current
year were as follows: (Continued)

The major categories of plan assets, and the percentage of
the fair value at the end of the reporting period for each
category are as follows:

ﬂ_ (b) Defined benefit plan (Continued)

(b)

EHEEA ()
V) AFEENEEEATEZS
BT ()

AEIEEZ T 2R LR
HREHRAEE R SRBMEE
BEEEQAFEZASLLN
=

2024 2023

—EB-ME —T==
% %
% %
Deposits with financial institutions 2 BMEERNTR 14.41 15.62
Short-term bills REZE 6.24 5.07
Stocks &S 11.19 11.87
Bonds (EE- 7.43 7.69
Others EHAftb 60.73 59.75
100.00 100.00

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination
of the defined obligation are discount rate and expected
salary increase. The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on reasonably possible changes of the
respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting
period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

- If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher/(lower),
the defined benefit obligation would decrease by
HK$223,000/(increase by HK$247,000) (2023: decrease
by HK$254,000/(increase by HK$284,000)).

- If the expected salary growth increases/(decreases) by
1% (2023: 1%), the defined benefit obligation would
increase by HK$199,000/(decrease by HK$184,000)
(2023: increase by HK$234,000/(decrease by
HK$215,000)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (Continued)
Defined benefit plan (Continued)

(b)

(vi)

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets in the current
year were as follows: (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be
representative of the actual change in the defined benefit
obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions
would occur in isolation of one another as some of the
assumptions may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis,
the present value of the defined benefit obligation has
been calculated using the PUCM at the end of the reporting
period, which is the same as that applied in calculating
the defined benefit obligation liability recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used
in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31
December 2024 is 6 years (2023: 7 years). The Group expects
to make a contribution of HK$15,000 (2023: HK$8,000) to the
defined benefit plan during the next financial year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e TR R MR

HEZ-_MF+_A=+—HIFE

34. EREINET @
EREEAETEI(E)

(b)

ZETINEER

(Vi)

AEEHUSEATEZ S
BT (®)

EFIREE DA A REI A
XEBRBNEB 2ERE
B EARETERAIEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. BRA
The Company
AATE]
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
RHEE R EE
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: EIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BRMEIE T E@mR
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, AT =F—H—H8 "
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 —FE=F%+=ZHA=+—H"
—EME-A-HBHR
—EWFE+-A=+—H 4,000,000,000 400,000
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
BREHE RO EE
HK$'000
FAT
Issued and fully paid: EERTRHBE :
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZE=—=F—H—AQ8 "
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 —2-=F+=-A=+—080"
—EMFEF-A-BR
—EMFE+-A=+—H 2,002,100,932 200,210
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the AEBEREA BERBRAEE G
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the A ECEER  THETEEH IR
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and e - RN FMHE AL ©
equity balance.
The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by considering the TEBBBERESKNARSEER L
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The R AT ERERE - AEEH
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of 1B mIR AR B - BITE ARG KB B A%
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of MEBITHEB 2 AN - FTEHEEREE

new debts. KEERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Net
debt is calculated as total debts less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity (i.e. share capital, share
premium, capital surplus, retained earnings and other reserves).

ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_M&E+-_A=+—HLEE

35. lRA& @)

AEBERNEFHEABREA L RER
BN o UL EUEBFERACARE
A8 - EHFRAEBEBRRRE R
ReSEYHE  KRABREABE#ER
B2 ERAERCER D (BIRRA - BfniifE - &
B REBEN M EAM ) o

2024 2023

—EomE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Debit (a) &%) 212,129 186,287
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RENRREEEYD (109,038) (158,743)
Net debt B15%5 103,091 27,544
Equity EE 447,593 574,524
Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio B FRECRABEER L X 0.23 0.05

(@)  Debt is defined as borrowings and lease liabilities as detailed in
note 30 and note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to
maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a public float of
at least 25% of the shares.

The Group checks the substantial share interests showing the non-
public float through the Stock Exchange’s website and it demonstrates
continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year. At 31
December 2024, 25% (2023: 25%) of shares were in public hands.

@ BEEACAERNHEEEE FI15
D RIF R BTSRRI 530 K P
FF32 ¢

I ERNERAZREARE S
FrfE B X P BT i 6 BB £ D 25%R 0
HARKA °

REBB BB ML EABRIEAR
BREZFERMOER  EETNAF
E—EHEENTALNBREIRTE - N
EoNFF+_AZ+—H  25%(=F =
=F 5% BRNDBEATIFAE o

—TOMFEFH  BRXEVPRERAT
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7 For the year ended 31 December 2024

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36. AR ZH R RABEREE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 28
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) ZAATFZ AR RIRE
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+-—H

2024 2023
—E-ME —T-=F
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000
M EE THxT FHEIT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REBRARIZIEE 169,398 169,398

Current assets REBEE
Deposits and prepayments e RIENFHIE 553 711
Loan to a subsidiary m—KMBARRENER 21,408 =
Amounts due from subsidiaries [ R ENGIE L] 59,875 62,208
Bank and cash balances RITNIREER 770 3,173
82,606 66,092
Current liabilities REEE

Accruals and other payables e BB M AR BRI 1,317 2,845
Loan from a subsidiary —RMBARRHNER 21,554 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEB B R B 508 15,865 16,388
38,736 19,733
Net current assets REBEEFE 43,870 46,359
NET ASSETS BEEFE 213,268 215,757

Capital and reserves A R
Share capital %N 35 200,210 200,210
Reserves 1 36 (b) 13,058 15,547
TOTAL EQUITY R 213,268 215,757

RZZE-_RAF-_A-+NHEES
eHE  WHUTREREE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2025 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Dr. LEI Chien
BEEL
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e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HEZ-_MF+_A=+—HIFE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36. QA Z Bk ABMET R HEE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 285Hw@
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) AT ZFEEEE
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
s E RitEE wst
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TAT THT AT
(note 37(b)(i)
(B E37(0)ii)
At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=F
—H—H 29,004 (5,300) 23,704
Total comprehensive income for AN 8 2 E UGS
the year #aza = (8,157) (8,157)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZEZ=%F+=A
1 January 2024 =+—HkK
—E_mEF
—H—H 29,004 (13,457) 15,547
Total comprehensive income for AN E 2 HEUKES
the year L] - (2,489) (2,489)
At 31 December 2024 R_ZT M
+ZA=+—H 29,004 (15,946) 13,058
o
oS
@
@O
@
—TONFEFR BAEREYNEERAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B ERR MR

37. RESERVES
The Group
The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein are

(a)

(b)

presented in the Group'’s consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Capital surplus

The capital surplus represents the difference between the
consideration paid and the relevant share of the carrying
value of the subsidiaries’ net assets acquired upon the
reorganisation of the Group in year 2002.

Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the
share premium account of the Company are distributable to
the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Statutory reserve

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC companies with foreign investment are required
to transfer a certain percentage of its profit after tax, as
determined under the PRC accounting regulations (the
net profit under the PRC generally accepted accounting
principles (the "PRC GAAP")), to the general reserve fund and
enterprise expansion fund. Distribution of these reserves
shall be made in accordance with the Article of Association
and approved by the board of directors each year. Other PRC
companies are required to transfer a certain percentage of
their net profit under the PRC GAAP to the statutory surplus
reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their
paid-in capital.
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37. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iii) ~ Statutory reserve (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37.

According to the laws and regulations of Taiwan, Taiwan
companies shall set aside 10% of their statutory net income
each year for the legal reserve, until the reserve balance has

reached the paid-in share capital amount.

These above-mentioned reserves and funds cannot be used
for purposes other than those for which they were created

and are not distributable as cash dividends.

(iv)  Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange

differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 4(d)

to the consolidated financial statements.

(v)  Property revaluation reserve

The property revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for
transfer of land and buildings to investment property in note

4(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share-based payments scheme
Share Award Schemes 2022

38.

Refer to announcement dated on 25 May 2022, the Company has
adopted two share award schemes, namely Scheme | and Scheme
Il. Scheme | is for Eligible Participants who are connected persons of
the Company, while Scheme Il is for Eligible Participants who are non-

connected persons of the Company.

ARE B R AR Y A
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_T-_M&E+-_A=+—HLEE

@
(b) REMERENGE
(i) SEEREE)
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(iv) ERFEE
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B B 75 3R R P EE AR O P S
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BRI 4 TS 5 BUOR
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v) YIEEMEHE
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B AR 4B A L3
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 38. IR AERSRE

Equity-settled share-based payments scheme (Continued)

Purpose of the Share Award Schemes 2022

The purpose and objective of Scheme | are: (i) to recognise the
contributions by certain Eligible Participants and to closely align
executive interests with the growth and financial achievements of the
Group; and (i) to provide a performance-driven long-term incentive
award to motivate and retain key senior management. The purpose and
objective of Scheme Il are: (i) to recognise the contributions by certain
Eligible Participants and to provide them with incentives in order to retain
them for the continual operation and development of the Group; and (ii)
to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

Scheme | is for Eligible Participants who are connected persons of the
Company. Eligible Participants of Scheme | include: (i) any directors and
employees of the Group (including without limitation any Directors, chief
executives and the directors of the Subsidiaries); (i) any directors and
employees of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated
companies of the Company; (iii) any person who provide services to the
Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course
of business which are material to the long-term growth of the Group
as determined by the Remuneration Committee; and/or (iv) such other
persons permitted by the Listing Rules to be participants of the Scheme,
Scheme Il is for Eligible Participants who are non-connected persons of
the Company. Eligible Participants of Scheme Il include: (i) any employees
of the Group; (i) any directors and employees of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company; (iii) any
person who provide services to the Group on a continuing or recurring
basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which are material to
the long-term growth of the Group as determined by the Remuneration
Committee; and/or (iv) such other persons permitted by the Listing Rules
to be participants of the Scheme, excluding chief executive officers,
directors or employees of any member of the Group who are connected
persons of the Company.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board
pursuant to the Share Award Schemes Rules, each of the Share Award
Schemes shall be valid and effective for a term of ten (10) years
commencing on the Adoption Date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 38. RGP HERNR @)

Equity-settled share-based payments scheme (Continued) URAGEEURGBERS G E

(%)
Total number of shares available for Share Award Schemes 2022 TR _ERMERITETOFEITZ

IR A E
The Board shall not make any further award of Awarded Shares by MEBEEEFE AR RBITHRME L E
allotment and issuance of new Shares which will result in (i) the BRMDSERO)ESSRIBERGER
aggregate number of the Shares awarded by the Board under the Share 2| K R R AT B B B I D B BB B AN
Award Schemes and the Share Option Scheme exceeding ten per cent NAITEZHBERNKRTN A D Z T
(10%) of the relevant class of shares of the Company from time to time; 10%) R (NEBEREZTEIR FROFK
and (i) the aggregate number of new Shares awarded by the Board DEBBIBE AN BN H BB 1T
under the Scheme exceeding three per cent (3%) of the issued share R AR BE D Z=3%) ' BITNSHE— T
capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date. If required by the HEEEE M o M EHRAESR - EF 2
Listing Rules, the Board shall also set such scheme mandate sublimit for TIE A ERINAEBERR2EE LT
such category of Eligible Participants which shall be approved by the ErREmNABEE(EESTME E @t
Remuneration Committee. ) °
Maximum entitlement of each participant ZZHEENABsESRMHEE
Unless otherwise permitted by the applicable Listing Rules and approved MiEA FTREBITET LIRS FTR
in accordance with its applicable requirements under the Listing Rules, BT NE@EAREREI - BB ND
the maximum number of new Shares which may be awarded to a BETZIR T 2R E N ERNFRD &
Selected Participant under the respective Share Award Schemes shall not, SEE HRZERRELRXHEENIM
in aggregate with any Awarded Shares issued and to be issued to such BB ERE AR 31T &S FE1TaE
relevant Selected Participant(s) and any other new Shares issued or to be BRI AR A Z AR EF2EED 3
issued to such relevant Selected Participant(s), exceed one per cent (1%) 1T 18 T 37T HO (L ] H Ath 3T AR 19 48 BT
of the relevant class of shares of the Company in issue in any 12-month BHBEXRATDRTHBERNKRDHE
period (or such other percentage as may be permitted under the Listing D2 —01%) (B E T AR sE AR
Rules). Ht B L) o
Vesting Period of awards granted under the Share Award Scheme BE— - _—_FRMHEFHTIFEMNE
2022 B9 R B 5
The Award Shares held by the Trustee(s) on behalf of the Selected RTAARRETL2HEFENERR D
Participant shall vest in accordance with the Vesting Schedule, which BiRESEREEREE  BeEgdt+
shall comprise a minimum period of twelve (12) months or such shorter “ODEAES T EE S REETE
vesting period as may be determined by the Remuneration Committee s FTR AR 2 B E R E ]
or as may be permitted under the Listing Rules. i

e &
Termination Kk :
The Share Award Schemes shall terminate on the earlier of: (i) the BB ET B RA TREBERILE - ()
10th anniversary date of the Adoption Date; and (i) such date of early ROBHNE+AFBEE  Mi)EE2 m e
termination as determined by the Board by a resolution of the Board. FIREEEREETAIENKRIEEE - 4 .
-
No share awards have been granted since the adoption of the Share BRMA T - —FRMHERETEIE - B
Award Scheme 2022 and there are no outstanding share awards at the ERHREIGD  MRAEE RINVERE
end of the year. Details of Share Award Schemes 2022 are set out in RITHEZRBERGD - — ST - —FRHE
p.64-65 of this annual report. Bt B BN AR F R EAT65H © %
@
—TomEss  amgtnnsaRad | 220
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

/’ BE-T-ME A=t HILEE

-

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 39. a8 RERERM T

CASH FLOWS
(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) BMEBETBELZEBYER
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRETASERETDEE S
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash EEHFHB(RERe IR E
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for ) METHELFCEBERRSE
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the MEERFIARKEERERRAE
Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from BEirERERERNDERREE

financing activities. S cRenECAE -

Derecognition Interest
1January  Additions of of lease expenses Exchange  31December
2024 newleases liabilities  Cash flows (note 12) difference 2024
12 RILBR AEXH 12
-A-B FENEE  HERE  noRE (K1) E{ZE t=A=t-A
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TEn TEn T TEn T T TR
Borowings notes 3) R E30) 171,807 - - 2,067 7460 rog) 192282
Lease iables note 3) GEELGR) 14,480 11,3 (101) (5310) 585 (1,020) 19877
186,287 11,23 (101) 14751 8,045 (8,102) 212129
Derecognition Inferest

1January — Additions of of lease eXpenses Lease Exchange 31 December
N3 newleases liabilties  Cash flows (note 1) modification difference 003
Rk 8D HEx s S 2
-A-8 GEFEE  MEEE  ReRe (W BEST  EXEE tA=r-B
HKS 000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000
Thn T Thn T Thn T ThrL TiEn
Borrowings(notes30) (iR 119966 - - 435 7 - o) A
Lease iables [note 37 HEAEME) B2 0 (1593) (5809) 1112 (3566) (1% 14480

143478 923 (1593) 41516 8131 (3566) (2602 186,287
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR R MR

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases comprise

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HEZ-_MF+_A=+—HIFE

39. MEBRERERMT W@

(b) HEZRERHAE
RHEAARSRERZSEER

the following: AR&IR -

2024 2023
—E-{mEF —E=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Within operating cash flows FFAKERERE 3,203 2,993
Within financing cash flows SFARBEEERE 2,107 4,697
5,310 7,690

These amounts relate to the following: ZECHRHENTSIERR
2024 2023
—EComEF —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FAT
Lease rental paid BNEERS 5,310 7,690

40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40. LARE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 41.

Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period

R-ZE_WFE+-_A=+—H A&HE
TEEFAEAXIAEBBE( T _=F

&) -

BARERE

ReEHEEERETNERREELEZ

but not yet incurred are as follows: BAAERT -

2024 2023

—EoMmE —E=%F
HK$'000 HKS'000

FE T FHET

Property, plant and equipment Yz - 5 MR 8,008 14,152
a@?

ZECNEER BREEYNEBERAF

7

Q@



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_BE-_NME+_-_A=+—HILtEE

/

42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 42, REBELHE

The Group as lessee

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for offices. As at 31
December 2024, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio
of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed in
note 21.

As at 31 December 2024, outstanding lease commitments relating to
leasing of office under short-term leases is approximately HK$1,737,000
(2023: HK$251,000).

The Group as lessor

Operating leases relate to investment properties and an office building
owned by the Group with lease terms of one to five years, with an option
to renew the lease after the date at which time all terms are negotiated.
All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the vent
that the lessee exercises its options to renew. The lessee does not have
an option to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period.

REBEER/FEBAA
AEBETFHRRBAZTITLEHEE - 0
—T_WE+ZRA=+—H EHHEE
MesEMENmRECEREES 2
RHHEHA RS -

R-ZZE-_WNMFEF+_-_A=+—H A"
HEEET ZHAEHEZREER
EAEEMN,737,0008 T (ZE_=4F
251,00077T) °

AEBEERBEA
AEEMBEAEAREMERRTFEEH
ZRREHEMHBLE—E0F HalEE
REFER —VERREMR - ALK
LHESHHBSAEANERZEN
BERIGTETEMENGR - BEER
o ATHALEBE Y EAEERE -

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

MEZ &EEWHEENZDT

2024 2023

—EomE —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FAT

Within the first year —FRX 1,026 2,688

In the second year F_F 988 2211

In the third year EFE=F 988 1,39

In the fourth year N 411 1,071

In the fifth year FRF = 427

Total Bt 3,413 7,793
The following table presents the amounts reported in profit or loss: TREVRERER S

2024 2023

—EomEF —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Lease income on operating leases BEHEE ZHERA 1,720 2,781
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_T-NMF+-_A=+—HILFE

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43. FEBALRS
(@) In addition to those related party transactions and balances (a) BRAREVBMREMEGATEE
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the MZEEHA TR RERIN - F
Group had entered into the following transactions and balances NAEBEHABALTETZIRS
with its related parties during the year. NAERRINT o
Nature of
Name of related parties Relationship transactions 2024 2023
ey & REME —E-NFE —FT-=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Eastern Media International Shareholder Sales of goods 1,460 108
Corporation (“EMIC")
RARBIRAR D BR A A IR BEmiHE
(R
ET New Media Holding Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of EMIC Advertising expenses 1,069 (413)

("ET New Media")
RAMERERRNERLAR RHEEENHMBEAR BSEFX

(TRARFTEEED)
(b) Amounts due to a related party (b) FPE— (LB IR
Name of connected parties Relationship 2024 2023
B A8 2RES —EB-MmE —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
ET New Media Subsidiary of EMIC (284) (241)
RRFHEE RARBIR 2 f 8 7]
@
The amount due to a related party is unsecured, interest free and FE— (L BEE A RIBREER - 2ER .
with normal credit term of 120 days upon receipt of invoice. R ERE - —AREEER1208 © ° =
&
@
|
—ToNEER  ARREwNgERas |, 230
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

/’ BE-T-ME A=t HILEE
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 43. BBRA LRI @

(c) The compensation to the Group's key management personnel, (€ AEBFEEBABZHM(BEE
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors and certain SN FARRBESRE T &= M
of the highest paid employees, is disclosed in note 16 to the BB 2 RIB)RERE B SRR M5
consolidated financial statements. 168258 ©
The remuneration of directors and other members of key EERHEMIEEBEABRNFRZ
management during the year was as follows: MeamT :

2024 2023

—EopmE —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FAT

Short-term benefits SEEEEY] 7,033 6,987

Post-employment benefits & BBtz ta A 34 28

7,067 7,015
Save as otherwise disclosed in the Directors’ Report, there are no BREFSREESSTHZEI - BEL
other related party transactions constitute “connected transaction” MBS+ POAT « BEAHE MR A T2
or “continuing connected transaction” of the Group under Chapter SBRARE 2 [FER G K HERE

14A of the Listing Rules. 5]
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